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An interview with our 
Executive Board 
  

 

From left to right: Enno Spillner (CFO), Dr. Stefan Glombitza (CEO), Nicola Mikulcik (CBO), Dr. Andreas Seidl (CSO) 

Three drug approvals, multiple product 
launches, the start of clinical trials for 
Formycon’s next major candidate, and the 
expansion of your development pipeline 
with yet another new biosimilar project – 
plus on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, 
your company not only uplisted to the 
Prime Standard segment but was also 
added in record time to the SDAX market 
index and subsequently the TecDAX. 
Would you say that everything went 
according to plan in 2024? 

Dr. Stefan Glombitza, Chief Executive Officer: “It’s 

incredible progress, but all of this follows our clear 

plan. We have long emphasized that 2024 would 

be a pivotal year in which we would lay the opera-

tional foundations for our next growth phase. This 

played out superbly, and we are not only extremely 
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satisfied with how 2024 went but also sincerely 

proud of our #TeamFormycon, whose tireless 

commitment and tremendous know-how played the 

key role in ensuring that we were able to reach all 

of these milestones on schedule.” 

Milestones such as the drug approvals you 
obtained from the FDA and European 
Commission? 

Dr. Stefan Glombitza: “We brought FYB202, our bi-

osimilar to Stelara®, and FYB203, our biosimilar to 

Eylea®, across the regulatory finish line in the 

United States and now also in the EU within very 

competitive, timeframes – significantly, faster than 

the industry average. FYB202 has already been 

launched on the U.S. and EU markets by our part-

ner Fresenius Kabi. With approvals now also in 

place in Canada and the UK, we’re ready for the 

next market launches. And this isn’t the end of the 

story.” 

With this strong foundation now in place, 
what happens next? 

Dr. Stefan Glombitza: “Let me briefly summarize our 

company’s growth up to this point: Formycon began 

as a pure biosimilar developer – that’s how we 

started in 2012. In 2022, the market launch of our 

first biosimilar FYB201 and the ATHOS transaction 

marked the beginning of our transformation to a 

commercial biosimilar company. The market 

launches of FYB202/Otulfi® and of FYB203/Ahzan-

tive® as soon as agreement is reached with the man-

ufacturer of the reference drug Eylea® will further ad-

vance our transformation from pure developer to 

commercial player. That being said, development re-

mains our focus, our driving force. Commercializa-

tion through strategic partnerships fuels our devel-

opment pipeline with the ‘energy’ required for our 

continued growth. 

Based on our convincing operational successes, es-

pecially in the past two years, the perception and 

reputation of Formycon as partner of choice for key 

market players has been consolidated and ex-

panded. We are highly confident about our existing 

and future pipeline and about our ability to attract re-

nowned commercial partners, so that our shared 

success in these strategic partnerships can enable 

us to further broaden our project portfolio. Only 

through such partnerships will we be able to make 

the most of the numerous available opportunities in 

the biosimilars market space.” 

What do these commercial partnerships 
mean for Formycon’s individual 
development projects? 

Nicola Mikulcik, Chief Business Officer: “Because 

Formycon does not itself market the biosimilars 

which it develops, it’s an important goal that we find 

the right partner for each of our high-quality prod-

ucts with whom we can exploit the commercial po-

tential in the way best way possible. We want our 

biosimilars to be available to as many patients as 

possible. And because specific markets for biosimi-

lars can be organized in very specific ways, varying 

not only by area of application but also because of 

differing market structures, we have to consider 

many different factors in choosing the best partner, 

not only raw monetary factors such as up-front pay-

ments or royalty percentages. The focus of our con-

siderations is on the two largest markets, the 

United States and Europe, but other regions are 

also becoming increasingly important for the distri-

bution of new biosimilar products. It’s this complex 

set of factors that led us to our decision to enter 

into a global partnership with Fresenius Kabi for 

FYB202/Otulfi®, while in the case of FYB203/Ah-

zantive® we decided that the best course would be 

a regional partnership with our license partner 

Klinge Biopharma GmbH.” 

In the case of FYB203, Formycon will now 
also be responsible for the provision of the 
finished product, right? 

Nicola Mikulcik, CBO: “Yes. As we consider our 

present and future business model, the establish-

ment of our own launch and supply chain organiza-

tion is the next logical step. In particular, when we 

have different partners for Europe, the U.S., Aus-

tralia, Latin America and the Asia-Pacific region, 

greater synergies are possible when a single pro-

ducer manages the entire supply chain and has to-

tal responsibility for market supply. Unfortunately, 

we’re not yet able to announce a release date for 
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the market launch of FYB203 because we’re cur-

rently involved in patent disputes with Regeneron, 

the reference drug manufacturer.”  

You say that your aim is to provide 
patients with the best possible care with 
these highly effective medicines. Can you 
tell us more? 

Nicola Mikulcik, CBO: “With every injection or infu-

sion of one of our biosimilars, the life of a chroni-

cally or seriously ill patient can be improved. Since 

the prices of biosimilars are significantly lower than 

the prices of the reference products, the same 

healthcare budget can be used to treat more pa-

tients with highly effective biologicals. Based on 

this compelling financial arithmetic, FYB201 (ranibi-

zumab), Formycon’s first biosimilar to gain regula-

tory approval, has so far been launched in over 20 

countries and administered to patients approxi-

mately one million times. By ensuring that more bi-

osimilars come onto the market, we are contrib-

uting to broader patient care and greater cost effi-

ciency in healthcare systems.” 

Since you mentioned cost efficiency, let’s 
talk more about this subject. The 
development of a biosimilar drug is 
complex and costs a lot in terms of both 
time and money. How do you ultimately 
manage to bring a drug onto the market in 
a way that actually reduces treatment 
costs? 

Dr. Andreas Seidl, Chief Scientific Officer: "There 

are a number of reasons why treatment with biolog-

icals tends to be so expensive, and one of these is 

the immense cost of creating an entirely new drug. 

The development of an innovative biological can 

cost up to USD 3 billion. In direct comparison, de-

veloping a biosimilar costs at most one tenth of 

this. In addition, we’re often able to use more mod-

ern and efficient methods for commercial produc-

tion. And last but not least, the development of a bi-

osimilar means, on average, a far higher probability 

from the outset that development will ultimate lead 

to approval." 

Don’t many innovative drug development 
projects fail in clinical trials? 

Dr. Andreas Seidl: “That’s true. And clinical trials 

are a development step involving enormous costs. 

In the case of a biosimilar candidate, the success 

rate for subsequent approval measured from the 

start of the clinical trial stage is more than 80%. In 

addition, it’s usually sufficient to conduct these clin-

ical trials for a single sensitive indication. If this trial 

is successful, the indications can then generally be 

expanded to include the entire spectrum of the ref-

erence drug.” 

In the case of FYB206, your candidate 
biosimilar to Keytruda, Formycon is now 
focusing exclusively on phase I clinical 
trials, right? 

Dr. Andreas Seidl: “Yes, and the FDA supports this 

approach. The rationale for this is that we’re sure 

we can collect all the clinical data necessary for ap-

proval by way of the phase I study, particularly as 

these data are augmented by the extensive analyti-

cal data we have collected. Some of these results 

were already published in the September 2024 is-

sue of ‘Drugs in R&D’, an international peer-re-

viewed journal.”   

This sure sounds like a very efficient 
approach. Does it save much on the 
required investment? 

Enno Spillner, Chief Financial Officer: “Absolutely. 

In fact, the resulting savings from waiving the phase 

III trial are considerable over the next four years. 

This frees up money for us to invest even more ag-

gressively into our attractive early-stage develop-

ment pipeline, currently including our biosimilar 

candidates FYB208, FYB209 and FYB210. With this 

new approach, Formycon is pioneering the way for 

a biosimilar development process which saves 

even more time and money. In this way, we’re able 

to further increase access to this enormously im-

portant class of pharmaceuticals, which is an es-

sential part of our strategy.”  
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Formycon has recently had to make 
downward revisions to its U.S. sales 
expectations for FYB201 and FYB202. Can 
you tell us more about this? 

Enno Spillner: “We have to acknowledge that the 

U.S. market, as it currently stands, is falling well 

short of expectations and is opening up much more 

slowly in the pharmacy benefit segment than we 

and many others had predicted. This means a lot of 

hard work for biosimilars now coming onto the U.S. 

market to gain acceptance in this segment. It’s ab-

solutely terrible for the healthcare system and the 

patients because it means that immense savings 

potential is being wasted. However, we can see 

that change processes have already been initiated 

here – but for the moment, we just have to be pa-

tient.” 

What impact is this having on Formycon’s 
detailed planning, particularly with 
regard to profitability? 

Enno Spillner: “Needless to say, we’re laser-fo-

cused on this last point. Profitability remains our 

medium-term goal. A two-year horizon seems feasi-

ble. First, our two new commercial products 

FYB202 and FYB203 must gain footholds in their 

markets, and that will take some time. In the case of 

FYB203, the way must also be legally cleared for 

us to launch, and that’s something we’re still work-

ing on.” 

Finally, let’s briefly talk about Formycon’s 
uplisting on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
and inclusion in the SDAX and TecDAX 
market indexes. Now that the dust has set-
tled, what impact have you been seeing 
from these changes? 

Enno Spillner: “Formycon’s visibility has increased 

significantly, due in no small part by our uplisting to 

the Prime Standard segment, followed closely by 

our inclusion in the SDAX and TecDAX. This has not 

only been evident at international investor confer-

ences but has also been reflected in our increased 

trading liquidity from the start of the year. The re-

porting on our company in a wide variety of media 

also underscores the high level of interest. The 

thing about this news coverage is that it not only 

helps Formycon, it also increases attention on the 

broader topic of biosimilars. Despite their enor-

mous significance for healthcare systems and the 

treatment of seriously ill patients, the emergence of 

biosimilars is still completely new to many people, 

even though biosimilars have been around for al-

most 20 years now. 

With the support of our shareholders, who I would 

like to thank on behalf of the entire management 

team, and with the commitment and efforts of our 

superb staff, we are working to further advance bio-

similars and Formycon as a biosimilar player – even 

and especially in challenging times. Nevertheless, 

our business model remains sound, and Formycon 

is on the right path to sustainable growth and profit-

ability.” 

Thank you for taking the time to speak 
with us! 
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Report of the  
Supervisory Board
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Dear Shareholders, 

Formycon AG (hereinafter also "Company") can 

look back on an eventful and successful year 2024. 

In my capacity as Chair of the Company’s Supervi-

sory Board, I am pleased to provide you with this 

overview of the Supervisory Board’s work during 

the fiscal year 2024. 

Composition of Supervisory Board 

As established by the current Articles of Associa-

tion (Satzung) of the Company, the Supervisory 

Board consists of five members: 

The composition of the Supervisory Board has 

changed compared to the prior fiscal year. At the 

Annual General Meeting held physically in Munich 

on June 12, 2024, Dr. Bodo Coldewey (Managing 

Director of WEGA Invest GmbH) and Nicholas Hag-

gar (Chief Executive Officer of HealthQube Ltd) 

were elected as Supervisory Board members by a 

large majority. The former Supervisory Board mem-

bers Dr. Olaf Stiller and Peter Wendeln had re-

signed from their positions with effect from the end 

of the Annual General Meeting. At this point, I 

would like to sincerely thank both former supervi-

sory board members for their long-standing and 

valuable service to Formycon AG. In addition, the 

Annual General Meeting resolved to increase the 

number of Supervisory Board members from four to 

five members, and Colin Bond was elected as a Su-

pervisory Board member with effect from October 1, 

2024. In its current composition, the Supervisory 

Board is very well-equipped with diverse and com-

plementary skills. For potential future members of 

the Supervisory Board, we will focus on diversity, in 

particular with respect to the gender quota. 

 

 

 

 

Composition of Supervisory Board 

Name 
 

  Role   In office since   Elected until the end of the 
annual general meeting in 

Wolfgang Essler   Chair   2023   2027 

Colin Bond   Deputy Chair (since October 

1, 2024) 

  2024   2028 

Nicholas Haggar   Member (Deputy Chair from 

June 12, 2024 until Septem-

ber 30, 2024) 

  2024   2028 

Klaus Röhrig   Member   2020   2025 

Dr. Bodo Coldewey   Member   2024   2027 
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Cooperation between Executive Board and  
Supervisory Board 

The Executive Board involved the Supervisory 

Board at an early stage in all important transactions 

which were of material importance for the assess-

ment of the Company’s situation and development. 

The Executive Board regularly reported to the Su-

pervisory Board in both written and oral form, 

providing comprehensive and timely information 

about all business transactions and events of mate-

rial importance. These reports fully met the require-

ments established by the Supervisory Board in 

terms of both content and scope. Based on these 

reports, the current development status of the bio-

similar candidates, strategic growth options, the 

Company’s uplisting on the capital market, the 

Company’s economic situation and its organiza-

tional alignment as well as significant business 

transactions were discussed. Furthermore, regular 

consultations were held with the Executive Board 

on the Company’s strategy, financial planning and 

business performance. The Supervisory Board also 

closely monitored the Company's risk situation, risk 

management and its compliance with legal require-

ments and ethical standards. 

In addition, the Chair of the Supervisory Board held 

regular meetings with the Executive Board to dis-

cuss current business developments and key indi-

vidual topics and decisions. Through this approach, 

the Supervisory Board was also well-informed be-

tween meetings. 

The cooperation with the Executive Board was 

therefore characterized by responsible and fo-

cused action in every respect. 

Activities of the Supervisory Board 

Throughout the fiscal year, the Supervisory Board 

duly performed the tasks and duties incumbent 

upon it in accordance with the law and the Articles 

of Association. It dealt intensively with the Com-

pany’s operational and strategic development, reg-

ularly advised the Executive Board on the Com-

pany’s management and continuously monitored 

the Company’s management. The Chair of the Su-

pervisory Board was available to discuss Supervi-

sory Board-related issues with investors. During its 

meetings, the Supervisory Board dealt with all busi-

ness transactions and pending decisions that re-

quired its approval according to the law and the Ar-

ticles of Association, and passed the corresponding 

resolutions. 

In the fiscal year 2024, the Supervisory Board held 

four ordinary meetings and four extraordinary 

meetings, of which four were held in person, two as 

hybrid meetings and two via video conference. The 

Supervisory Board also met without the Executive 

Board on a regular basis, either in whole or in part, 

in order to deal with agenda items that either con-

cerned the Executive Board itself or required inter-

nal discussion by the Supervisory Board. 

The following table contains an overview of attend-

ance at the meetings of the Supervisory Board and 

its committees: 

 

 

 

Attendance at regular quarterly meetings of the Supervisory Board 

Member of the Supervisory Board   
Supervisory Board 
plenum   Audit Committee   

Nomination and Re-
muneration Commit-
tee 

Dr. Olaf Stiller (until June 12, 2024)   1/2   1/2   - 

Peter Wendeln (until June 12, 2024)   2/2   2/2   - 

Wolfgang Essler   8/8   8/8   0/2 

Colin Bond (since October 1, 2024)   3/3   3/3   1/2 

Nicholas Haggar (since June 12, 2024)   5/6   5/6   2/2 

Klaus Röhrig   6/8   6/8   - 

Dr. Bodo Coldewey (since June 12, 2024)   6/6   6/6   - 
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Main topics of discussion in the fiscal year 2024 

During its meetings in the fiscal year 2024, the Su-

pervisory Board discussed, among other topics, the 

following regularly recurring agenda items: 

— Reports on the biosimilar candidates under de-

velopment and the commercialization of the al-

ready approved biosimilar FYB201, in particular 

discussion of the approval processes and com-

mercialization opportunities for the biosimilar 

candidates FYB202 and FYB203 and the initia-

tion of the clinical phase for FYB206; 

— Corporate planning, key financial figures and 

securing the Company's financial resources; 

— Discussion of various financing options; 

— Discussion of the overall corporate strategy, fo-

cus, alignment and vertical vs. horizontal inte-

gration along the value chain; 

— Current and future development of the busi-

ness divisions and the market environment; 

— Human resources and planning; and 

— Executive Board contracts, remuneration, long-

term commitment and remuneration programs. 

Other key topics of the meetings included securing 

and enhancing competitiveness and concepts for 

the Company's future growth. 

In addition, further discussion topics of particular 

importance included: 

— the strategic partnership with the Hungarian 

specialty pharmaceutical company Gedeon 

Richter, which become a strategic investor of 

the Company through a capital increase in Jan-

uary 2024; 

— strategic growth options, their value creation 

potential and financing; 

— the uplisting of the Company’s shares to the 

regulated market (Prime Standard) of the Frank-

furt Stock Exchange, which was completed in 

November 2024; 

— the extension of the Executive Board service 

contract with the Chair of the Executive Board, 

Dr. Stefan Glombitza; 

— the structure and review of the agreement on 

the targets for the Executive Board; 

— the increase of the number of Supervisory 

Board members and partial replacement of Su-

pervisory Board members as well as the for-

mation of a Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee; and 

— the approval of the agenda for the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting. 

The Supervisory Board also strengthened the Com-

pany's corporate governance. It adopted new rules 

of procedure for both the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board. In addition, the Supervisory 

Board adopted targets for its composition, includ-

ing with respect to the competence profile, inde-

pendence and diversity concept. 

  



To our Shareholder — Formycon AG  Annual Report 2024 18 

 

 

Audit committee 

In order to efficiently perform its duties in connec-

tion with the audit of the financial statements, the 

Supervisory Board formed an Audit Committee con-

sisting of three members:

In the fiscal year 2024, the Audit Committee held 

five meetings, of which one meeting was held in 

person and four as video conference. 

In the presence of the auditor, the Audit Committee 

dealt with the Company’s annual financial state-

ments, the consolidated financial statements and 

the combined management report. It also dis-

cussed the annual report and its review. The Audit 

Committee discussed with the auditor the assess-

ment of the audit risk, the audit strategy, the audit 

focus and audit planning as well as the audit re-

sults. The Chair of the Audit Committee frequently 

discussed the progress of the audit with the auditor 

and reported back to the Audit Committee. The Au-

dit Committee also regularly consulted with the au-

ditor without the Executive Board. 

The Audit Committee recommended that the Su-

pervisory Board propose KPMG AG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, as the au-

ditor for the financial statements and the consoli-

dated financial statements to the Annual General 

Meeting 2024. The Audit Committee issued the au-

dit mandate to the auditor for the fiscal year 2024 

as auditor and group auditor, determined the audit 

focus and set the auditor's fee.

The Audit Committee also monitored the selection, 

independence, qualifications and effectiveness of 

the auditor. It focused particularly on evaluating the 

quality of the audit process. 

Finally, the Audit Committee reviewed the Com-

pany’s accounting process, financing, and business 

risks and was regularly informed about compliance 

matters. 

Composition of Supervisory Board 

Name   Function 

Klaus Röhrig   Chair of the Audit Committee (until June 12, 2024) 

Dr. Olaf Stiller   Member of the Audit Committee (until June 12, 2024) 

Peter Wendeln   Member of the Audit Committee (until June 12, 2024) 

Klaus Röhrig   Member of the Audit Committee (June 12, 2024 to ,September 30, 2024) 

Bodo Coldewey 

  

Chair (June 12, 2024 to September 30, 2024) and Deputy Chair (since October 1, 2024) of 

the Audit Committee 

Nicholas Haggar 
  Member of the Audit Committee (since June 12, 2024) 

Colin Bond   Chair of the Audit Committee (since October 1, 2024) 
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Name   Function 

Nicholas Haggar   Chair of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Wolfgang Essler   Member of the Audit Committee (until June 12, 2024) 

Klaus Röhrig   Member of the Audit Committee (until June 12, 2024) 

Colin Bond   Member of the Audit Committee (June 12, 2024 to September 30, 

2024) 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

On June 12, 2024, the Supervisory Board resolved 

to also form a Nomination and Remuneration Com-

mittee consisting of three members: In the fiscal 

year 2024, the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee held two meetings, which were held as 

a video conference. 

Declaration of Conformity with the German Cor-
porate Governance Code 

Pursuant to Section 161 para. 1 sentence 1 AktG, the 

Executive Board and the Supervisory Board must 

declare annually that the recommendations of the 

Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code published by the Federal Minis-

try of Justice in the official section of the Federal 

Gazette have been and are being complied with or 

which recommendations have not been or are not 

being applied and why not (so-called Declaration of 

Conformity). On April 28, 2022, the Government 

Commission on the German Corporate Governance 

Code presented a new version of the German Cor-

porate Governance Code, which was published in 

the official section of the Federal Gazette on June 

27, 2022. In March 2025, the Executive Board and 

the Supervisory Board published the annual decla-

ration of conformity, which was published on the 

Company's website 

(https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relati-
ons/governance/). Further information on the 

Company's corporate governance can be found in 

the corporate governance declaration. 

Training and further professional development 

measures 

The Supervisory Board members independently un-

dertook the training and professional development 

measures necessary for their duties. The Company 

provided appropriate support to the Supervisory 

Board members in their training and professional 

development measures. In the fiscal year 2024, the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee held two 

meetings, which were held as a video conference. 
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Audit of annual and consolidated financial state-
ments 

The auditor, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-

schaft, Munich, audited the Company’s consoli-

dated financial statements and the annual financial 

statements as well as the combined management 

report of the Company and the Formycon Group for 

the fiscal year 2024 and issued an unqualified audit 

opinion in each case. The Company’s annual finan-

cial statements and the combined management re-

port for the Company and the Formycon Group 

were prepared in accordance with the German stat-

utory accounting provisions of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB). The Company’s consolidated 

financial statements were prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, and the 

additional requirements of German commercial law 

pursuant to Section 315e (1) of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB). 

The financial statement documents with the audit 

reports of the auditor, including the audit opinion 

on the remuneration report, were sent to the Super-

visory Board members in a timely manner. They 

were thoroughly reviewed and discussed, particu-

larly in terms of legality and correctness, in the 

presence of the auditor during the Audit Committee 

meeting on March 21, 2025, and during the Super-

visory Board meeting on March 21, 2025, both held 

at the Company's business premises. The auditor 

reported on the key findings of the audit, the estab-

lished audit focus areas, as well as the key audit 

matters described in the respective audit opinion, 

and the related audit procedures. The Executive 

Board and the auditor were available to the Audit 

Committee and the Supervisory Board for further 

questions and additional information. After thor-

ough discussion, the Audit Committee decided to 

recommend to the Supervisory Board that it ap-

proves the financial statement documents. 

The Supervisory Board agreed with the audit re-

sults. Based on the final results of its review, the Su-

pervisory Board found no grounds for objection. In 

line with the recommendations of the Audit Com-

mittee, the Supervisory Board approved the annual 

financial statements and the consolidated financial 

statements for the fiscal year 2024, as well as the 

combined management report of the Company and 

the Group, in its meeting on March 21, 2025; thus, 

the annual financial statements for the fiscal year 

2024 were adopted. 

Conflicts of interest in the Supervisory Board and 
Executive Board 

The Chair of the Supervisory Board, Wolfgang Ess-

ler, is managing director of Santo Holding (Deutsch-

land) GmbH. The member of the Supervisory Board 

Klaus Röhrig is a founding partner and Co-Chief In-

vestment Officer at Active Ownership Corporation 

S.à r.l. Due to a potential conflict of interest result-

ing from these functions, Wolfgang Essler and 

Klaus Röhrig did not take part in the resolution on 

the conclusion of the loan agreement concluded 

between the Company as borrower and Santo 

Holding (Deutschland) GmbH and Active Owner-

ship Corporation S.à r.l. acting on behalf of Active 

Ownership SICAV SIF SCS as lenders as a precau-

tionary measure. Both disclosed the potential con-

flict of interest to the other members of the Supervi-

sory Board. Wolfgang Essler and Klaus Röhrig 

agreed to the resolution being passed by the other 

members of the Supervisory Board. 

In addition, no conflicts of interest were reported by 

members of the Supervisory Board or Executive 

Board in the fiscal year2024. 

Change in the composition of the Executive 
Board 

There were no changes to the composition of the 

Executive Board in the fiscal year 2024. 
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Thanks for dedicated services 

On behalf of the entire Supervisory Board, I would 

like to thank the members of the Executive Board 

for their excellent cooperation and successful man-

agement of the Company in the past challenging 

fiscal year.  

We would also like to thank our employees for their 

extraordinary commitment and outstanding perfor-

mance. Thanks to their efforts, Formycon AG's pipe-

line has continued to mature and expand, and vari-

ous important milestones have been reached. 

We would also like to thank our partners, who have 

also made a significant contribution to the success 

of our company. 

 

Munich, March 21, 2025 

 

Wolfgang Essler                                                     

Chair of Supervisory Board 
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Formycon                                                                      
on the stock market 
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Shares and the                                                               
capital markets 

German and international stock market environ-

ment 

The prevailing positive trend on the world’s stock 

markets continued into 2024. The MSCI World In-

dex extended its strong performance from 2023, 

posting a further increase of almost 18% in 2024.1 

Specifically within Germany, the DAX 40 bench-

mark index achieved an increase of approx. 18.7% 

during the trading year,2 with particularly strong 

performance in the first and fourth quarters, 

thereby reaching a new all-time high in 2024. In  

the United States, the three leading equity indexes 

– the Dow Jones 30, the S&P 500 and the technol-

ogy-heavy Nasdaq 100 – each continued to post 

new gains, with the Dow rising by 12.8%,3 the S&P 

500 by 24%,4 and the NASDAQ 100 by an even 

more impressive 27%.5 The continued positive mo-

mentum on the equity markets was likely fueled by 

the easing interest rate policies of major central-

banks but also by specific factors such as the boom 

 
1  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/MSCI-WORLD-Index-3193857  

2  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/DAX-Index-20735  
3  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/Dow-Jones-Index-324977  

4  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/S-P-500-Index-4359526  

5  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/NASDAQ-100-Index-325104    

in the technology sector, particularly in the field of 

artificial intelligence, and the continued economic 

resilience of many companies.6,7 It should be 

noted, however, that the U.S. Federal Reserve has 

issued a cautious interest rate outlook for 2025 

due to persistently high inflation in the U.S., which 

could portend a difficult year for the stock market.8 

The continuing positive equity market performance 

was seen more broadly in Europe as well, with the 

Euro Stoxx 50 index of Eurozone stocks extending 

its gains through a further rise of approx. 8.5%,9 

which can be considered a robust performance in 

view of challenges in the second, third and fourth 

quarters triggered by political uncertainties in 

France and Germany. The positive market trend 

was broadly supported by factors including interest 

rate cuts by the European Central Bank, economic 

resilience, and the technology sector boom.  

6  https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht- 
geldanlage-finanzen-aktien-rendite-konjunktur-inflation-100.html  

7  https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-
dax-boerse-dollar-dow-jones-100.html  

8  https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-
dax-boerse-dollar-dow-jones-100.html  

9  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/DAX-Index-20735 

https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-%20geldanlage-finanzen-aktien-rendite-konjunktur-inflation-100.html
https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-%20geldanlage-finanzen-aktien-rendite-konjunktur-inflation-100.html
https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-dax-boerse-dollar-dow-jones-100.html
https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-dax-boerse-dollar-dow-jones-100.html
https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-dax-boerse-dollar-dow-jones-100.html
https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/finanzen/marktberichte/marktbericht-dax-boerse-dollar-dow-jones-100.html
https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/DAX-Index-20735
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Performance of the Biotechnology sector 

After three years of clear underperformance and a 

slow start to 2024, the biotech sector began to ten-

tatively show signs of a modest revival over the 

past year.10 The Nasdaq Biotechnology Index 

posted significant gains in the second and third 

quarters and moved above the important hurdle of 

4,350 points, which was seen by chart analysts as a 

significant technical breakthrough. Despite these 

hopeful signs, the index closed the year with a loss 

of almost 3.3%.11 The DAXsubsector Biotechnology, 

a specialized equity index which tracks the perfor-

mance of companies in Germany’s biotech sector 

including Formycon, posted a decline of approx. 

16.3% over the course of the year.12 Among the 

leading biotech benchmarks, the S&P Biotechnol-

ogy Index (XBI), which includes only U.S. small- to 

medium-sized biotech stocks in its equally 

weighted portfolio, was able to achieve the best 

performance of the year with a razor-thin loss of 

0.1%. Overall, however, the performance is disap-

pointing compared to other indices. 

 
10  https://www.jefferies.com/insights/boardroom-intelligence/healthcares-path-

forward-the-key-trends-shaping-2025/ 

11  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/NASDAQ-Biotechnology-Index-Index-
2569917 

The development of biotechnology stock prices so 

far this year can be attributed to several factors. 

Firstly, their underperformance in recent years has 

put their valuations at more attractive levels. Sec-

ondly, the innovative forces in the industry appear 

to be increasing, not least because of artificial intel-

ligence and other new technologies.13 Finally, the 

effects of falling inflation and expectations of po-

tential interest rate cuts are likewise seen to be 

having a positive impact on this capital-intensive 

sector. The revived investor interest in biotech 

stocks could be the combined result of these fac-

tors.14  

On the other hand, the combination of small & mid-

cap, life science and non-profitable companies re-

mains an unattractive combination for many inves-

tors that does not currently fit their risk profile. This 

is especially true if other segments or indices con-

tinue to perform significantly better. 

 

12  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/DAXsubsector-Biotechnology-Perfor-
mance-Index-6623297 

13  https://www.ey.com/en_us/insights/life-sciences/optimism-for-life-sciences-
growth-in-2025 

14  https://www.ey.com/en_us/life-sciences/biotech-outlook#form 

https://www.ey.com/en_us/life-sciences/biotech-outlook#form
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Performance of Formycon shares 

Formycon shares opened the trading year on Janu-

ary 2, 2024 at a price of € 57.00,15 which also 

marked the full-year high. The share price perfor-

mance was rather mixed through the middle of the 

second quarter, despite various positive news, and 

although it temporarily slumped to a year low of 

€ 38.20,16 it was able to recover almost completely 

by the end of the second quarter.  

In the second half of the year, Formycon shares 

held in the range of € 45.00 to € 56.00, ending the 

year at a closing price of € 53.10, representing a 

full-year decline of 6.8%.17 

On November 12, 2024, Formycon joined the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange’s Prime Standard seg-

ment.18 Through this uplisting from the Scale 

growth segment to the Prime Standard, Formycon 

now meets the highest transparency requirements 

of the Deutsche Börse. The Prime All Share Index, 

into which Formycon was promoted with this up-

listing, posted a gain of approx. 16% for the year, 

while the Scale 30 Index, to which Formycon be-

longed for most of the year, posted a full-year de-

cline of 2%.19  

 
15  https://www.finanzen.net/historische-kurse/formycon 

16  https://www.finanzen.net/historische-kurse/formycon 

17  https://www.finanzen.net/historische-kurse/formycon 
18  https://www.boerse-frankfurt.de/nachrichten/formycon-ag-jetzt-im-prime-

standard 

On December 23, 2024, Formycon shares were ac-

cepted for inclusion in the SDAX market index. This 

decision was made by Deutsche Börse as part of 

the regular index review announced on December 

5, 2024 and was primarily based upon the in-

creased value of Formycon’s shares in free float, 

making Formycon one of the 70 largest listed com-

panies in Germany by market capitalization follow-

ing the 50 companies in the MDAX index. The 

SDAX posted a small decline during 2024, closing 

at 13,711 points for a full-year loss of 1.8%. Following 

a year high of more than 15,300 points in 

May/June, the index briefly fell below 13,000 points 

in August before again stabilizing.20 Compared to 

the DAX, which gained almost 20%, the SDAX 

lagged significantly and was characterized by high 

volatility.  

Formycon’s average Xetra price for the 254 trading 

days during the 2024 trading year was € 49.23. 

The price rose in response to announced opera-

tional progress in Formycon’s biosimilar projects, 

including the start of clinical trials for Keytruda® bio-

similar candidate FYB206, market approval by the 

U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of Eylea® 

biosimilar FYB203, and the almost simultaneous 

market approval in the U.S. and Europe of FYB202. 

The successful uplisting of Formycon shares to the 

Prime Standard segment was also received 

19  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/SCALE-30-PRICE-EUR-Index-
201488990 

20  https://www.onvista.de/index/chart/SDAX-Index-324724 
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positively. This sustainably positive news flow stabi-

lized the share price in the second half of the year. 
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Formycon shares: Trading information 

Ticker symbol   FYB 

German securities identifier (WKN)   A1EWVY 

ISIN   DE000A1EWVY8 

Listed exchange, Market segment   Frankfurt Stock Exchange 

until Nov. 11, 2024: Scale (Open Market) 
since Nov. 12, 2024: Prime Standard 

since Dec. 23, 2024: SDAX 

Trading venues   Xetra, Berlin, Düsseldorf, Frankfurt, Hamburg, Munich, Stuttgart, Tradegate 

Designated Sponsors   Oddo BHF Corporates & Markets AG 

M.M. Warburg & Co. 

    

Formycon shares: Performance information 

in Euro   2024   2023 

Opening price (Xetra) 

on Jan. 2, 2023 / Jan. 3, 2024 

  55.50   87.00 

Closing price (Xetra) 

on Dec. 29, 2023 / Dec. 30, 2024 
  53.10   56.40 

Average price 

(Xetra closing price) 

  49.23   67.25 

Market capitalization 

as of Dec. 31 
  937,581,496   905,390,610 

in shares       

Total shares traded 

(on all trading venues) 
  4,771,509   3,815,854 

Daily average shares traded 

(on all trading venues) 

  18,785   14,964 

Total shares issued 

as of Dec. 31 
  17,656,902   16,053,025 
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Shareholder structure 

If certain voting rights thresholds are exceeded, the 

relevant shareholders are required, under German 

law, to file a notification thereof with the respective 

issuing company as well as with the German Fed-

eral Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). Since 

its uplisting on November 12, 2024 to the Regu-

lated Market and to Frankfurt Stock Exchange’s 

Prime Standard segment, Formycon AG has been 

subject to the provisions of sec. 33 ff. of the Ger-

man Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhan-

delsgesetz), including the resulting notification obli-

gations in case of changes in significant sharehold-

ings. The relevant thresholds under this law are 3 

%, 5 %, 10 %, 15 %, 20 %, 25 %, 30 %, 50 % and 75 

%. 

Until this point, the Company had been listed in the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange’s regulated unofficial 

market (Freiverkehr, or “Open Market”) and thus 

subject only to the more limited notification require-

ments of sec. 20 of the German Stock Corporation 

Act (Aktiengesetz), under which entities holding 

more than one fourth (25%) of the shares of a stock 

corporation with registered offices in Germany are 

required to report their holdings. Through its entry 

as part of the 2022 capital increase transaction 

with a major capital contribution in kind, ATHOS KG  

acquired and held, through its subsidiary Santo 

Holding (Deutschland) GmbH, an indirect share-

holding of more than 25% of the registered capital 

of Formycon AG. Through the capital increase 

transaction against cash in early 2024 and the en-

try of the Hungarian specialty pharmaceutical com-

pany Gedeon Richter Plc. as a new strategic inves-

tor, the total shareholding of Santo Holding 

(Deutschland) GmbH was diluted during the report-

ing period and fell slightly below the 25% thresh-

old. The corresponding notifications were provided 

to Formycon and published in the Federal Gazette 

in accordance with sec. 20 of the Stock Corpora-

tion Act.  

As of December 31, 2024, a total of 60.79% of the 

registered capital was held by anchor investors ac-

cording to the voting rights notifications of the Ger-

man Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhan-

delsgesetz) submitted to Formycon. The free float 

amounted to 39.21%. 

Copies of such notifications received from share-

holders pursuant to sec. 33 ff. of the Security Trad-

ing Act may be found on the Formycon website un-

der https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-rela-

tions/votingrights/. 

Shareholder structure as of Dec. 31, 2024 
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Reporting of securities transactions by company 
executives (directors’ dealings) 

During fiscal year 2024, members of the Executive 

Board or Supervisory Board conducted the above 

mentioned securities transactions subject to report-

ing requirements under article 19 of the Market 

Abuse Regulation (MAR). Further information re-

garding such transactions may be found on the 

Formycon website under 

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/di-

rectors-dealings/. 

Uplisting to Prime Standard segment and inclu-
sion in SDAX and TecDAX market indexes 

In November of 2024, Formycon AG applied to the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange for admission of its 

shares to trading within the Prime Standard seg-

ment, which along with the General Standard seg-

ment constitutes the Exchange’s Regulated Market. 

Trading in this segment began on November 12, 

2024. The Prime Standard segment has the Ex-

change’s highest transparency requirements, ongo-

ing obligations which go well beyond the law. 

Through this uplisting, the Company intends to 

strengthen its position on the national and interna-

tional capital markets and improve the tradability of 

its shares while at the same time raising transpar-

ency and attractiveness for investors. 

Just a few weeks after the successful uplisting to 

the Prime Standard segment, Formycon shares 

were accepted for inclusion in the SDAX market 

index with effect from December 23, 2024. The in-

clusion in the renowned Deutsche Börse index fam-

ily marks Formycon as one of the 70 next largest 

listed companies in Germany following the DAX 

and MDAX, measured by the market capitalization 

of shares in free float. 

As part of an unscheduled index adjustment by 

Deutsche Börse, the Company was included in the 

TecDAX market index three weeks later, on January 

13, 2025. This decision recognizes Formycon as 

one of the 30 largest listed technology companies 

in Germany based on trading volume and market 

capitalization of shares in free. 

The inclusion in these two benchmark indexes will 

inherently have a positive impact on trading vol-

umes because funds and ETFs that replicate the 

SDAX or TecDAX must purchase shares to match 

index performance. 

Subscribed capital 

As of January 1, 2024, the registered capital 

(Grundkapital) of Formycon AG was 

€ 16,053,025.00, divided into 16,053,025 bearer 

shares without par value but with an imputed nomi-

nal value of € 1.00 per share. 

Through a capital increase against cash contribu-

tion at the end of January 2024, Formycon’s regis-

tered capital was increased by € 1,603,877.00 un-

der partial utilization of the Company’s Approved 
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Capital through the issuance of 1,603,877 new no-

par-value common bearer shares. The placement 

price of the shares was € 51.65 per share, thereby 

generating a total cash inflow of € 82.84 million. 

The new shares were subscribed exclusively by the 

Hungarian specialty pharmaceutical company 

Gedeon Richter Plc. under exclusion of general 

subscription rights in accordance with sec. 4 para. 

3 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation 

(Satzung). At the time of the placement, the new 

shares corresponded to 9.08% of the Company’s 

outstanding registered capital, which thereby in-

creased to € 17,656,902.00. 

In order to provide the company with the legally 

permitted flexibility to be able to act quickly on the 

capital markets at any time in the future, the Execu-

tive Board and Supervisory Board of Formycon AG 

proposed in June 2024, and the Annual General 

Meeting of June 12, 2024 accordingly resolved, to 

cancel the Approved Capital 2023 and replace it 

with a new Approved Capital 2024. The new Ap-

proved Capital 2024 permits the issuance of new 

shares up to 50% of existing registered capital. The 

Executive Board is thus authorized, subject to the 

approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the 

registered capital once or several times until June 

11, 2029, by a total of up to € 8,828,451.00 through 

the issuance of up to 8,828,451 new no-par-value 

common bearer shares against cash and/or non-

cash contributions. 

In addition to the cash capital increase of January 

2024, a total of 7,525 new shares were subscribed 

later in the year on the basis of the Conditional 

Capital 2015/I. The registered capital of Formycon 

AG thus amounted to a total of € 17,664,427.00 as 

of December 31, 2024.  

Annual General Meeting  

The Annual General Meeting of Formycon AG was 

held in Munich on June 12, 2024 in presence form. 

In its presentation to shareholders, the Executive 

Board provided detailed information about the 

company’s progress over the year and answered all 

questions raised in the general Q&A session. Dr. 

Olaf Stiller, long-time Chair of the Supervisory 

Board, chaired the Annual General Meeting for the 

last time and was gratefully applauded for his many 

successful years of leadership and guidance. 

Shareholders representing 62.16% of the Com-

pany’s share capital followed the proposals of the 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board by voting 

in favor of all management-proposed resolutions 

with large majorities. The actions of members of 

the Executive and Supervisory Boards during the 

past fiscal year were ratified with majorities of more 

than 96% for each individual member, a strong ex-

pression of confidence. 

In order to provide even greater international rep-

resentation, industry breadth and financial exper-

tise on the Supervisory Board going forward, new 

and independent members were elected to the Su-

pervisory Board, which was further expanded by 

approval of shareholders from four to five mem-

bers. Dr. Bodo Coldewey, managing director of 

WEGA Invest GmbH, the family office of the Wen-

deln family, and Nicholas Haggar, long-time phar-

maceutical industry executive and currently chief 

executive officer of Healthqube Ltd., were elected 

by large majorities as new successor members of 

the Supervisory Board. Dr. Coldewey and Mr. Hag-

gar assumed the seats of Dr. Olaf Stiller and Deputy 

Chair Peter Wendeln, who had submitted their res-

ignations from the Supervisory Board with effect 

from the end of the Annual General Meeting. In ad-

dition, Colin Bond, until now chief financial officer of 

Sandoz Group AG, was elected by a large majority 

to the new fifth seat of the Supervisory Board with 

effect from October 1, 2024. Immediately following 

the Annual General Meeting, the Supervisory Board 

was constituted and elected Wolfgang Essler as its 

new Chair. 

Investor relations 

Professional dialog with investors and with the in-

ternational capital markets forms an important com-

ponent of Formycon’s investor relations program. 

During the 2024 fiscal year, Formycon’s senior 

management and investor relations department 

presented the Company at a number of national 

and international investor conferences, including 

the following: 
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— J.P. Morgan Healthcare Conference, San Fran-

cisco 

— Oddo BHF Forum (virtual event) 

— UniCredit & Kepler Cheuvreux German Corpo-

rate Conference, Frankfurt 

— Alster Research Pop-up Conference Health 

Care (virtual event) 

— Berenberg EU Opportunities Conference 2024, 

London 

— Jefferies Pan-European Mid-Cap Conference, 

London 

— Metzler Small Cap Days, Frankfurt 

— Equity Forum Spring Conference, Frankfurt 

— Hauck Aufhäuser Stockpicker Summit, Kitzbü-

hel 

— 10th Berenberg European Conference 2024, 

New York 

— mwb Research Roundtable (virtual event) 

— Jefferies Global Healthcare Conference, New 

York 

— Warburg Highlights, Hamburg 

— Stifel European Healthcare Summit, Lyon 

— Montega Hamburger Investorentage (HIT), 

Hamburg 

— H.C. Wainwright Annual Investment Confer-

ence, New York 

— Pareto Securities Healthcare Conference, 

Stockholm 

— Berenberg & Goldman Sachs German Corpo-

rate Conference, Munich 

— Jefferies London Healthcare Conference, Lon-

don 

— German Equity Forum, Frankfurt 

Beyond these one-on-ones meetings at confer-

ences and roadshows, Formycon has strived to 

maintain active contact with existing and potential 

investors and further increased its visibility on the 

capital markets, such as through publication of 

company announcements, contact with media rep-

resentatives, virtual roundtable and fireside chat 

events.   

As of December 31, 2024, 11 national and interna-

tional analysts were regularly providing equity re-

search coverage with investment recommendations 

on Formycon AG.  

Compared to the prior year, the number of covering 

analysts rose from seven to eleven, underscoring 

the strong investment-side interest in Formycon 

shares. 
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During fiscal year 2024, the following banks or other research providers published studies on Formycon: 

Bank or research provider 
 

  Analyst 

Berenberg   Benjamin Thielmann 

B. Metzler seel. Sohn & Co. KGaA     Alexander Neuberger  

First Berlin Equity Research GmbH    Simon Scholes  

Hauck Aufhäuser Lampe Privatbank AG    Alexander Galitsa  

H.C. Wainwright   Yi Chen 

Jefferies     Brian Balchin  

Kepler Cheuvreux    Nicolas Pauillac  

mwb Research    Alexander Zienkowicz   

M.M. Warburg    Dr. Christian Ehmann  

Oddo BHF   Damien Choplain 

Royal Bank of Canada    Alistair Campbell 

    

Further information about Formycon and its inves-

tor relations activities may be found in the “Investor 

relations” section of the Company’s website:  

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-rela-
tions/formycon-shares/ 
 
Formycon believes in open dialogue with its inves-

tors and with the capital markets, as an integral part 

of its corporate philosophy. In this spirit, the inves-

tor relations department of Formycon AG stands 

ready to respond to any questions or suggestions:  

Formycon AG  

Sabrina Müller  

Director Investor Relations &  
Corporate Communications   

phone +49 89 864 667 149  

ir@formycon.com   
  

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/formycon-shares/
https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/formycon-shares/
mailto:ir@formycon.com
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Our
Responsibility

The financial burden of noncommunicable diseases 

(NCDs) on global health systems is steadily increa-

sing. Noncommunicable diseases are responsible 

for almost 75% of all deaths and although success-

ful treatments exist, the need for innovative thera-

pies for chronic diseases or cancers continues to 

rise rapidly1.

Biopharmaceutical or biological drugs (also called 

biologics) have significantly improved the treat-

ment of many serious diseases and now account 

for more than a third of the pharmaceutical market 

in Germany2. However, treatment with biologics is 

usually very cost intensive. For this reason, even 

in high-income countries such as Germany, pa-

tients often only gain access to biopharmaceutical 

therapy after long waiting times and when all other 

options have been exhausted.

1 Generics and Biosimilars Initiative Journal, May 2024,  
 https://gabi-journal.net/increasing-adoption-of-quality-assured-biosimilars- 
 to-address-access-challenges-in-low-and-middle-income-countries.html 
2 Deutsches Ärzteblatt, Januarary 2024,  
 https://www.aerzteblatt.de/nachrichten/148389/Biopharmazeutika-machen- 
 mehr-als-ein-Drittel-des-Arzneimittelmarktes-aus
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We see it as our mission to improve access to 

these medicines. To this end, we have specialized 

in the development of biosimilars. Biosimilars are 

follow-on prodcucts to biopharmaceutical drugs 

and equivalent to them in terms of quality, efficay 

and safety. When biosimilars enter the market after 

the legal protection period of the reference drug 

has expired, they create competitive dynamics that 

increase cost efficiency and thus improve access 

to therapy. For payers in the healthcare sector, the 

savings arising by using biosimilars mean that more 

patients than previously can be treated with highly 

effective biopharmaceutical drugs.

As a “pure-play” biosimilar company, we are able 

to cover the technical-pharmaceutical develop-

ment from the selection of a promising biosimilar 

candidate, cell line development, comparative 

analytics, process development, preclinical and 

clinical development to the preparation of approval 

documents and management of approval procedu-

res in highly regulated markets. In addition, the 

configuration and control of the entire supply chain 

and product logistics are also part of our core 

expertise.  

 

For the commercialization of our biosimilars, we 

rely on rely on strong, trustworthy and long-term 

partnerships. 

 

Our
Mission
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Our
Biosimilars
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fyb201
ranibizumab

Reference Drug:  
Lucentis®1

fyb201 brands

Ranivisio®2 

Region: Europe

Teva

Ongavia®3 

Region: UK

Teva

Cimerli®4 

Region: US

Sandoz

RanoptoTM5 

Region: Canada

Teva

Ravegza®6 

Region: Saudi Arabia

MS Pharma

Uptera®6 

Region: Jordan

MS Pharma

Ongavia

Ravegza® Uptera®

1 Lucentis® is a registered trademark of Genentech Inc.
2 Ranivisio® is a registered trademark of Bioeq AG
3 Ongavia® is a registered trademark of Teva  
 Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd.

4 Cimerli® is a registered trademark of Coherus BioSciences, Inc.
5 RanoptoTM is a trademark of Teva Canada Limited
6 Ravegza® and Uptera® are registered trademarks of   
 MS Pharma
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Indication Area 

Ophthalmology 

Active Ingredient Group 

VEGF Inhibitor

Indications 

of the Reference Drug* 

Neovascular (“wet”) 

age-related macular de-

generation (nAMD),

Diabetic macular 

edema (DME), Choroi-

dal neovascularization 

(CNV), Proliferative 

diabetic retinopathy 

(PDR), Macular edema 

following retinal vein 

occlusion (RVO) 

Business Modell 

50% Formycon  

project via participa-

tion in Bioeq AG ( joint 

venture of Formycon 

AG 50% and Polpharma 

Biologics Group B.V. 

50%)

Market Launch 

2022 – 2026  
(depending on Region)

Ranibizumab Market 

Ranibizumab is  

among the most  

widely usedestablished 

anti-VEGFs today.  

In 2024, Lucentis®  

generated global sales 

of around USD 1.0 

billion.

FYB201 on the market

FYB201 approved

Further potential

Commercialization partners:

Marketing of FYB201 

temporarily paused

* Indications of the biosimilar depending on  

 legal protection status in the respective regions

4 Cimerli® is a registered trademark of Coherus BioSciences, Inc.
5 RanoptoTM is a trademark of Teva Canada Limited
6 Ravegza® and Uptera® are registered trademarks of   
 MS Pharma
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fyb202
ustekinumab

Reference Drug:  
Stelara®1

fyb202 brands

Otulfi®2 

Region: Key global 

Markets

Fresenius Kabi

Fymskina®3 

Region: Germany

NN

Sitovab®4 

Region: MENA

MS Pharma OVERLAPPING AREA

XXXXXXXX
XX XXXX

LOT:
EXP:

       

        

         

       

      

       

        

        

         

      

       

       

        

              

Sitovab®

Ustekinumab

45 mg / 0.5 mL
Solution for Subcutaneous Solution
Store at 2-8 °C

MP3030692

1 Stelara® is a registered trademark of Johnson & Johnson
2 Otulfi® is a registered trademark of Fresenius Kabi   
 Deutschland GmbH in selected countries
 
 

3 Fymskina® is a registered trademark of Formycon AG
4 Sitovab® is a registered trademark of MS Pharma

FYMSKINA®
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Indication Area 

Immunology 

Active ingredient group 

Immuno- 

suppressants / 

Interleukin  

Inhibitors

Indications of the 

Reference Drug* 

Crohn's Disease,  

Ulcerative Colitis, 

Plaque Psoriasis,  

Psoriatic Arthritis

Business Modell 

100 % Formycon  

Project

Market Launch 

Q1/2025

Ustekinumab Market 

Global sales of the 

reference drug Stelara® 

amounted to around 

USD 10.4 billion in 

2024. The possible use 

of ustekinumab for  

additional therapeutic 

indications offers fur-

ther sales potential.

Commercialization Partners:

FYB202 on the Market

FYB202 approved

* Indications of the biosimilar depending on  

 legal protection status in the respective regions

3 Fymskina® is a registered trademark of Formycon AG
4 Sitovab® is a registered trademark of MS Pharma



Products, Strategies and material Topics — Formycon AG Annual Report 2024 42

fyb203
aflibercept

Reference Drug:  
Eylea®1

AHZANTIVE®2 

Region: Global  

Major parts of Europe, 

Israel: Teva 

APAC: Lotus

Baiama®2 

Region: Europe

NN

Fovlya®4 

Region: MENA

MS Pharma

SN
LOT
EXP

012345678912
ABC012345
YYYY-MMM

GTIN01234567891234

GTIN, Serial Number, LOT, EXP and 2D Data 
Matrix will be added during serialization and 
will appear as shown below.

97.63 

82.55

25.4

Each vial contains 4 mg of A�ibercept in 0.1 mL solution 
(40 mg/mL). 
One vial delivers a dose of 2 mg a�ibercept in 0.05 mL. 

Excipients: Polysorbate 20, histidine hydrochloride 
monohydrate (for pH adjustment), histidine (for pH 
adjustment), sodium chloride, sucrose, and water for 
injections. 

Indications and Dosage: See enclosed lea�et.

The vial should only be used for the treatment of
a single eye. 

Store in a refrigerator (2°C – 8°C). 
Do not freeze. 
Keep the vial in the outer carton in order to protect from 
light. 

The unopened vial may be stored outside the 
refrigerator below 25°C for up to 24 hours.

After opening the vial, proceed under aseptic conditions.

For single use only. Discard unused portion. 

Excess volume to be expelled before injecting.

To be dispensed on medical prescription. 

Keep out of reach of children.

Manufactured by: Ajinomoto Althea, United States.
Licensed by:
Formycon AG - Martinsried/ Planegg - Germany.

Marketing Authorisation Holder:
MS Pharma Jordan - King Abdullah II Industrial Estate
Amman – Jordan 

تحتوي كل عبوة على ٤ ملغم افليبرسبت في ٠٫١ مل من المحلول ( يكافئ ٤٠ ملغم /مل).
توفر كل عبوة زجاجية واحدة جرعة ٢ ملغم افليبرسبت في ٠٫٠٥ مل.

المكونات الاخرى ھي: بوليسوربات  ٢٠، ھيستيدين ھيدروكلورايد مونوھيدرات (لضبط الأس 
الھيدروجيني) ھيستيدين (لضبط الأس الھيدروجيني) ، كلوريد الصوديوم ، سكروز، وماء 

للحقن.

الاستعمال والجرعات: انظر النشرة المرفقة. 

ينبغي استخدام العبوة لعلاج عين واحدة فقط.

يحفظ في الثلاجة (٢°م- ٨°م). لا يُجمًد.

احتفظ بالقارورة في العبوة الخارجية لحمايتھا من الضوء.

من الممكن ترك العبوة خارج الثلاجة على درجة حرارة أقل من ٢٥ °م ل ٢٤ ساعة كحد أقصى.

بعد فتح العبوة، اتبع ظروف معقمة. 

للاستخدام لمرة واحدة. تخلص من الجزء غير المستخدم. 

يرجى التخلص من الحجم الزائد قبل الحقن.

يصرف بوصفة طبية. 

يحفظ بعيدًا عن متناول الأطفال

الشركة المصُنّعة: شركة اجينوموتو الثيا، الولايات المتحدة.

ترخيص من : شركة فورمايكون - مارتينسريد / بلانيج – ألمانيا.

مالك حق التسويق:
شركة ام اس فارما - الأردن.

مدينة الملك عبداللە الثاني الصناعية - عمان – الأردن

302

Black

5555

278

2613

MP3010676

Pantone®

2613C
Pantone®

278C
Pantone®

5555C
Pantone®

302C
Colors mode :

Black

Packaging Design Section

mتفوڤليا
برسب

افلي

ن
حق

ل لل
حلو

 م
ط

ين فق
ل الع

خ
ن دا

حق
ص لل

ص
خ

م
ج

خرا
لاست

ل ل
ل قاب

جم ٠٫١ م
ي ح

حتو
 عبوة واحدة ت

Fovlya®

A�ibercept
Solution for Injection
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Intravitreal use

Single dose: 
2 mg/0.05 mL

Baiama® 40 mg/mL
solution for injection 
in a vial

aflibercept

Baiama® 40 mg/mL
solution for injection in a vial
aflibercept

Intravitreal use

Single dose: 2 mg/0.05 mL
Excess volume to be expelled before 
injecting
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solution for injection in a vial

aflibercept

For single use only
1 vial contains 4 mg 
aflibercept in 0.1 mL
solution (40 mg/mL).
Read the package leaflet before use.
Store in a refrigerator. 
Do not freeze.
Store in the original 
package in order to protect 
from light.
Keep out of the sight and 
reach of children.

Excipients: 
- Polysorbate 20 (E 432), 
- histidine hydrochloride 
  monohydrate, 
- histidine, 
- sodium chloride, 
- sucrose, 
- water for injections.

Formycon AG
82152 Martinsried/Planegg
Germany
EU/1/24/1887/001

4 mg/0.1mL

2D

SN
LOT
EXP

012345678912
ABC012345
YYYYMMM

GTIN01234567891234

GTIN, Serial Number, LOT, EXP and 2D Data 
Matrix will be added during serialization and 
will appear as shown below.

Baiama_FB_Vial_40_EU_Eng_V8.pdf   1   1/8/2025   11:20:33 AM

1 Eylea® is a registered trademark of 
 Regeneron Pharmaceuticals Inc.
 
 

2 AHZANTIVE® and Baiama® are registered trademarks of 
 Klinge Biopharma GmbH
4 Fovlya® is a registered trademark of MS Pharma

fyb203 brands

AHZANTIVE®
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Indication Area 

Ophthalmology 

Active Ingredient Group 

VEGF-Inhibitor

Indications 

of the Reference Drug* 

Neovascular (wet) 

age-related Macular 

Degeneration, Diabetic 

Macular Edema, Choroi-

dal Neovascularization,  

Proliferative Diabetic 

Retinopathy, Macular 

Edema following Retinal 

Vein Occlusion

Business Modell 

Out-licensed to  

Klinge Biopharma 

GmbH

Market Launch 

Depending on 

settlement agreement 

with the rights holder  

of the reference drug

Aflibercept Market 

Aflibercept and ranibi-

zumab together ac-

count for more than  

90 % of the global 

market for anti-VEGF 

therapies. In 2024, the 

reference drug Eylea® 

in the dosages 2mg 

and 8mg (high-dose) jo-

intly generated sales of 

around USD 9.5 billion.

FYB203 zugelassen

Commercialization Partners:

* Indications of the biosimilar depending on  

 legal protection status in the respective regions

2 AHZANTIVE® and Baiama® are registered trademarks of 
 Klinge Biopharma GmbH
4 Fovlya® is a registered trademark of MS Pharma
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Our
Development
Projects
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fyb206
pembrolizumab

Reference Drug:  
Keytruda®1

Indication Area 

Immuno-Oncology

Active Ingredient Group 

PD1 Inhibitor

Indications 

of the Reference Drug* 

Advanced melanoma,

Non-small cell bronchial 

carcinoma, Hodgkin’s 

lymphoma, Urothelial 

carcinomas, Tumors 

in the head and neck 

area, other tumor disea-

ses

Business Modell 

100 % Formycon 

Project 

Market Launch 

in the United States 

and the EU after loss 

of exclusivity of the 

reference drug 

Pembrolizumab Market 

With its broad range  

of indications in 

oncology and sales 

of USD 29.5 billion in 

2024, Keytruda® is  

one of the best-selling  

drugs. Due to the 

increasing number 

of cancer diagnoses 

around the world, fur-

ther sales growth  

is forecast for the  

coming years.

Technical
Development

Manufacturing

Clinical
Development

Submission

Approval 
Process

Development
Status

* Indications of the biosimilar depending on  

 legal protection status in the respective regions

1 Keytruda® is a registered trademark of Merck Sharp &   
        Dohme LLC, a subsidiary of Merck & Co, Inc, Rahway,  
        NJ/USA
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fyb210
undisclosed

Indication Area: 
Immunology

Technical
Development

Manufacturing

Clinical
Development

Submission

Approval 
Process

Development
Status

fyb209
undisclosed
Indication Area: 
Immunology

fyb208
undisclosed

Indication Area: 
Immunology

Technical
Development

Manufacturing

Clinical
Development

Submission

Approval 
Process

Development
Status

Technical
Development

Manufacturing

Clinical
Development

Submission

Approval 
Process

Development
Status
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Our Commitment
to a sustainable  
development
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Based on our first materiality analysis in 2023, we 

have developed a comprehensive sustainability 

strategy, which addresses our material issues and 

constitutes the guideline for our actions in the co-

ming years. It describes how we intend to streng-

then the positive impact of our business activities, 

minimise negative impacts and effectively mitigate 

sustainability-related risks. We focus on five key 

topics, divided into a total of 19 sub-topics. We have 

developed goals, measures and key figures for 

each topic. For the reporting year 2024, we have 

developed more than 100 individual measures, 

grouped under strategic and operational goals. Of 

these measures, 88% could be implemented. Mea-

sures that were not implemented were postponed 

accordingly to the following reporting year 2025.

Our
Sustainability  
Strategy
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41 % male 
employees

59 % female 
employees

Our
material  
Topics

Our employees  — We are #TeamFormycon! 

Formycon currently employs around 250 dedicated 

employees from 32 nations, of which around 80% 

work in research and development. We recognize 

the power of diversity and promote it wherever we 

can. We are committed to a world in which every 

person – regardless of origin, gender, religion or 

other characteristics – enjoys the same opportu-

nities and rights. With a workforce consisting to 

59% of women, considerably more than common 

in the pharmaceutical industry, Formycon is suc-

cessful with its promotion of women. At the same 

time, it is important to us to increasingly fill more 

management positions with female managers. The 

proportion of women in the second management 

level (Vice President, Senior Director, Director and 

Associate Director) was 40,6% as of December 31, 

2024. At the highest management level, the propor-

tion was 25%. Across all management positions, 

the proportion of women at Formycon is 36.5%. To 

further increase the proportion of women in ma-

nagement positions, we are planning to implement 

specific support programs for female talent.  

Our daily conduct is based on values such as open-

ness, tolerance, reliability, appreciation and mutual 

trust. That's why Formycon actively supports the 

LGBTQIA+ community within the company. Through 

internal communication channels and events such 

as joint lunches, an exchange is promoted both 

within the community and with other employees. 

A separate LGBTQIA+ podcast series on topics 

such as diversity or international LGBTQIA+ rights 

not only educates, but also sensitizes employees 

and promotes understanding and tolerance. We 

very much support the exchange across teams and 

departments and for this purpose, a new, cross-

team event format was introduced in the year under 

review, which was very well received. 
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„What I appreciate about  
Formycon is the company's  

open and clear stance on  
diversity. Outside of my actual 

work, I have the opportunity  
to contribute my passion for 

LGBTQIA+ topics independently 
by organizing meetings and  

representing queer topics in the  
company's internal podcast.“

 
Jessica Lorenz 

Scientist

We are very proud of our highly qualified and com-

mitted employees and their health and safety have 

the highest priority. Formycon holds the "Safe with 

System" seal of approval from the German Emp-

loyers' Liability Insurance Association for the Raw 

Materials and Chemical Industry (BG-RCI). As part of 

the regular voluntary audit,  both the occupational 

safety management system (AMS) and the effec-

tiveness of the occupational health management 

system (BGM) are assessed. The main segments of 

the AMS audit are based on the ISO 45001 ma-

nagement systems for health and safety at work. In 

the reporting year, the management systems, en-

compassing all our employees, were again asses-

sed and successfully certified. In the 2024 financial 

year, one non-critical occupational accident was 

recorded at Formycon. 
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To enhance our attractiveness as an employer and 

increase the motivation of our employees, we offer 

extensive occupational training opportunities. The-

se are defined in Career Paths and in individual, an-

nual performance reviews. In addition to specialist 

education and training, we offer further training 

in areas such as languages, personal coaching, 

resilience and leadership. We also want to support 

young talents and plan to offer vocational training 

and traineeships in the future in several specialist 

areas in addition to our existing apprenticeships in 

the field of IT.

Formycon’s salary structure is based on the re-

muneration levels and models common for the 

biotechnology industry. In addition, we consider 

macroeconomic developments when reviewing the 

adjustment of remuneration in our annual salary 

rounds. In 2024, we reviewed and optimized our 

employee benefit concept1 and will offer further 

extensive corporate benefits in 2025  that will not 

only benefit our employees, but also equality and 

the environment.  

1 More about our benefits can be found in the career section of our  
        homepage: https://www.formycon.com/en/careers/your-benefits/



Mitigation of climate change & sustainable 
use of scarce resources  — The globally rising 

greenhouse gas emissions and the associated 

climate change pose a danger to us all. Formycon 

wants to contribute to combatting climate change 

and has, among other things, implemented the ISO 

50001 energy management system. In the reporting 

year, it was successfully certified for Formycon and 

all our subsidiaries. The management system allows 

us to identify and pursue energy-saving potential 

in a structured way. We are also planning to intro-

duce the ISO 14001 environmental management 

system in 2025.  Many of the measures considered 

within this system, e.g. to reduce pollutants and 

use resources more efficiently, are already today 

being implemented in our company. By introducing 

an environmental management system, we want to 

provide a framework for all our projects and ensure 

that the roles and responsibilities for improving our 

own environmental situation are clearly defined. 

We also calculate our greenhouse gas (GHG) 

emissions, starting with our own emissions in 2024 

(Scope 1 & 2). As a development company without 

own production, over 90% of the GHG emissions of 

our products are generated along the value chain. 

For this reason, we will expand our accounting to 

include these at the beginning of 2025 (Scope 

3) to better understand the potential for emission 

reductions. The results of the GHG accounting will 

serve as the basis for our climate strategy, which 

we intend to implement at the latest by 2026. 

Further important topics are the preservation of 

ecological diversity and an improved resource 

efficiency. To improve in these areas, we have im-

plemented measures at our site to save water and 

deal more responsibly with our waste, e.g. through 

waste separation. However, the greatest negative 

effects are primarily to be found along our value 

chain – in particular in manufacturing and in the 

final product phase. That is why we want to enter 

into a dialogue with our business partners and work 

on solutions together with them.

56Products, Strategies and material Topics — Formycon AG Annual Report 2024 
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„The energy management team 
is responsible for the the energy 

management system since it was 
introduced and certified in accor-

dance with DIN EN ISO 5001.
This has already given us a  

deeper insight, enabling us to  
respond more specifically to 

requirements and implement 
measures more efficiently.“

 

Bernd Schimkat

Facility, Environment, Health & Safety
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Impacts along the value chain  — The pro-

duction of biopharmaceutical products generally 

requires large amounts of energy and water, as well 

as chemicals and other raw materials that are used 

along the value chain. These resources are also 

needed in the development work at Formycon, but 

in significantly smaller quantities. To minimize the 

negative impacts caused by manufacture, Formy-

con wants to work together with its suppliers and 

business partners. To this end, we have developed 

a Supplier Code of Conduct, which we have sent to 

our strategically most important suppliers, together 

with a questionnaire on ESG issues. 

With our Supplier Code of Conduct, we want to 

ensure that internationally recognized standards 

on environmental protection, human rights and 

non-discrimination are met along our value chain. It 

defines our values regarding environmental, social 

and governance aspects, and is based on the 10 

principles of the United Nations (UN) Global Com-

pact, the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 

Human Rights, the OECD Guidelines for Multinatio-

nal Enterprises and the conventions of the Internati-

onal Labour Organization (ILO). In the coming years, 

we intend to increasingly include ESG criteria in the 

selection of our suppliers and business partners. 

In doing so, we actively seek the dialogue with our 

partners so that we can increase transparency in 

the value chain, minimize the negative impacts on 

the environment and ensure that human rights are 

respected. 

“At Formycon, we recognize that  
strong partnerships with our suppliers 

are the foundation of our success. 
Through our strategic collaboration with 
our partners, we create long-term value, 
benefiting both our organization and our 
suppliers while delivering the best results 

for our customers.”  

Fernando Montini

Procurement

01. Businesses should ensure the protection 
of international human rights and respect them.

02. Companies should ensure that they  
are not complicit in human rights violations .

03. Companies should safeguard freedom of 
association and the effective recognition of the 
right to collective bargaining.

04. Companies should advocate the elimination 
of all forms of forced labor.

05. Companies should advocate the abolition of  
child labor.

10. Companies should take a stand against all 
forms of corruption, including extortion and 

bribery.

09. Companies should promote the develop-
ment and dissemination of environmentally 

friendly technologies.

08. Companies should take initiatives  
 to promote greater environmental  

awareness.

07. Companies should follow the precautionary 
principle when dealing with environmental 

issues.

06. Companies should advocate for eliminating 
discrimination in hiring and employment. 
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ensures that these studies are conducted with the 

highest ethical and scientific quality standards of 

animal welfare, and that the internationally recogni-

zed 3R principles are adhered to. 

Animal welfare  — We are committed to en-

suring that our products are safe, effective and 

efficient.

All our products are developed in compliance with 

legal standards, and in very rare cases, regional 

regulatory requirements require our products to 

be tested on animals before clinical trials can be 

initiated in humans. Formycon is aware that the 

implementation of animal studies brings a special 

responsibility. For this reason, Formycon not only 

complies with all laws and regulations on animal 

research, but has also adopted an animal welfare 

policy to ensure a respectful and ethical treatment 

of any animals included in a study. It is Formycon’s 

ambition to minimize as much as possible or opt 

out of animal studies for research by implementing 

alternative research methodologies like in vitro or 

ex vivo testing or computer modelling, wherever 

feasible. Formycon conducts animal studies only 

when requested by health authorities. In such ca-

ses, we engage expertise organisations to carry out 

the studies on our behalf. In the rare cases where 

animal studies are required, Formycon always 



Fair business practices — Formycon's corpo-

rate success depends, among other things, on the 

expertise of highly qualified employees, whose 

conduct is characterized by a sense of responsibili-

ty and ethical principles. We attach great importan-

ce to a culture of mutual trust and we promote an 

open and free exchange of opinions at and across 

all levels of the corporate hierarchy. An open-min-

ded and agile working environment is the basis for 

our success. 

Compliance with the Formycon Code of Conduct is 

the cornerstone of responsible and lawful behavi-

our. Management, employees and all those who act 

on behalf of Formycon are obliged to comply with 

our Code of Conduct, regardless of where and in 

which area of activity they work. Formycon does 

not tolerate violations of the Code of Conduct or 

applicable law and will investigate any non-com-

pliant incident. Furthermore, Formycon has introdu-

ced stringent guidelines for all employees on the 

topics of corruption and bribery. In addition to these 

measures, we have also implemented a whistle-

blowing tool to enable confidential and anonymous 

reporting of violations of the Code of Conduct or 

applicable law. The tool helps to create an environ-

ment in which ethical behaviour can be promoted 

and violations can be effectively detected, tracked 

and dealt with appropriately. The Code, the whistle-

blowing tool, as well as relevant guidelines and 

comprehensive training for all employees are all 

part of our Compliance Management System (CMS), 

which we implement assertively. 
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Patients  — In addition to our mission to improve 

access to modern and effective therapies for many 

previously underserved patients, the safety and 

quality of our medicines is a top priority for us. The 

development of biosimilars for highly regulated 

markets requires high standards of safety, quality 

and efficacy of the drugs. The requirements for 

quality assurance of the production processes and 

their environment concerning biopharmaceutical 

products and active ingredients are laid down by 

the European Commission in the Principles and 

Guidelines of Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) 

for pharmaceutical products for human use. For-

mycon's laboratories are managed under these 

guidelines and periodically inspected and audited 

by regulatory bodies such as the U.S. Food and 

Drug Administration (FDA).

The conduct of clinical trials with biopharmaceutical 

products for human use is also strictly regulated by 

Good Clinical Practice (GCP) regulations. The GCP 

Regulation is valid worldwide and serves to protect 

patients and the integrity and accuracy of the data 

and findings generated in the course of these stu-

dies. We always make sure that all relevant regula-

tions and standards are complied with, not only by 

us, but also by our business partners.

We apply the highest quality and safety standards 

to our products for patients now and in the future 

and are working to make them available globally. In 

addition, we work to develop a more patient-friend-

ly use of our products.
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As a society, we are facing enormous challenges 

that we can only master together. There is not much 

time left to solve big problems like climate change 

and it is therefore of essence that we learn from 

each other. In order to better understand the expec-

tations on Formycon and to benefit from different 

viewpoints and expertise, Formycon specifically 

seeks the exchange with different stakeholder 

groups. 

Our most important stakeholders are our emp-

loyees, and we promote an open and free ex-

change of opinions across all hierarchical levels 

through various formats such as company meetings 

or "Coffee with your CXO". In addition, we conduct 

regular, anonymous employee surveys to evaluate 

employee satisfaction. All employees also have the 

opportunity to contribute with ideas and improve-

ments. Since 2024, Formycon has a works council 

that represents our employees in employee affairs. 

Further stakeholders very important to us are our 

business partners, suppliers, investors, sharehol-

ders, health authorities, and physicians and their 

patients. We strive to communicate openly and 

transparently with all stakeholder groups and enter 

into a dialogue through various channels. 

To further increase our transparency, we also parti-

cipate in various ESG related ratings.

Stakeholder 
Dialogue 

“As investors, we recognize that sus-
tainability is key to ensuring long-term 
value creation while improving access 
to healthcare worldwide. By reducing 

the environmental impact of Formy-
con's operations and supply chains, the 
company is contributing to a healthier 
planet while increasing efficiency and 

cost effectiveness. In addition, com-
pliance with increasingly stringent 

sustainability regulations minimizes 
risk and strengthens the company's 

position in a highly regulated industry, 
fostering stakeholder confidence and 

ensuring long-term growth.”  

Roxana Budimir  

Head of ESG, Active Ownership Capital S.à r.l.
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Basic Information about 
Formycon Group 

This Combined Management Report covers the  
reporting period from January 1, 2024 to  
December 31, 2024 and encompasses the  
management reports for both Formycon Group 
(hereinafter also “Formycon” or the “Group”)  
and Formycon AG. Unless otherwise noted, 
the presentation of business performance and  
financial figures relevant to corporate  
management, both actual and forecasted, are  
for Formycon Group.  
 
Information which applies solely to the Formycon 
AG parent entity is specifically marked as such. 

 

 

 

 

Business activities 

Formycon is a globally operating, independent bio-

similars specialist with a comprehensive product 

pipeline and a scalable platform for biosimilar drug 

development for indications across various areas, 

including ophthalmology, immunology and im-

munoncology. Formycon is able to cover all tech-

nical stages of the biopharmaceutical development 

chain starting with the selection of highly promising 

biosimilar candidates, through cell line develop-

ment, comparative analysis and process develop-

ment, into preclinical studies and clinical trials, and 

all the way through to the preparation of regulatory 

approval application documents and management 

of the approval process. Formycon’s core expertise 

also includes beginning-to-end design and coordi-

nated oversight of its supply chain and product lo-

gistics. For the commercialization of its biosimilar 

products, Formycon relies upon strong, trustworthy 

and long-term partnerships around the world. 

With FYB201 (ranibizumab), Formycon already has 

an approved biosimilar product on the market in 

the United States and Canada, Europe, the Middle 

East and North Africa (MENA), and other geograph-

ical regions. Two further biosimilars, FYB202 

(ustekinumab) and FYB203 (aflibercept) have re-

ceived regulatory approval in the U.S., the Euro-

pean Union and the UK. An additional four biosimi-

lar candidates are currently in the Group’s develop-

ment pipeline, of which one (FYB206, pembroli-

zumab) advanced into clinical trials during 2024, 

while three other as yet unannounced candidates 

are in the preclinical development stage. 

Formycon’s long-term and sustainable growth strat-

egy is built upon steady expansion of its product 

portfolio through the targeted selection of new bio-

similar candidates, the development of these pro-

jects, and their ultimate commercial success 

through commercialization partnerships, either 

partly or in their entirety. 
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What are biosimilars? 

Since the 1980s, biopharmaceuticals have been 

revolutionizing the treatment of serious diseases 

such as cancer, diabetes, rheumatism, multiple 

sclerosis and acquired blindness. Starting from the 

mid 2010s, patents on many of these powerful bio-

pharmaceuticals began expiring, and over the next 

nine years, many more of these biotech drugs will 

lose patent protection, including more than 40 

blockbuster drugs21 with total combined annual 

sales estimated at more than USD 200 billion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
21  Blockbuster is defined here as a drug with annual sales of more than USD 1 bil-

lion in the peak year. Analysis based on timing of U.S. patent expiry. Source: 
EvaluatePharma database, April 2022; press reports; McKinsey analysis 

 

Biosimilars are follow-on products to biopharma-

ceutical drugs whose market exclusivity has ex-

pired. Their comparable quality, efficacy and safety 

is proved through studies, and they are subject to 

stringent regulatory approval processes in highly 

regulated markets such as the European Union, the 

United Kingdom, the United States, Japan, Canada 

and Australia based upon the biosimilar’s proven 

comparability to the reference product.  

 

  

The biosimilar  
value chain 
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Product pipeline 

The development of new biosimilar drugs is the 

foundation for the Group’s sustainable long-term 

growth. Within the area of biosimilars development, 

Formycon has the following projects in various 

stages of development: 

 

  

 
22  Fig. Fehler! Nur Hauptdokument: EvaluatePharma database, April 2022; 

press reports; McKinsey analysis 
 

Biosimilar potential - 

by 2032, more than 40 blockbusters will  

lose their market exclusivity (in USD bn)22 
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Formycon 
Biosimilar-Product-Pipeline 
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Even in the starting phase, the probability of a bi-
osimilar being successfully approved is almost 
70%  

In terms of the risks and challenges involved, the 

biosimilar drug development approach differs fun-

damentally from the development of an innovative 

originator biopharmaceutical. While biosimilar drug 

development takes a confirmatory approach, 

whereby the biosimilar candidate is designed from 

the start to be demonstrably comparable to the ref-

erence drug and is accordingly managed over the 

entire development period of typically seven to ten 

years, the research and development process for 

an entirely new biological entails an exploratory ap-

proach and thus a significantly higher level of de-

velopment risk along with significantly longer de-

velopment times and vastly higher development 

costs.  

With a comparable level of expertise and experi-

ence in the development of a biosimilar drug, the 

probability of success, i.e. that a biosimilar will be 

approved, is high from the start of the development 

process, as illustrated above. 23 In the case of the 

development of an innovative drug, the success 

rate is dramatically different, with only one  

 
23  The path towards a tailored clinical biosimilar development, Schiestl et. al 2020 

 

in twenty projects in preclinical development, on 

average, reaching final approval.24                                                                                             

Business objective and strategy 

Formycon’s longterm guiding aim is to become one 

of the leading independent specialists and partner 

of choice in the rapidly growing biosimilars market. 

The Group strives to help democratize patient ac-

cess to highly effective drugs, while at the same 

time relieving the financial burden on the world’s 

healthcare systems, by acting as a driving force in 

the development of biosimilars. 

Group structure 

Formycon Group consists of the parent entity, 

Formycon AG, along with its 100%-owned subsidiar-

ies Formycon Project 201 GmbH, FYB202 Project 

GmbH, Formycon Project 203 GmbH and Clinical 

Research GmbH (formerly Bioeq GmbH), as illus-

trated in the accompanying figure. In addition, 

Formycon holds a 50% share of Bioeq AG, a joint 

venture between Formycon and Polpharma Biolog-

ics BV. 

 

24  Development of medicines | Novartis 

Biosimilar development 

Probability of success 
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The corporate structure of Formycon Group reflects 

the establishment to date of dedicated legal enti-

ties for certain individual biosimilar projects, partic-

ularly in advanced stages of development. 

Formycon AG performs research and development 

activities not only for its own projects but also on 

behalf of its affiliated companies (subsidiaries) and 

development partners.   

The Formycon AG parent entity is a German stock 

corporation which is listed on the Frankfurt Stock 

Exchange and trades in the Exchange’s “Prime 

Standard” segment (ISIN DE000A1EWVY8), which 

has the highest transparency requirements of all 

segments. Formycon AG serves, both legally and 

operationally, as the holding company for 

Formycon Group. As the Group’s parent entity, 

Formycon AG determines corporate strategy and 

group-level strategic management as well as com-

munications with Formycon’s key target audiences. 

 

 

 

 

In its current phase of corporate and organizational 

growth, the focus of Formycon Group is on re-

search and development activities for both its own 

and out-licensed biosimilar projects. To the extent 

that it engages in other business activities, these 

are primarily in support of these research and de-

velopment efforts and of existing partnership ar-

rangements as well as for the design and coordina-

tion of the supply and production chains necessary 

to bring advanced-stage biosimilar candidates to 

market. 

  

Group structure 
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Executive Board members and allocation of resposibilities 
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Management and oversight 

The Formycon AG parent entity is, as required un-

der the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktieng-

esetz) for all German stock corporations, governed 

by a dual board system consisting of an Executive 

Board (Vorstand) and a separate Supervisory Board 

(Aufsichtsrat). The Executive Board currently con-

sists of five members who are appointed and moni-

tored by the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board of Formycon AG consists of 

five members. Further information about the Execu-

tive Board and Supervisory Board, including the as-

signment of particular responsibilities, may be 

found in the Declaration of Corporate Governance 

beginning on page 116.  

Remuneration of Executive Board and Supervi-
sory Board 

The remuneration of Executive Board members in-

cludes both fixed and variable components. The 

main features of the remuneration system for Exec-

utive Board and Supervisory Board members may 

be found in the separate Remuneration Report on 

Formycon’s website under 

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relati-
ons/governance/.25 

Remuneration of senior management 

The performance of Formycon Group’s broader 

senior management team, including non-Executive 

Board members, is measured against agreed tar-

gets. These specific targets at both the Group-wide 

and operational levels are regularly reviewed. 

Declaration of Corporate Governance 

The Declaration of Corporate Governance pursuant 

to sec. 289 and sec. 315d of the German Commer-

cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) may be found 

beginning on page 116. This report describes the 

working procedures of the Executive Board and Su-

pervisory Board, the Declaration of Conformity pur-

suant to sec. 161 of the Stock Corporation Act, infor-

mation on key corporate governance practices, and 

further information on corporate governance. 

 
25  Unaudited information 

The Declaration of Conformity may also be found 

on Formycon’s website under 

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relati-
ons/governance/.26 

Important processes, partners and sales markets 

The development of biosimilar drugs for the world’s 

most stringently regulated markets demands exact-

ing standards for their safety, quality and efficacy. 

Within the EU, the requirements for quality assur-

ance of the production processes and production 

environment for the manufacture of medicinal prod-

ucts and active ingredients are established through 

a European Commission directive laying down the 

principles and guidelines of Good Manufacturing 

Practice (GMP) for all medicinal products for human 

use. Formycon’s laboratories are subject to these 

various guidelines and are periodically examined 

and audited by regulatory authorities, including the 

U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the 

regional government of Upper Bavaria. 

Contract development and manufacturing organiza-

tions (CDMO) or “contract manufacturers” are im-

portant partners within the value chain for biosimi-

lars development and play a critical role for 

Formycon, including in the production of active in-

gredients. It should be emphasized here that 

Formycon is able to manage the product specific 

supply chain for the commercial market supply of a 

product, thereby providing the finished product to 

the commercialization partner. 

The entry of Hungarian specialty pharmaceutical 

company Gedeon Richter Plc. as a strategic inves-

tor in Formycon, with Gedeon Richter’s capabilities 

and scope as a multinational player with core com-

petencies in product manufacturing, has opened 

new opportunities to jointly exploit long-term strate-

gic opportunities in the future in the areas of devel-

opment, manufacturing and commercial value 

streams. 

For the global marketing of biosimilar products, 

Formycon relies upon commercialization partner-

ships with internationally renowned pharmaceutical 

players such as Fresenius Kabi AG, Teva 

26 Unaudited information 



Combined Management Report — Formycon AG  Annual Report 2024 75   

 

 

Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd., Sandoz AG,27 and 

MS Pharma. 

The target market for Formycon’s biosimilar prod-

ucts is the global pharmaceutical market, specifi-

cally in United States, Europe (including also the 

UK), Japan, Canada, Australia, the Middle East and 

North Africa (MENA) region, and Latin America. 

While originator biopharmaceuticals are already 

available for the effective treatment of many seri-

ous diseases, these powerful drugs are also very 

expensive due to the complexity of their develop-

ment and manufacture, and they can often be pro-

hibitively expensive as a first-line therapy for all pa-

tients, even in highly developed countries. How-

ever, once the legal protection period for an origi-

nator biopharmaceutical expires, thereby ending its 

exclusivity, biosimilar drugs may be brought to mar-

ket. The reduced costs of effective treatment 

through new competition from biosimilars not only 

helps to relieve the burden on the world’s health 

providers such as statutory health insurers: They 

also make it possible to bring these powerful treat-

ments to more patients and at an earlier stage of 

treatment progression, thereby also potentially 

opening entire new markets.  

Competitive situation 

Internationally published studies predict annual 

growth rates (CAGR) for the global market for bio-

similars over the next decade (2025 through 2034), 

on average, of 16.5%.28 Despite substantial barriers 

to market entry due to high development costs (ap-

prox. USD 150 to 300 million per biosimilar devel-

opment project), long development cycles (seven 

to ten years), and the specialized expertise re-

quired to develop a biosimilar, there are a number 

of international competitors in this attractive market 

segment. In addition to major pharmaceutical cor-

porations such as Amgen, Biocon, Biogen, Frese-

nius Kabi, Pfizer, Samsung Bioepis, Sandoz and 

Teva but also smaller companies specializing in bio-

similars such as Alvotech, Celltrion and XBrane. 

 
27  In early 2024, the commercialization rights to FYB201 were transferred from 

Coherus BioSciences, Inc. to Sandoz AG. 

(These are just examples and are listed in alphabet-

ical order.) 

Because of Formycon’s positioning as an inde-

pendent developer, situations may arise in which 

such a company, particularly a major pharmaceuti-

cal name, is a competitor for one or more products 

at the same time that it is a commercialization part-

ner for one or more biosimilar development pro-

jects. For each of its biosimilar development pro-

jects, Formycon seeks out the most suitable com-

mercialization partner, not only for the area of indi-

cation but also for the relevant region, and to distin-

guish itself competitors through its innovative de-

velopment concepts, the reliability of the scientific 

processes which it uses, rigorous selection of relia-

ble partners, and the highest standards of quality 

and scientific expertise in the selection of its ser-

vice providers and consultants. Further discussion 

of competitive risks can be found within the “Report 

on risks and opportunities” (page 94). 

Corporate strategy and management 

Formycon’s strategic goal is to sustainably expand 

the scope of its business activities with the aim of 

becoming one of the leading independent develop-

ment specialists and partner of choice in the rapidly 

growing biosimilars market. In order to achieve this 

goal, Formycon will continue to invest heavily into 

the advancement and expansion of its project pipe-

line so that it is able to bring new biosimilars to 

market at regular intervals. In parallel with this stra-

tegic thrust, Formycon is pursuing an organizational 

growth strategy so that it has the resources to grow 

sustainably and profitably as a biosimilars special-

ist. In order to achieve this strategic vision, the Ex-

ecutive Board is open to considering medium- to 

long-term cooperation arrangements and integra-

tion in selected areas of the manufacturing process 

as well as to building its own commercialization ca-

pabilities in certain geographies. In pursuing this vi-

sion, Formycon’s strategic focus is on long-term 

profitability and sustainable cash flows. 

Formycon may, as necessary, adapt its strategy and 

operational approach to particular market 

28  Three imperatives for R&D in biosimilars | McKinsey 
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conditions. During 2024, there was no need for sig-

nificant change in Formycon’s strategic orientation 

compared to the prior-year period. 

The drivers of Formycon’s success are its agility 
and its drug development expertise 

Formycon stands out from competitors, particularly 

large pharmaceutical companies with biosimilar 

ambitions, above all in the high level of agility and 

flexibility in its operational activities while at the 

same time maintaining the highest quality stand-

ards. In biopharmaceutical development, it is im-

portant to align structures, processes and behav-

iors along the value chain in such a way as to foster 

an integrated platform which is able to learn and 

thus constantly improve, and which is intensely fo-

cused on the excellent execution of the many activ-

ities needed for successful drug development. This 

kind of operational excellence strives for the holis-

tic improvement of all direct and indirect functions 

throughout the value creation process, thereby en-

abling ever higher levels of organizational perfor-

mance and sustained improvements in operational 

and financial metrics. With its operating efficiency, 

lean management and organizational structures, 

and staff of 250 committed employees, Formycon 

currently has the capacity and resources to de-

velop multiple biopharmaceutical projects in paral-

lel.  

Financial performance indicators 

In managing Formycon Group, the Executive Board 

relies to a significant extent upon the following set 

of financial performance indicators: revenue, 

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and working capital. Ad-

justed EBITDA additionally includes Formycon’s 

participation in earnings from FYB201, which due to 

the current contractual structure is accounted for at 

equity, thereby providing a broader and more com-

plete measure of Formycon’s Group operating per-

formance. This change is intended to improve 

measurability and transparency, for the Group’s 

management as well as readers of this report. 
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At the present time, Formycon AG limits itself to an-

nouncing specific guidance forecasts with regard to 

the above key performance indicators for the cur-

rent fiscal year only. Formycon holds a portfolio of 

partnered biosimilar candidates which, even after 

successful transfer to licensed or cooperation part-

nerships, generate revenue for Formycon from de-

velopment work performed, advance payments, 

milestone payments and license payments. As the 

pipeline of development projects matures, 

Formycon expects the proportion of revenue from 

milestone payments and license payments from 

product sales to further increase.  

EBITDA – Earnings before Interest (meaning specif-

ically finance income/expenses), Tax, Depreciation 

and Amortization – is a common measure of oper-

ating profitability which excludes non-cash depreci-

ation of property, plant and equipment and amorti-

zation of intangible assets. Because EBITDA ex-

cludes certain expense items that are not directly 

related to current business operations, the Execu-

tive Board believes that the indicator is suitable for 

measuring the Group’s operating performance.  

As already noted, Adjusted EBITDA additionally in-

cludes Formycon’s participation in earnings from Bi-

oeq AG, which is under joint control. Bioeq AG’s 

earnings, in turn, result solely from its operating 

profit generated by our FYB201 product. Because 

this holding is under joint control and therefore 

necessarily accounted for at equity, earnings from 

this Formycon product are not included in operat-

ing income and therefore also excluded from 

EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA, in contrast, includes 

these earnings from FYB201. 

Through close attention to the Group’s working 

capital, the Executive Board is able to monitor li-

quidity needs and changes and to ensure that 

Formycon’s financial soundness is maintained into 

the future. Working capital measures the extent to 

which current assets (trade and other receivables, 

contract assets, and cash and cash equivalents) ex-

ceed current liabilities excluding shareholder loans 

and the current portion of conditional purchase 

price payment obligations. All else being equal, a 

higher level of working capital means a lower risk 

of liquidity shortfalls. Formycon’s goal is to maintain 

positive working capital on a consistent, long-term 

basis. 

These financial performance indicators are planned 

and continuously monitored on a Group-wide basis. 

Formycon measures deviations between planned 

and actual financial performance monthly, not only 

for Formycon Group as a whole but also for the 

Formycon AG parent entity. These key indicators 

are analyzed monthly as well as quarterly. The Ex-

ecutive Board also regularly reviews the detailed 

business plan against these actual monthly and 

quarterly figures. Moreover, the development plan 

for each of Formycon’s product candidates is inten-

sively examined and reviewed in considerable de-

tail three times per year, including any impact on 

the financial plan. In managing the Group, the key 

financial performance indicators described above 

are supplemented by various non-financial man-

agement indicators (see “Other non-financial as-

pects” below). 
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Report on business  
performance

General economic conditions 

In the course of 2024, the global economy proved 

to be remarkably stable and resilient, despite 

armed conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, 

widespread inflation, and high interest rates. Eco-

nomic policy uncertainties, however, have in-

creased sharply, particularly in the areas of trade 

and taxation, due first and foremost to likely policy 

changes under governments newly elected in 

2024.29 Nonetheless, global economic growth has 

remained quite stable, with global inflation slowly 

returning to normal levels and expected to further 

diminish to 4.2% in 2025.30 The International Mone-

tary Fund (IMF) forecasts global economic growth 

of 3.2% for 2024 and 3.3% for 2025.31 Germany is 

expected to lag significantly behind global growth, 

with negative growth of -0.2% anticipated for 2024 

and sluggish growth of 0.3% for 2025.32 

As the year drew to a close, the weakness in the 

German economy persisted.33 According to prelimi-

nary estimates by the German Federal Statistical 

Office (Destatis), price-adjusted full-year GDP fell by 

0.2% compared to the prior year. While public 

spending and to a lesser extent private consump-

tion made positive contributions to annual growth, 

this was overshadowed by a significant decline in 

fixed capital investment and largely stagnating im-

ports, with exports likewise falling.34 

Following a temporary uptick, German economic 

sentiment and consumer sentiment once again 

 
29  https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2025/01/17/world-eco-

nomic-outlook-update-january-2025 

30  https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2025/01/17/world-eco-
nomic-outlook-update-january-2025 

31  https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2025/01/17/world-eco-
nomic-outlook-update-january-2025  

32  https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2025/01/17/world-eco-
nomic-outlook-update-january-2025  

33  https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/Wirtschaftliche-
Lage/2025/20250115-die-wirtschaftliche-lage-in-deutschland-im-januar-
2025.html 

deteriorated somewhat toward the end of the year 

due to increased geopolitical and domestic political 

uncertainties.35 Current sentiment indicators such 

as the ifo Business Climate Index have not yet 

shown any recovery against the backdrop of the 

ongoing weak order situation and the threat of U.S. 

protectionism. Recently, the HDE Consumer Barom-

eter has likewise again deteriorated significantly. 

On the other hand, the GfK Consumer Climate In-

dex, is showing a slight recovery in consumer senti-

ment resulting from continued gains in real pur-

chasing power. The inflation rate increased signifi-

cantly toward the end of the year and was approx. 

+2.6% in December.36 

Despite ongoing economic stagnation, Germany’s 

labor market remained stable at the end of the 

year, but the outlook remains clouded. Although 

the number of employed persons rose in Novem-

ber, registered unemployment and the number of 

employees temporarily working reduced hours un-

der special government subsidies to avoid outright 

layoffs (Kurzarbeit) continued to rise in December. 

Leading indicators for the German economy point 

to a further decline in demand for labor, and thus a 

reversal in early 2025 of this recent weakness in 

the labor market is not expected.37 

The high levels of uncertainty regarding the eco-

nomic outlook, both within Germany and interna-

tionally, are currently dampening demand, produc-

tion, investment and private consumption.                

34  https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/Wirtschaftliche-
Lage/2025/20250115-die-wirtschaftliche-lage-in-deutschland-im-januar-
2025.html  

35  https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Dossier/konjunktur-und-
wachstum.html  

36  https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/Wirtschaftliche-
Lage/2025/20250115-die-wirtschaftliche-lage-in-deutschland-im-januar-
2025.html 

37  https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/Wirtschaftliche-
Lage/2025/20250115-die-wirtschaftliche-lage-in-deutschland-im-januar-
2025.html 
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A noticeable economic recovery in Germany is un-

likely to begin until there is clarity in the outlooks 

for the economic, financial and geopolitical environ-

ments.38 

In recent past years, crises and war-related special 

effects created supply bottlenecks and led to sig-

nificant price increases for energy and in upstream 

production stages. While Formycon’s business op-

erations have not been directly affected by the 

weak economic situation, they may nevertheless be 

affected by reduced availability of materials as well 

as interest rate increases and higher prices for 

products and services. 

Developments in the global biosimilars market 

The global biosimilars market has been growing for 

a number of years and is, under various expert 

forecasts, expected to continue this dynamic 

growth. According to IQVIA, a provider of advanced 

analytics, technology solutions, and clinical re-

search services to the life sciences industry, the 

global biosimilars market should grow from USD 18 

billion in 2020 to USD 74 billion by 2030.39 Biosimi-

lars are the fastest-growing sub-segment within the 

pharmaceuticals sector. By the year 2032, a total of 

well over 100 biological drugs, of which more than 

40 are blockbusters with combined global sales of 

over USD 200 billion, will lose their exclusivity.40 

Biosimilars are clearly on the rise worldwide, but it 

should also be noted that there are regional differ-

ences in market penetration. From 2015 to 2021, 

the U.S. market experienced the fastest growth in 

biosimilars with a compound annual growth rate 

(CAGR) of 97 %, compared to 48 % in Europe and 

39 % in the rest of the world. The lower growth rate 

in Europe compared to the U.S: can be largely ex-

plained by the European biosimilars market was al-

ready at a further stage of development in 2015. 

Although forecasts point to a reduced growth rate 

 
38  https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/Wirtschaftliche-

Lage/2025/20250115-die-wirtschaftliche-lage-in-deutschland-im-januar-
2025.html 

39        Three imperatives for R&D in biosimilars | McKinsey 
40  EvaluatePharma- Datenbank, April 2022; Presseberichte; McKinsey-Analyse 

41  Three imperatives for R&D in biosimilars | McKinsey 

42  iqvia-institute-biosimilars-in-the-united-states-2023-usl-orb3393.pdf 
 

through 2025, the United States is expected to 

continue to lead the market with a CAGR of 26 %.41 

Experts expect the overall U.S. market for biosimi-

lars – which is of major importance to Formycon 

and in which the company has already been build-

ing share since the launch of its Lucentis® biosimilar 

in 2022 – to generate sales of up to USD 49 billion 

by 2027, compared to USD 10 billion in 2022.42  

The European market for biosimilars has changed 

significantly since 2008. In 2024, sales of biosimi-

lars in Europe reached approx. € 13 billion.43 The 

growth of the biosimilar market has slowed and is 

now growing at a rate (CAGR) of 8.7%, roughly in 

line with the overall pharmaceutical market.44 Since 

the first approval of a biosimilar in 2006, a total of 

98 biosimilars have been approved in the Euro-

pean Union.45 

Global competition in the biosimilars market contin-

ues to intensify. Asian manufacturers, particularly 

from China and India, are continuously expanding 

their know-how in biotechnology-based production 

as well as biopharmaceutical development. Never-

theless, Europe continues to hold a dominant role 

as a production location due to its high level of ex-

pertise in the manufacture of innovative and techni-

cally complex biopharmaceuticals. In addition to 

Germany, the UK and France are, in particular, 

among the most rapidly expanding national mar-

kets. For 2021 to 2031, IQVIA expects the UK mar-

ket alone to grow by 213% and the French market 

by 260%.46  

Within Europe, a further 69 biologicals are ex-

pected to lose their market exclusivity by the end of 

2030, roughly double compared to the previous 

seven years. The combined sales of these products 

– based on annual sales before loss of exclusivity 

(LoE) – is estimated at some € 28 billion between 

2024 and 2030. This represents threefold growth 

43            https://www.giiresearch.com/report/imarc1642527-europe-biosimilar-mar-
ket-    
         report-by-molecule.html 

44  https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/library/white-papers/the-impact-
of-biosimilar-competition-in-europe-2024.pdf 

45  https://media.gelbe-liste.de/documents/biosimilars-%C3%BCbersicht-dezem-
ber-2024.pdf 

46  https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/germany/publications/artikel-in-
der-fachpresse/2023/know-how_iqvia_mahp_01-2023.pdf 

https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/life-sciences/our-insights/three-imperatives-for-r-and-d-in-biosimilars
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/life-sciences/our-insights/three-imperatives-for-r-and-d-in-biosimilars
https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/library/white-papers/the-impact-of-biosimilar-competition-in-europe-2024.pdf
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compared to the combined sales of those biologi-

cals that lost their exclusivity over the previous 

seven years. Over the next 10 years, the largest 

numbers of LoE opportunities for biosimilars are ex-

pected to be in the areas of oncology (24%), immu-

nology (11%) and blood disorders (10%).47 

Summary statement of Executive Board on busi-
ness performance and economic environment 

We look back upon a fiscal year 2024 in which 

Formycon delivered strong performance, achieving 

or even exceeding its key strategic and operational 

objectives. We have, until now, been very pleased 

with the performance of our first commercial bio-

similar product, FYB201. It captured a leading posi-

tion in the U.S. market for ranibizumab biosimilars 

during 2024 while simultaneously making good 

progress in key European markets, such as the UK. 

Furthermore, expansion into new markets such as 

Canada and the Middle East North Africa (MENA) 

region was initiated during fiscal year 2024. As of 

the close of 2024, FYB201 is available in a total of 

20 countries and will be launched in additional ter-

ritories over the coming years. With the planned 

launch of our prefilled syringe product version in 

2025, we expect to further increase market pene-

tration in various regions, particularly Europe. 

Following the strategic realignment of our distribu-

tion partner Coherus BioSciences, Inc., the U.S. 

commercialization rights for FYB201/Cimerli®, in-

cluding the ophthalmic sales team, were trans-

ferred to Sandoz AG with effect from March 1, 2024. 

In February 2025, Sandoz AG informed us that it in-

tends to commercially reposition FYB201/Cimerli® 

in the current year, which will entail a temporarily 

pause in its U.S. commercialization. For this reason, 

we expect a significant decline in the product’s U.S. 

sales and financial performance during fiscal year 

2025, for which reason it was found necessary to 

re-assess the valuation model for FYB201 and to 

make accounting adjustments accordingly.  

In 2024, Formycon Group generated consolidated 

revenue of € 69,674K, a decrease of 10.32% com-

pared to the prior fiscal year (2023: € 77,696K), 

 
47  https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/library/white-papers/the-impact-

of-biosimilar-competition-in-europe-2024.pdf 

primarily due to the decline in the revenue recogni-

tion of FYB202 success payments compared to the 

revenue already accrued in fiscal year 2023. In ad-

dition, reimbursement revenue received from billa-

ble development services for FYB201 and FYB203 

declined due to the successful advance of these 

projects to their final stages of development.  

We were particularly focused during 2024 on the 

upcoming market launch of FYB202, our usteki-

numab biosimilar, by our partner Fresenius Kabi, 

which was able to take place by end of February 

2025 instead of mid-April 2025 as originally antici-

pated. Logistical preparations for the early launch 

date were successfully accomplished. In the course 

of commercial negotiations by the Fresenius Kabi 

U.S. team with the relevant U.S. contractual part-

ners in preparation for market launch, a significantly 

higher than expected price discount for biosimilars 

in the U.S. became apparent, as well as a slower 

expected market penetration rate. Thus the valua-

tion model and accounting treatment for FYB202 

were, in agreement with Fresenius Kabi, reviewed 

and adjusted accordingly.  

Full-year consolidated EBITDA of negative 

€ 13,736K was, in addition to revenue and directly 

associated costs, largely attributable to research 

and development expenses arising from steadily 

continuing work on early-stage pipeline projects as 

well as increased administrative costs, in particular 

from Formycon’s organizational and business 

growth as well as from preparation and implemen-

tation of Formycon’s uplisting on the Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange.  

We can be satisfied with the final outcome of Ad-

justed EBITDA for the year, which reflects our share 

of the income now being generated by our FYB201 

ranibizumab biosimilar. This income is not included 

in unadjusted EBITDA because Formycon’s 50% in-

vestment participation in Bioeq AG is valued at eq-

uity. That being said, the initial impact of adverse 

market developments in the United States were al-

ready felt in the final quarter, leading to a fourth-

quarter at-equity share of earnings below 



Combined Management Report — Formycon AG  Annual Report 2024 81 

 

 

expectations. Nevertheless, the full-year Adjusted 

EBITDA of negative € 1,649K underscores the sig-

nificant contribution of FYB201 to Formycon 

Group’s financial and business success. Further de-

tails may be found in the segment reporting section 

of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-

ments (p. 161).  

Formycon Group’s liquidity position remained sta-

ble at € 41,834K as of December 31, 2024. Liquidity 

was significantly strengthened by the February cap-

ital increase, which generated gross issuance pro-

ceeds of approx. € 82.8 million. The milestone pay-

ment received for the earlier approval in Europe of 

FYB202 (ustekinumab), which had already been 

recognized as a deferred asset but not yet realized 

in cash flow, likewise contributed to the stable li-

quidity position.  

Further key milestones were attained with the ap-

proval of our FYB203 aflibercept biosimilar by the 

U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the 

positive recommendation from the European Medi-

cines Agency's (EMA) Committee for Medicinal 

Products for Human Use (CHMP). While no agree-

ment has yet been reached with the manufacturer 

of the reference drug, Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, 

Inc., regarding a potential market launch date, we 

hope to come to an arrangement. During 2024, a 

commercialization partnership was concluded with 

MS Pharma for the Middle East and North Africa 

(MENA) region. Since the close of the fiscal year, 

further commercialization partnerships have been 

agreed with Teva Pharmaceuticals International 

GmbH covering large parts of Europe as well as 

with Lotus Pharmaceutical for the Asia-Pacific re-

gion. 

The FYB206 project entered the clinical phase in 

June of 2024 with the successful recruitment of the 

first patient into phase I trials to compare the phar-

macokinetics (PK), safety and tolerability of FYB206 

with the reference drug Keytruda® (pembrolizumab) 

in patients with malignant melanoma, a particularly 

aggressive form of skin cancer, putting Formycon 

among the leading developers of Keytruda® 

 
48  www.mckinsey.com/industries/life-sciences/our-insights/three-imperatives-

for-r-and-d-in-biosimilars 

biosimilars for Western markets. A parallel phase III 

study to compare the safety and efficacy of 

FYB206 to Keytruda® in patients with non-small cell 

lung cancer was also initiated. A clinical testing 

strategy newly developed by Formycon was dis-

cussed with the FDA in the context of a Scientific 

Advice meeting. Based on Formycon’s scientific ar-

guments and the resulting feedback from the U.S. 

regulator, the development of FYB206 can now 

proceed without the need for a phase III clinical 

study. Formycon has thus taken a pioneering role 

among pembrolizumab biosimilar developers and 

will, moreover, be able to achieve significant sav-

ings in the required investment over the coming 

years.  

The global market for biosimilars continued its 

growth dynamic, with signs for the future pointing 

towards continued expansion. The global biosimilar 

market is expected to grow to more than USD 70 

billion by 2030,48 supporting our confident opti-

mism for the coming years.  

With the entry of Hungarian specialty pharmaceuti-

cal company Gedeon Richter as a strategic investor 

through its participation in the capital increase 

transaction in the early part of the year, Formycon 

was able to raise cash proceeds of € 82.84 million 

against the issuance of new shares amounting to 

9.08% of total capital. The two companies share not 

only a strong conviction in the enormous potential 

of biosimilars but also areas of strategic overlap. 

The investment transaction specifically opens up 

future, long-term strategic opportunities to jointly 

exploit synergies in the areas of drug development, 

manufacturing and commercial value creation.  
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The proceeds from the capital increase will primar-

ily be used to push forward with development ef-

forts in Formycon’s existing biosimilar pipeline, in 

particular the FYB206, FYB208 and FYB209 pro-

jects. In addition, Formycon has been able to add a 

new project to its development pipeline: FYB210, a 

new biosimilar candidate within the field of immu-

nology.  

Finally, Formycon’s uplisting to the Frankfurt Stock 

Exchange’s Prime Standard segment near the end 

of 2024 had a positive impact. Through this move, 

we aim to increase the visibility and attractiveness 

of Formycon shares on the capital markets. Immedi-

ately after the uplisting, Formycon shares were ac-

cepted by Deutsche Börse for inclusion in the 

SDAX market index, recognizing Formycon as one 

of the 70 largest listed companies in Germany by 

market capitalization following the 50 companies in 

the MDAX index. Since the close of the fiscal year, 

Formycon shares have been also included in the 

TecDAX market index.  



Combined Management Report — Formycon AG  Annual Report 2024 83 

 

 



Combined Management Report — Formycon AG  Annual Report 2024 84 

 

 

Financial condition and 
financial performance 

During fiscal year 2024, Formycon Group gener-

ated consolidated revenue of € 69,674K compared 

to € 77,696K in the prior fiscal year. The change 

was largely due to the fact that customer contract 

assets for expected future revenue from success-

based payments under the partnership with Frese-

nius Kabi which were received in cash during 2024 

had already been previously accrued and recog-

nized in fiscal year 2023, whereby this revenue ac-

cordingly declined from € 37,672K to € 23,128K. At 

the same time, the current fiscal year includes non-

recurring proceeds in the amount of € 9,479K from 

the sale of excess inventory remaining from devel-

opment activities. Additionally, revenue from the 

development partnerships for FYB201 and FYB203 

decreased due to the diminishing level of activity 

required for these projects.  

Consolidated EBITDA for the fiscal year was nega-

tive € 13,736K, compared to € 1,517K in the prior 

year. The change was due mainly to the decline in 

revenue without a corresponding decline in cost of 

sales along with increased research and develop-

ment expenses. There was also an increase in gen-

eral and administrative expenses, mainly as the re-

sult of the increases in staffing during the current 

and prior fiscal years, as well as increased consult-

ing expenses for strategic and finance-related pro-

jects. Adjusted EBITDA additionally includes the 

contribution from Formycon’s investment participa-

tion from Bioeq AG in the amount of € 12,087K 

(2023: € 11,811K), resulting in full-year Adjusted 

EBITDA of negative € 1,649K (2023: € 13,329K). 

The consolidated full-year net loss was € 125,672K 

(2023: net profit of € 75,796K), which significantly 

includes the impairments of Formycon’s investment 

participation in Bioeq AG as well as the carrying 

value of the intangible assets for FYB202. These 

impairments were partly offset by the reduction in 

the Fair Value of the related conditional purchase 

price obligations. Specifically, the fair value of both 

of these projects was reassessed during the fiscal 

year based upon budget planning for 2024 and 

subsequent years as well as prevailing market 

rates. As a result of the reassessment of FYB201, 

the fair value of Formycon’s shareholding in Bioeq 

AG was reduced by € 27,261K, which likewise im-

pacted earnings, while at the same time the fair 

value of the conditional purchase price obligations 

to Athos decreased by € 5,062K. As to FYB202, 

the reassessment of the acquisition-related good-

will in the amount of € 44,534K resulted in an im-

pairment in the full amount, while the associated in-

tangible asset was impaired by € 84,719K. This, in 

turn, reduced the related deferred tax liability by 

€ 22,603K and reduced the conditional purchase 

price obligation by € 16,026K. 

During 2024, Formycon Group continued to vigor-

ously drive forward with the development of its bio-

similar projects in accordance with its business 

model. As a result of the out-licensing of FYB201 at 

the end of 2013 and FYB203 in 2015, Formycon 

generated significant revenue, as in previous years, 

through ongoing contractual payments received for 

development services that Formycon has been 

providing on behalf of the licensees. For both of 

these projects, Formycon passes on costs incurred 

for development work and clinical studies to the re-

spective licensees. In addition, a commercialization 

agreement was concluded on February 1, 2023 

with Fresenius Kabi covering the FYB202 product, 

which was an unfinished development project at 

the time of this deal. The agreement encompasses 

transfer of the product license, certain success-re-

lated payments until regulatory approval by the 

FDA and EMA, and finally license payments from 

subsequent product sales. As a result of this agree-

ment, € 23,128K of additional revenue was rec-

orded during the fiscal year, while € 35,000K was 

received in cash. Starting from the date of this 

agreement, development costs have no longer 
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been capitalized as intangible assets but rather rec-

orded as cost of sales, resulting in a significant in-

crease in cost of sales during the fiscal year. 

The commencement during 2023 of development 

work on Formycon’s two new biosimilar candidates 

FYB208 and FYB209 led to an increase in research 

and development expenses. At the same time, the 

expenditures for the FYB206 development project 

have been capitalized starting from demonstration 

of technical proof of similarity (TPoS) and thus were 

not included in research and development ex-

penses during the fiscal year. Moreover, costs for 

the FYB207 project were significantly less than in 

the preceding year. Through the combination of 

these effects, research and development expenses 

were, in total, significantly lower than in the prior 

fiscal year. 

The Group ended the fiscal year with an equity ra-

tio of 59.9% (Dec. 31, 2023: 56.5%). The Group’s 

non-current assets are largely covered by equity 

and non-current liabilities for conditional purchase 

price payment obligations, which is suggestive of a 

healthy balance sheet structure. More than one 

third of current assets are in the form of casg and 

cash equivalents and current financial assets.  

Current liabilities include the current portion of the 

conditional purchase price obligations in the 

amount of € 8,680K resulting from the 2022 busi-

ness combination. As in the past, key liquidity indi-

cators (cash and cash equivalents, working capital) 

remained adequate. Current assets of € 95.024K 

were offset by current liabilities (excluding current 

portion of conditional purchase price) of € 25,213K. 

The Group did not have any bank loans during the 

period. During the fiscal year, € 20,000K of the out-

standing amount under the shareholder loan was 

repaid along with deferred interest, leaving zero 

outstandings as of the reporting date out of the to-

tal available credit line of € 48,000K. To further 

strengthen the Group’s financial structure, 

1,603,877 newly issued shares were privately 

placed with an investor at a price of € 51.65 per 

share. 

As of Dec. 31, 2024, the Group held cash and cash 

equivalents in the amount of € 41,834K (Dec. 31, 

2023: € 27,035K) and working capital (including 

cash and cash equivalents) in the amount of 

€ 55,106K (Dec. 31, 2023: € 38.695K). The increase 

over the prior year is due in large part to the capital 

increase transaction.  

Consolidated cash outflows for operating activities 

increased from € 9,848K to € 23,221K, roughly cor-

responding to the change in EBITDA. Cash outflows 

for investing activities included repayments of the 

loan to Bioeq AG in the amount of € 27,300K, re-

sulting in a reduction in cash outflows from 

€ 17,380K to € 1,459K. In addition to proceeds re-

ceived from the capital increase in the amount of 

€ 83,086K, € 41,292 thousand of liabilities in the 

form of shareholder loans and contingent purchase 

price obligations were satisfied during the fiscal 

year, resulting in net cash inflows from financing ac-

tivities of € 39,478K (2023: € 44,443K).Reference is 

made to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of 

Cash Flows. 

Looking in turn at the Group’s defined operating 

segments, the performance of the FYB201 segment 

during the fiscal year was largely in line with 

Formycon’s expectations. Revenue within this seg-

ment consists primarily of license revenue deter-

mined on the basis of global product sales. During 

the fiscal year, the segment generated revenue of 

€ 7,104K, compared to € 4,159K in the prior year 

leading to total segment revenue of € 17,293 thou-

sand after € 14,885 thousand in Prior Year. In addi-

tion, the segment continues to generate revenue 

from the recharging of development costs, which is 

diminishing as planned. Investment income from Bi-

oeq AG, which is also allocated to this segment, de-

clined significantly, particularly in the fourth quarter. 

This decline was attributable, among other factors, 

to the strategic realignment of Formycon’s U.S. 

marketing partner. Nevertheless, the investment in-

come of € 12,087K, compared to € 11,811K in the 

prior year, was in line with expectations. However, 

the Company’s impairment testing identified an im-

pairment loss of € 27,261K, in particular because of 

the reduced outlook.  

The FYB202 segment likewise performed in line 

with expectations for the fiscal year. In addition to 

the recognized (i.e. not previously accrued) 
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revenue for success payments received from mar-

keting partner Fresenius Kabi, the fiscal year also 

included success payments from Formycon's mar-

keting partners for Germany and for the Middle 

East North Africa (MENA) region. In addition, reve-

nue from product sales was realized, specifically 

from the sale of inventory remaining from develop-

ment activities, resulting in total segment revenue 

of € 34,683K, compared to € 37,356K in the prior 

year. Upon the successful regulatory approval of 

FYB202 at the end of September, scheduled amor-

tization of the previously capitalized intangible as-

set was initiated and included within cost of sales. 

Due to the revised outlook for future sales, impair-

ment testing for the FYB202 cash-generating unit 

(CGU) was required as of December 31, 2024, re-

sulting in an impairment loss of € 106,650K net of 

tax. The CGU was thus carried at a value of 

€ 300,415K as of the reporting date.  

In the FYB203 segment, revenue of € 17,676K was 

realized during the fiscal year (2023: € 25,456K), 

primarily from the recharging of development costs 

incurred. In addition, revenue was also realized 

from the newly concluded agreement for the or-

ganization and management of the supply chain, in-

cluding product production. 

The remaining three segments FYB206, FYB208, 

and FYB 209 performed during the fiscal year in 

line with expectations. 
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Financial management

Principles and objectives 

The guiding principle and central objective of 

Formycon Group’s financial management is to en-

sure that sufficient liquidity is available in order for 

its development projects to be carried out accord-

ing to plan. 

 

Liquidity management 

Toward this end, expected cash flows from the 

Group’s individual projects are regularly analyzed 

and updated so that Formycon is at all times able to 

maintain an overview of expected future project 

spending needs. With its five-year planning horizon, 

the Group is well able to anticipate changing needs 

and to take measures as necessary, thereby proac-

tively managing its liquidity. Liquidity is centrally 

monitored at the Group’s headquarters in the Mu-

nich suburb of Martinsried/Planegg. 

 

Overview of financial position 

The Group's cash and cash equivalents (working 

capital as described above) together with the funds 

not drawn from the shareholder loans as at the re-

porting date guarantee the financing of the devel-

opment projects until at least Q2 2026.  

Limiting of financial risks 

Formycon Group is not currently exposed to any 

significant financial risks. Payment obligations in 

foreign currencies (USD, GBP, CHF and JPY) are 

not material to the Group. Interest rate risks are not 

significant. 

 

Investment analysis 

Significant investments in long-term assets cur-

rently consist primarily of capitalized development 

costs for the FYB206 project, which is also allo-

cated to the FYB206 segment. Significant invest-

ments in the completion of the development are 

also expected in subsequent years. Substantial and 

necessary items of property, plant and equipment, 

primarily laboratory equipment, are typically fi-

nanced through lease agreements. 
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Single Statements 
Formycon AG 

In addition to the above review of the consolidated 

financial performance of Formycon Group, this sec-

tion provides an overview of the financial perfor-

mance specifically of the Formycon AG parent en-

tity, the financial statements of which have been 

prepared for fiscal year 2024, as in prior years, in 

accordance with the German Commercial Code 

(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB). The complete financial 

statements with related documents are published 

separately. As Formycon Group’s parent company, 

Formycon AG determines the Group’s overall stra-

tegic management, financial management, and 

communications with the capital markets and with 

shareholders. Formycon AG is an active operating 

company engaged in the business of biosimilars 

development at one location, which is its headquar-

ters in the Munich suburb of Martinsried/Planegg. 

Formycon AG generates its revenue from the provi-

sion under so-called “FTE agreements”49 of re-

search and development services for biosimilar 

candidates initiated by Formycon and subsequently 

out-licensed or developed through partnerships, as 

well as from upfront and milestone payments and li-

cense payments from product sales. In the current 

phase of Formycon’s corporate development, its bi-

osimilar products are marketed solely via commer-

cialization partners. 

Profitability of Formycon AG in accordance with 
German statutory accounting (HGB) 

During the reporting period, the Formycon AG par-

ent entity generated unconsolidated revenue of 

€ 33,906K compared to € 37,917K in prior fiscal 

year, mainly generated from internal recharges for 

the approval applications for FYB202 and FYB203. 

Unconsolidated EBITDA was negative € 59,753K 

(prior year: negative € 30,031K), leading to an un-

consolidated annual net loss of € 129.019K (prior 

 
49  These agreements are commonly called as such because remuneration is based 

upon the full-time equivalent (FTE) method, a standardized measure of head-
count. 

year: annual net loss of € 166,143K). The decline in 

EBITDA was mainly due to increased expenses for 

the non-capitalized development projects FYB206 

through FYB209, which are borne in full by 

Formycon AG, as well as increased staff expenses 

resulting from the staffing increases in the current 

and prior fiscal years as well as higher consulting 

expenses for strategic and financing projects. Rev-

enues, operating expenses and EBITDA were in 

line with the Executive Board’s expectations. The 

annual net loss was mainly the result of updated 

planning for the FYB201 and FYB202 projects, 

which led to impairments of the investment partici-

pation in Bioeq AG in the amount of € 11,263K and 

of the shareholding in FYB202 Project GmbH in the 

amount of € 115,044K. On the other hand, the up-

dated estimates resulted in a decrease in provi-

sions for the related conditional purchase price ob-

ligations in the amount of € 48,487K. 

During 2024, Formycon AG continued to consist-

ently drive forward with the development of its bio-

similar projects according to its defined business 

model. As a result of the out-licensing deals for 

FYB201 signed in late 2013 and for FYB203 in 

2015, the company continued to post significant 

revenue during the period. Under the terms of 

these deals, the Formycon AG parent entity re-

ceived ongoing payments for its product develop-

ment services provided on behalf of the respective 

licensees. Under this arrangement, Formycon AG 

passes on the billable project development ex-

penses for FYB201 and FYB203 to its wholly-

owned subsidiaries Formycon Project 201 GmbH 

and Formycon Project 203 GmbH, which in turn in-

voice the respective licensee. 
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Through the creation of a joint venture with Aristo 

Pharma GmbH in 2017, Formycon had transferred 

the intellectual property rights for its FYB202 bio-

similar project to joint venture entities FYB 202 

GmbH & Co. KG and FYB 202 Project GmbH. For 

this project Starting from that point, Formycon AG 

continues began to pass on the costs of its project 

development services for the project to its now 

100% subsidiary FYB202 Project GmbH. With effect 

from May 1, 2022, Formycon AG acquired 100% of 

the shares in FYB202 Project GmbH. The arrange-

ment under which Formycon AG passes the costs 

of its development services to FYB202 Project 

GmbH, now its 100% subsidiary, remains un-

changed. 

Balance sheet structure of Formycon AG in ac-
cordance with German statutory accounting 
(HGB) 

As of Dec. 31, 2024, the equity ratio for the 

Formycon AG parent entity was 48.9%, compared 

to 46.7% at the close of the prior fiscal year. Non-

current assets are more than fully covered by eq-

uity and the provision for the conditional purchase 

payments, which is suggestive of a healthy balance 

sheet structure. The Group’s current assets consist 

almost completely of cash, cash equivalents and 

marketable securities and thus involve negligible 

risks. Financial assets decreased from € 719,966K 

to € 568,778K compared to the prior-year, the re-

sult of the revaluations and impairments as briefly 

described above. Current assets rose from 

€ 53,884K to € 75,292K due to the cash inflow 

from the capital increase carried out during the fis-

cal year and to an increase in advance payments 

for development services from € 9,690K to 

€ 20,967K. At the same time, receivables from affil-

iated companies fell by € 1,311K to € 16,046K. 

Other provisions decreased by € 62,992K to 

€ 313.595K, largely due to the updated planning for 

the FYB201 and FYB202 projects mentioned above 

and the payments under the conditional purchase 

price obligation for the acquisition of the shares ind 

Bioeq AG. As to the shareholder loan account, the 

outstanding balance of € 20,000K was fully repaid 

during the fiscal year along with deferred interest, 

and thus the outstanding amount under the credit 

line was zero as of the reporting date. 

Financial position of Formycon AG in accordance 

with German statutory accounting (HGB) 

The financial position of the Formycon AG parent 

entity remains stable. As in the past, key liquidity in-

dicators (cash and cash equivalents, working capi-

tal) were adequate, with current assets of 

€ 75,292K offset by current liabilities (including the 

current portion of the conditional purchase price 

payments) in the amount of € 27,904K. The Com-

pany did not have any bank loans during the pe-

riod. To ensure the adequacy of Formycon’s finan-

cial resources, key shareholders of Formycon AG 

provided the company in 2022 with a credit line in 

the amount of up to € 68,000K. Following the re-

payment of € 20,000K during the fiscal year, the 

amount of the available credit line is now 

€ 48,000K, of which zero was outstanding as of 

Dec. 31, 2024. As of the fiscal year end, the Group 

held cash and cash equivalents in the amount of 

€ 30,623K. 

In line with the increased operating loss compared 

to the prior year, net unconsolidated cash flow from 

operating activities further declined to negative 

€ 83,432K for fiscal year 2024 compared to nega-

tive € 36,845K for 2023. Net unconsolidated cash 

flow from investing activities rose from negative 

€ 2,906K (outflow) in the prior year to € 34K, re-

flecting the outflows for investments in the prior 

year as well as interest income. Unconsolidated 

cash flow from financing activities largely reflects 

the capital increase carried out during the fiscal 

year, the partial repayment of the loan to Bioeq AG, 

and the repayment of the shareholder loans, result-

ing in net cash inflow of € 92,529K compared to 

€ 57,203K in the prior fiscal year. Thus, the liquidity 

position of the Formycon AG parent entity in-

creased from € 21,494K at the start of the fiscal 

year to € 30,623K at the close, an increase of 

€ 9,130K. 
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Other non-financial  
aspects

Staff 

The development of biosimilars is a research-inten-

sive field of activity requiring the expertise of highly 

qualified and capable employees. For this reason, 

financial performance indicators alone cannot pro-

vide a comprehensive picture of Formycon’s value 

creation potential, and therefore the Executive 

Board, in managing the Group, also considers such 

other non-financial aspects. Above all, these in-

clude the critically important activities of the 

Group’s workforce, who contribute their 

knowledge, their skill and their passion for biosimi-

lars development each and every day, thereby 

forming the basis for Formycon’s success. 

As of Dec. 31, 2024, Formycon Group employed a 

total headcount of 250 persons (Dec. 31, 2023: 

197). 

The average staffing during fiscal year 2024 com-

pared to the prior-year period is shown below, di-

vided by functional area and including percentage 

change, and expressed in terms of full-time equiva-

lents (FTEs) to more meaningfully reflect part-time 

staff: 

 

Unaudited information 

Average Formycon Group staffing during the period by function 
(in FTE, rounded, including Executive Board members) 

   2024   2023   Change 

Research and development   170.7   161.6   +5.6% 

Business operations   12.9   9.7   +33.0% 

General and administrative   33.4   25.6   +30% 

Total   217.0   196.9   +10.2% 
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Unaudited information  
 

Educational level of Formycon staff – 
more than 80% with university degree 
 

 
 

     

Unaudited information  

 

Diversity of  
Formycon staff 

 

50

 
 

 

 

 
50  Unaudited information 
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Unaudited information  

 

Division of second-level management by gender 
 
 

 

 

    

Unaudited information  

 

Division of all management positions by gender 
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Staff expenses during fiscal year 2024 were 

€ 24,959K (2023: € 21,542K), with the increase 

due primarily to the greater average number of em-

ployees.51 

Formycon Group’s workforce is highly qualified, 

particularly in terms of educational level, and train-

ing is also a company priority. As of Dec. 31, 2024, 

81% of the Group’s employees have completed a 

university degree, which in the case of 37% is a 

doctoral degree.52 Since 2022 Formycon has 

been cooperating with the regional chamber of 

commerce (IHK) in offering technical vocational 

training positions for young people, under which it 

currently employs three trainees as IT specialists 

for systems integration.53 In addition, a qualified vo-

cational training program in office management will 

be offered for the first time starting from September 

2025. 

As to gender diversity, some 60% of the Group’s 

workforce is female. The employee average age as 

of Dec. 31, 2024 was 42 years.54 Formycon is 

proud of the diverse organization that it has devel-

oped over the years. The international diversity of 

Formycon’s staff, from 33 different countries, rein-

forces its self-image as a truly global organization 

and biopharmaceutical company.55 

Research and development 

Because Formycon has been, over the past fiscal 

year as in the preceding years, and remains today 

focused primarily on the development of its own bi-

osimilar projects, out-licensed projects, and those 

under development through partnerships, the 

Group’s activities are essentially limited to research 

and development activities. A large part of the 

 
51  Unaudited information 

52  Unaudited information 
53  Unaudited information 

54  Unaudited information 

Group’s reported sales revenue results from the 

provision of staff services under so-called “FTE 

agreements” for development work on biosimilar 

candidates that have been previously licensed out 

or are under development through partnerships. 

As of Dec. 31, 2024, a total of 170.7 group employ-

ees were, on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis, 

working in research and development (Dec. 31, 

2023: 161.6).56 During the reporting period, re-

search and development costs of € 28,385K were 

capitalized. These were costs for the FYB206 pro-

ject, which attained a development milestone dur-

ing fiscal year 2022 such that the capitalization of 

costs incurred from this milestone onwards was 

mandatory. Product development activities are pro-

ceeding on schedule, and thus prospects for the 

success of these development activities remain 

strong. Including capitalized development costs 

from prior years, the total book value of these capi-

talized development costs as of Dec. 31, 2024 was 

€ 50,781K. The costs for the FYB202 project, which 

had been recorded in the prior fiscal year as unfin-

ished development work, were reclassified as com-

pleted following the successful attainment of regu-

latory approval in the U.S. and Europe, and sched-

uled depreciation was accordingly initiated. 

The productivity of Formycon’s research and devel-

opment staff, measured in terms of hours directly 

allocable to development projects, remained at the 

high level of previous years. During the reporting 

period, 83.9% (2023: 85.1%) of all hours worked 

were project-related. Over this same period, 18.0% 

(2023: 14.5%) of hours worked were performed by 

employees who are not assigned to the research 

and development area.57 

55  Unaudited information 

56  Unaudited information 
57  Unaudited information 
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Report on risks and  
opportunities

Risk strategy and policies 

The effective management of risks and opportuni-

ties is an essential part of Formycon’s corporate 

management, serving to ensure that the company 

is able not only to realize its currently existing po-

tential as successfully as possible but also to max-

imize its future business and financial potential. 

Formycon understands risks as both internal and 

external events that could potentially have a nega-

tive impact on the achievement of its business ob-

jectives and forecasts. Working within the overall 

risk level which we consider justifiable and appro-

priate, the Executive Board then decides which 

specific risks Formycon should accept in order to 

take best advantage of the available opportunities. 

Formycon’s goal is to identify risks as early and pro-

actively as possible, to assess them appropriately, 

and to mitigate or avoid them by taking suitable ac-

tions. The risk strategy, which encompasses 

Formycon’s entire scope of activities, is regularly 

reviewed by the Executive Board and further devel-

oped as necessary. A risk policy has been devel-

oped and established as a framework within 

Formycon for all relevant risk management activi-

ties and actions. 

Risk management system 

Formycon, one of the few independent developers 

of biosimilars, operates in a dynamic global market 

with many different participants and influencers. 

Business success is determined by the identifica-

tion of profit opportunities, along with an effective 

system for the best possible assessment of the 

many and varied risks associated with these. Regu-

lar reviews of this system further ensure that it is 

constantly improved and that, as circumstances 

change, changes are likewise made to the system 

promptly and in accordance with evolving needs. 

Risk management is a cornerstone of Formycon 

Group’s governance, ensuring compliance not only 

with legal and regulatory requirements but also 

with general principles of sound corporate govern-

ance. Regular bottom-up reporting from all depart-

mental areas is utilized to identify and analyze risks 

to the company wherever these may exist along 

the value chain, and wherever possible to mitigate 

them, with the aim of preventing these risks from 

occurring in the first place or, if this is not possible, 

to proactively manage the consequences in the 

event that the risk nonetheless materializes. The fo-

cus is first and foremost upon those risks that could 

have a significant adverse impact on business ac-

tivities or even jeopardize the Group’s continued 

existence. 

In 2024, Formycon established a new bottom-up 

risk reporting process to broaden and strengthen 

its system for the early detection of risks so that the 

company is able to gather risk-related information 

more rapidly and in a more structured manner. 

On this basis, risk reports are prepared and pre-

sented twice each year to the Executive Board, 

which examines identified risks and available 

routes of action to mitigate them. The Executive 

Board, in turn, reports its findings to the Supervi-

sory Board. 

In parallel with these ongoing risk monitoring pro-

cesses, the Group may also identify and report spe-

cial short-term risks that could require prompt ac-

tion so that effective and timely countermeasures 

may be put in place as necessary. 

The risk management system specifically encom-

passes the following risk areas, which are further 

described in the following sections: strategic risks, 

operational risks, financial risks, industry and 
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market risks, controlling, IP risks, workplace safety, 

financial and operating risks; legal and compliance 

risks, HR risks, and IT risks. 
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Risks 

The following overview reflects Formycon’s assess-

ment of the primary risks that could have a nega-

tive impact on its business performance, financial 

condition and corporate reputation. The statements 

made are within the context of a multi-year plan-

ning horizon. The risk assessments within the over-

view are based on the “net principle”, i.e. taking 

into account the offsetting effects of risk manage-

ment, risk mitigation and risk hedging measures. 

Strategic risks 

Compared to the development of an entirely new 

biopharmaceutical, the financial investment re-

quired for the development of a biosimilar drug is 

considerably less but nevertheless significant. The 

development of a biosimilar may cost in the range 

of USD 150 to 300 million per product, requiring 

cost-intensive analytical, preclinical and clinical 

studies to demonstrate its comparability to the ref-

erence product in terms of quality, safety and effi-

cacy. Because of these complex requirements, the 

development of a biosimilar also requires a rela-

tively long development timeframe of seven to ten 

years until application for regulatory approval in the 

world’s highly regulated markets. 

The prospects for the future commercial success of 

a biosimilar development project are largely deter-

mined by the selection of product candidates at the 

start of the process. With its FYB201 and FYB203 

projects, Formycon is focusing on ophthalmic prep-

arations, while its FYB202 project is targeted at im-

munological disorders and FYB206 at immuno-on-

cological disorders.  

The future size and growth trajectory of these mar-

kets may be derived from existing sales statistics 

for the respective reference products. Declining 

sales of a reference product could result in a poten-

tial future market size for a biosimilar under 

 
58  Unaudited information 

development by Formycon which is significantly 

smaller than originally assumed. This could, in the 

worst case, lead to future product sales inadequate 

to make the biosimilar development effort profita-

ble and thus termination of the project. In such 

case, the anticipated future income would not be 

realized. With its advanced-stage biosimilar candi-

dates, Formycon is focused on three of the world’s 

best-selling biopharmaceuticals with combined 

2023 global sales revenue of more than € 22 bil-

lion58, so that – provided that their development 

reaches successful completion – the profitability of 

these projects, as they stand right now, can be rea-

sonably assumed. 

Nevertheless, the possibility of a competitive situa-

tion cannot be ruled out in which the rate of market 

penetration, targeted volume of products sold 

and/or realizable product unit prices might be lower 

than anticipated, with correspondingly negative ef-

fects on revenue and earnings contributions. 

Operational and project risks associated with the 
development of biosimilars  

The quality, comparability, efficacy and safety of a 

biosimilar medicine must be comprehensively 

demonstrated to the regulatory authorities through 

analytical and preclinical studies along with clinical 

trials. Both the planning and implementation of any 

individual stage of product development could po-

tentially entail delays which are generally not pre-

dictable and which, in turn, would result in higher 

costs. There is, moreover, the risk that final regula-

tory approval of a biosimilar candidate might take 

longer than planned, or that the drug might not be 

approved at all. 

In its biosimilar development work, Formycon relies 

in part upon external partners. Should an external 

partner fail to provide the required resources, or fail 



Combined Management Report — Formycon AG  Annual Report 2024 97 

 

 

to provide them within the required timeframe, or 

should the timeframe in which such resources are 

made available be shifted for other reasons, this 

could lead to delays in the Group’s development 

projects. 

With this in mind, Formycon plans all steps of prod-

uct development with the greatest possible care 

and, to the extent feasible, with – derived from our 

own experience – reasonable time allowances for 

delays that might arise. Preclinical and clinical stud-

ies as well as the extensive program of analytical 

characterization take place in close consultation 

with the respective authorities and with assistance 

and expert advice from outside specialists. Notwith-

standing this, the results or outcome of any such 

study cannot be completely predicted in advance.  

It cannot be ruled out that particular stages of a 

product development program might need to be re-

peated, that one or more such studies might not 

reach successful conclusion, or that a development 

program might fail in its entirety. Within the scope 

of the Group’s development activities, the produc-

tion of active ingredients and finished products by 

third-party producers represents a substantial cost 

component. It should be specifically noted here, in 

the context of risks that might arise, that such pro-

duction capacities must typically be planned and 

arranged with lead times of one to two years and 

that, for this reason, short-term changes to the pro-

ject cycle could result in additional waiting periods 

along with substantial cancellation fees. 

Another risk is that such outside partners might not 

be able to comply with the stringent regulatory re-

quirements which apply to gaining regulatory ap-

proval of a biosimilar drug, such as inspections and 

audits. Should such an event arise, regulatory ap-

proval could be delayed or completely denied. In 

addition, difficulties arising in the recruitment of pa-

tients for clinical trials, or in the availability of pro-

duction capacity, production components or precur-

sors, and/or other necessary inputs could have an 

impact on development works or clinical trials, 

thereby also adversely affecting the timeline and/or 

profitability of a drug development project or even 

jeopardizing a project in its entirety. 

Operational and project risks relating to clinical 
trials and to the role of Clinical Research GmbH 
as clinical trial sponsor 

With the takeover and integration of Bioeq GmbH 

in May of 2022, Formycon expanded the scope of 

its drug development capabilities to include clinical 

development and the direct management of clinical 

trials. Bioeq GmbH, a legally separate subsidiary of 

Formycon Group which has since been legally re-

named to “Clinical Research GmbH”, continues to 

serve, as it did before its acquisition by Formycon, 

in the role of “clinical trial sponsor” for Formycon-

developed biosimilar candidates and thus as the of-

ficial contracting entity for these clinical trials. In its 

role as clinical trial sponsor, Clinical Research 

GmbH bears not only financial risks but also the 

risk of liability towards participating patients or 

other test subjects. With the acquisition of Clinical 

Research GmbH as a subsidiary company belong-

ing to Formycon Group, these risks are effectively 

assumed by Formycon. 

Formycon and Clinical Research GmbH manage 

these risks through an appropriate industry-stand-

ard monitoring and quality management system, 

using a risk-based approach in order to assess and 

ensure quality and safety through all phases of the 

clinical trial process. This includes but is not limited 

to ensuring the protection of clinical trial partici-

pants and the accuracy and reliability of the clinical 

trial results. Toward this end, predefined checks are 

regularly carried out along the entire clinical investi-

gation process as part of the risk control system, 

with particular attention to relevant aspects of 

proper medical care, patient protection and data in-

tegrity. Any liability risks which may nonetheless 

arise are further managed through the insurance of 

participating patients within the framework of legal 

requirements. In the case of clinical trials involving 

biosimilars, however, it should be noted that the 

risk of harm to participating patients or other test 

subjects can generally be assessed as low because 

the proteins employed have been in regular clinical 

use by the originator for a number of years and 

have already become an established therapy for 

the respective indication. 

As clinical trial sponsor, Clinical Research GmbH is, 

moreover, obligated to comply with detailed and 
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rigorous regulatory requirements for good clinical 

practice (GCP) when conducting clinical trials of 

medicinal products for human use under the EU 

Clinical Trials Regulation, which apply to clinical tri-

als worldwide and which serve to protect patients 

and ensure the integrity and correctness of the 

data and findings generated through the trials. The 

clinical trial sponsor, participating study centers and 

other parties involved in the clinical trials process 

are regularly subject to GCP inspections by local 

health authorities to ensure compliance with these 

GCP regulatory requirements.  

Patent and other intellectual property (IP) risks 

Formycon Group’s success, competitive position 

and future revenues depend upon its ability to navi-

gate the complex intellectual property landscape 

as it develops its biosimilar candidates with the aim 

of approval and market launch, generally as 

promptly as possible upon patent expiry of the orig-

inator drug. This means that Formycon must not 

only establish legal protections for its own intellec-

tual property and know-how but also ensure that it 

does not encroach upon the legitimate intellectual 

property rights of third parties, such as patents, 

trademarks and design rights. This may, under cer-

tain circumstances, also mean challenging the va-

lidity or scope of intellectual property rights claimed 

by third parties. 

The possibility of patent infringements, even if only 

alleged, is an inherent risk in biosimilar develop-

ment because of the large number of potentially 

relevant patents which must be considered. Dis-

putes with competitors or other patent owners, or 

defense against lawsuits claiming patent infringe-

ment, may pose a considerable financial burden. 

Particularly in the U.S., such legal actions can be 

very expensive. In the worst case, such a dispute 

could result in restrictions on, or even the prohibi-

tion of, the marketing of one or more products 

within relevant markets, and/or the imposition of 

sizable fines. Such a legal action could also make it 

necessary to cease the development, launch or 

marketing of one or more products. 

In order to avoid infringements upon the intellec-

tual property rights of others, Formycon conducts 

exhaustive patent searches already at the time that 

project candidates are selected, then continues to 

closely monitor the relevant patent environment 

over the course of the development of its biosimilar 

candidates. Nevertheless, the possibility cannot be 

excluded that Formycon could be the subject of pa-

tent litigation, even if such litigation is unjustified.  

Regulatory and political risks 

The requirements and conditions for the regulatory 

approval of drugs by the relevant authorities are 

subject to constant change. The risk cannot be ex-

cluded that these authorities might change the reg-

ulatory requirements in such a way as to impede, or 

even entirely preclude, the regulatory approval re-

quired for a biosimilar to reach market. Moreover, 

the political and public policy environment, particu-

larly in the European Union and the United States, 

may have a significant influence on market oppor-

tunities for biosimilars as a whole or within specific 

areas of indication. For example, politically influ-

enced changes to regulations governing biosimilars 

and their interchangeability with the original patent 

drugs may have an impact on competition or pric-

ing and thus have a significant impact on sales rev-

enue for the biosimilar market as a whole and on 

future Formycon-developed products in particular. 

Furthermore, the possibility cannot be ruled out, 

particularly in the U.S., that a partial or complete 

government shutdown could lead to delays in the 

regulatory approval process.  

The establishment of additional tariffs or import du-

ties – as, for example, under consideration by the 

United States as of this writing – could likewise 

lead to a significant reduction in the profitability of 

products affected by such tariffs. 

The military conflict between Russia and Ukraine 

have resulted in price increases over the past 

years, especially in the energy markets. Until now, 

Formycon’s operating processes have been only 

marginally affected. Nevertheless, the risk contin-

ues to exist that raw materials, preliminary products 

and/or services which are important to Formycon 

could become more expensive or potentially even 

scarce. Formycon strives to mitigate these risks 

through a long-term sourcing strategy based upon 
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strategic partners and transparent pricing. How-

ever, the possibility cannot be ruled out that delays 

or interruptions in development projects could oc-

cur as a result of a potential scarcity of resources or 

rationing of energy, or that the development costs 

thereof could become significantly greater. The re-

cruitment of patients for clinical studies could also 

be significantly impacted by the conflict in Eastern 

Europe, which could have the effects of increasing 

competition for participating study patients, of de-

laying clinical studies, or of otherwise increasing 

costs. 

In addition, the Islamist militant group Hamas 

launched a surprise attack on Israel from the Gaza 

Strip on October 7, 2023. The ongoing war be-

tween Hamas and Israel currently represents one 

of the greatest geopolitical risks which could poten-

tially impact Formycon’s current and future markets. 

A possible renewed escalation of the military con-

flict could affect the surrounding region and, in par-

ticular through rising oil prices, adversely influence 

the global economic situation and thus potentially 

also all of Formycon’s sales markets. 

There is significant uncertainty about the extent 

and duration of disruptions which could directly or 

indirectly arise as a result of these conflicts, as well 

as their ultimate impact on the global economy. 

There can therefore be no guarantee that the 

Group's projects will not experience delays or inter-

ruptions due, for example, to potential resource 

shortages, energy rationing, or other adverse im-

pacts to Formycon’s development projects and the 

costs thereof. Overall, it must be recognized that 

cross-border business activities around the globe 

are facing increased risks due to an increasing 

number of armed conflicts, threats (e.g. Taiwan), 

and spreading nationalism in multiple regions, all of 

which pose risks to Formycon, not only in terms of 

the markets for its products but also its procure-

ment needs. 

Industry, market and competitive risks 

From the standpoint of Formycon, conditions in the 

healthcare sector remain favorable. As populations 

continue to age and people around the globe live 
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longer, the need for intensive and costly medical 

treatments is growing relentlessly, regardless of 

economic cycles and consumer purchasing power. 

Moreover, advances in medical technology have 

been enabling the treatment of diseases which a 

few decades or even years ago were regarded as 

untreatable or only poorly treatable. Biopharmaceu-

ticals, in particular, have been a significant driver of 

these treatment advances. Of the world’s best-sell-

ing drugs, most are biopharmaceuticals. Specifi-

cally within Germany, biopharmaceuticals com-

prised 34.5% of the total drug market in 2023 

(€ 55.7 billion), corresponding to some € 19.2 bil-

lion in sales revenue – and the trend is continuing 

upward.59 

At the same time, however, the high cost of these 

powerful treatments, which in some cases may ex-

ceed € 100,000 per patient per year60, is a major 

burden on healthcare system costs. The political 

will to act as a result of these cost pressures could 

also, by increasing the pressure on biopharmaceu-

tical prices, impact Formycon’s business environ-

ment. 

The prevailing overall economic situation is charac-

terized by additional uncertainties (see “Regulatory 

and political risks”) which could have a negative im-

pact on the market situation. 

The current aim of Formycon is to launch its prod-

ucts, through its respective partners either entirely 

or in part, upon expiry of patent protection on the 

reference product in the respective market. Due to 

Formycon’s positioning as an independent player 

within the biosimilars market space, situations may 

arise in which a commercialization partner, such as 

a partner company named in this report, is also a 

competitor. In each market, Formycon must com-

pete not only with the manufacturer of the refer-

ence drug, who might attempt to defend its market 

position and establish barriers to market entry (e.g. 

through life-cycle management), but also with other 

biosimilar producers. These include not only major 

pharmaceutical corporations such as Amgen, Bio-

con, Biogen, Fresenius Kabi, Pfizer, Samsung 

60  Unaudited information 
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Bioepis, Sandoz and Teva but also smaller and 

highly specialized biosimilars companies such as 

Alvotech, Celltrion and Xbrane. The competition sit-

uation in each specific case will depend upon the 

pricing of the reference drug as well as the pricing 

of any new competitors in the market. It is, in addi-

tion, entirely possible that the manufacturer of the 

originator product might reduce its pricing upon the 

market entry of new and competing biosimilars, or 

seek to enter into discount agreements with health 

insurers or other major buyers over extended con-

tractually binding periods, in order to retain market 

share. This would improve its defensive competi-

tive position against a new biosimilar entry and 

make it more difficult for the biosimilar to take 

share. 

Through the experience and expertise of its staff 

and its strategic partners, the strategic positioning 

of its product development portfolio, and its strong 

financial footing, Formycon strives to face these 

competitive challenges. Nevertheless, it cannot be 

excluded that competitors might, in an unexpected 

or unpredictable way, find themselves in an advan-

tageous competitive position relative to, and to the 

detriment of, Formycon’s products, thereby ad-

versely impacting financial performance.   

Financing, credit and liquidity risks 

Formycon’s liquidity situation and equity capitaliza-

tion remain stable, and the Group’s liquidity posi-

tion is particularly satisfactory for a company which 

has not yet attained profitability and whose prod-

ucts are largely still in the development stage. Irre-

spective of this, conditions within the Group’s oper-

ating business may change, giving rise to financial 

risks – for example, through slower market pene-

tration, lower product sales volumes or lower prod-

uct unit prices than expected, as well as delayed or 

lower proceeds from out-licensing. As most of the 

Group’s products are drug candidates which have 

not yet obtained regulatory approval, it cannot be 

ruled out that one or more such approvals could 

come later than anticipated, or that the scope of 

approval could be different than planned, or that 

approval could be denied. Moreover, the required 

financial outlays for product development, regula-

tory approval and market launch could substantially 

exceed planned budgets. There is also the 

possibility that future license income, even subse-

quent to regulatory approval, could be less than an-

ticipated. An increased number of change orders 

and uncertainties within ongoing projects have the 

effect of increasing not only costs but also risks. 

In order to mitigate such financial risks in its ongo-

ing operating business, Formycon undertakes 

highly detailed and long-term planning, drawing 

also on outside expertise. The financial risks of pro-

ject development, which Formycon bears entirely 

by itself during the initial development phase, have 

been significantly reduced in the case of the 

FYB201 and FYB203 projects through partial or to-

tal out-licensing deals. Moreover, Formycon has 

been granted an available line of credit in the 

amount of up to € 48 million by a consortium of two 

major company investors: Athos and the 

healthcare-focused investment group Active Own-

ership. Out of this total availability, € 40 million was 

originally drawn down, of which € 20 million was 

then repaid in the first half of 2023 and the remain-

ing € 20 million outstanding in the first quarter of 

2024. The line of credit is thus currently undrawn 

and flexibly available in its entirety until its sched-

uled expiry on May 31, 2026. 

The possibility cannot be entirely excluded, how-

ever, that such one or more development partner-

ships could be terminated for reasons not under 

Formycon’s control. Such an event could have a 

material adverse impact on the Group’s profit and 

loss accounts as well as on its financial planning. At 

the present time, Formycon assesses this risk as 

very low.  

Formycon will continue to fund its future develop-

ment pipeline projects from its own financial re-

sources, with the aim of moving these into attrac-

tive partnership arrangements, in whole or in part, 

starting from a certain product development stage. 

With its strong financial footing, Formycon is well 

positioned to overcome future financial risks as 

these may arise. The Group’s existing financial re-

sources should be sufficient to largely cover its 

short- to medium-term capital needs. This, however, 

cannot be used to infer any sort of assurance as to 

the availability of medium- to long-term financial 
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resources. There are, at present, no identifiable 

fundamental risks which would jeopardize the 

Group’s near-term continued existence. The failure 

of current or future development projects to attain 

regulatory approval or failure of approved products 

to generate the expected level of sales revenue 

could, however, result in fundamental risks, de-

pending on the relevance of the respective project 

to Formycon Group as a whole.  

Environmental protection, health, and workplace 
safety 

Workplace safety and health, as well as the protec-

tion of employees and the environment, is a top pri-

ority for Formycon. Formycon therefore places 

great importance not only on the fulfillment of stat-

utory and regulatory requirements but also on the 

regular training and further qualification of all of its 

staff in the relevant aspects of workplace safety. 

Comprehensive procedures have been established 

for this purpose. Significant fines may be imposed 

for violations of environmental protection laws. In 

addition to compliance with laws, measures to en-

sure the health and safety of staff also serve to miti-

gate the risks and consequences of employee ab-

sences, which may affect not only production or 

business functions but also employee perception 

and thus the potential to impact employee satisfac-

tion or turnover. In addition to the company’s bio-

logical safety officer, designated project manager 

as required under the German Genetic Engineering 

Act (Gentechnikgesetz) and trained safety special-

ist, Formycon has designated several other experi-

enced employees with specific responsibilities in 

the area of workplace safety and protection. A 

company doctor regularly conducts preventive ex-

aminations and advises employees as well as the 

Executive Board on medical matters. Formycon 

holds all permits and approvals required for its op-

erations. Compliance with all regulatory require-

ments regarded safety and the protection of em-

ployees and the environment is monitored inter-

nally on an ongoing basis. Moreover, the Group 

constantly seeks out new opportunities to further 

protect the health and safety of its staff. As an ex-

ample, Formycon recently obtained certification of 

its company health management system. 

Information and technology risks 

Formycon’s operating activities depend upon the 

proper functioning of its laboratories and IT infra-

structure. Various risks can be identified which 

might impair or interrupt the availability of these 

critical resources, temporarily or even over an ex-

tended period. To the extent possible, the financial 

risks which might result from such events are in-

sured. In addition, Formycon employs modern tech-

nologies and established processes to eliminate or 

mitigate the risks cyberattacks or other potential 

data loss. The Group also regularly conducts 

maintenance and inspections of its critical equip-

ment by trained personnel or specialized service 

providers, making changes to equipment as neces-

sary to ensure that it remains at the state of the art. 

Rigorous compliance with laws and regulations re-

lating to information security and data protection 

serves not only to protect operational activities but 

also to preclude legal penalties. These risks are 

closely monitored by Formycon. 

Staff and process risks 

The expertise and many years of experience of its 

employees are key pillars of Formycon’s success. In 

particular, the development of a biosimilar drug, 

from early-stage analysis through to regulatory ap-

proval, requires highly qualified specialists. Over re-

cent years, Formycon has been able to recruit nu-

merous highly qualified scientists and managers. 

This demonstrates that the Group is a highly attrac-

tive employer, able to successfully fill these critical 

positions, even in a fiercely competitive labor mar-

ket. For a growing organization, staff turnover is rel-

atively low. The loss of key staff, particularly with 

critical knowledge and expertise, would constitute 

a significant risk. To keep this risk as low as possi-

ble, the Group has implemented a number of staff 

motivation and retention initiatives, along with tal-

ent planning to ensure that future succession is in 

place. It is also impossible to rule out the risk of 

staff absences due to illness. Formycon has, for this 

reason, established a health management system 

to mitigate the impact of staff absences resulting 

from illness. 
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Legal and compliance risks 

Formycon does business in a competitive interna-

tional environment and in highly regulated markets. 

There is thus the possibility that Formycon could be 

drawn into legal disputes which might even be un-

justified or frivolous, which could, for example, be 

based upon patent law, competitive or antitrust law, 

tax law or environmental law, or arising from agree-

ments or other contractual claims. Moreover, the 

possibility cannot be excluded that such legal ac-

tions might, whether through court judgements, 

binding arbitration or regulatory or other official de-

cisions, result in financial burdens which are, for ex-

ample, not covered by insurance or only partially in-

sured.  

The uplisting of Formycon AG in November 2024 

and its inclusion in the SDAX stock market index 

have the effect of increasing regulatory obligations, 

along with the potential for penalties or other legal 

consequences in the event of failure to comply with 

these obligations. 

Additional risks arise from the Group’s other com-

pliance obligations. Actions or inactions by the 

Group could, for example, be legally contested, in-

adequate or untimely financial communications 

could result in fines, or improperly conducted 

shareholder meetings or shareholder resolutions 

could be disputed. With these risks in mind, 

Formycon assesses and monitors all of its relevant 

processes, procedures and decisions from a legal 

standpoint, using in house and/or outside expertise 

as necessary. The Group has, in addition, intro-

duced a compliance management system that 

takes into account applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements, which are also incorporated into the 

Group’s Code of Conduct as well as other Group 

policies and standard operating procedures. The 

specific legal and regulatory requirements specifi-

cations are regularly reviewed and adjusted as nec-

essary. The Group’s internal training system, ran-

dom validation checks and case-by-case review of 

specific individual situations that may arise further 

serve to ensure proper compliance with all applica-

ble requirements. 
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Opportunities 

Formycon’s core business is the development of 

high-quality biosimilar medicines for the world’s 

most stringently regulated markets. In this global 

market, Formycon seeks growth through the ex-

pansion of its product portfolio, not only in terms of 

the number of biosimilar candidates under devel-

opment but also, and at least as importantly, 

through their quality and the market opportunity 

which they represent. Possible strategic collabora-

tions may significantly contribute toward maximiz-

ing these opportunities. 

Biosimilar medicines have the advantage over their 

reference products of more cost-effective develop-

ment because of procedures which are already sci-

entifically proven and development processes 

which are largely well established. Because the 

similarity and comparability of a biosimilar to its ref-

erence product must already be demonstrated ana-

lytically, the likelihood that the development of the 

biosimilar will fail in one of the subsequent clinical 

phases is generally far lower than in the case of in-

novative biopharmaceuticals. 

The possible waiver of a Phase III clinical trial dis-

cussed with the FDA regarding the biosimilar candi-

date FYB206 offers the opportunity to generate the 

data required for approval in a streamlined clinical 

development process more quickly and also to 

save a considerable amount of development costs. 

There are indications that the necessity of phase III 

efficacy studies for the approval of biosimilars in 

general is being re-evaluated by the regulatory au-

thorities. Shorter development timelines and lower 

development costs could result in more biosimilar 

candidates being brought to market in less time. 

Due to the comparatively high barriers to market 

entry, in particular the complexity of producing bio-

pharmaceuticals and the specialized expertise 
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required, the level of competition in the area of bio-

similar development is generally, with few excep-

tions, modest compared to the market for generic 

drugs. Formycon is able to overcome these consid-

erable barriers through the long and proven experi-

ence of its staff, the innovative concepts and the re-

liability of the scientific processes which Formycon 

applies for its biosimilar development projects, the 

stringent selection of strong and reliable partners, 

the Group’s high degree of integration along with 

its agility, and finally the quality and scientific exper-

tise of the service providers and advisors on which 

Formycon additionally relies. 

Within this core business area and market, 

Formycon sees no change in its favorable future 

outlook. 

Demographic trends, particularly in Western coun-

tries, point to a continued increase in the propor-

tion of the population over 55 years of age.61 This 

demographic segment has a higher incidence of re-

quiring intensive medical treatment. In addition, the 

life expectancy is increasing around the world, 

meaning that long-term treatments, in particular re-

curring drug administrations, are often possible or 

even medically necessary over longer remaining 

lifespans. 

Formycon established its position in the highly 

promising market for biosimilars development at an 

early stage and, with its comprehensive expertise, 

is able to exploit the potential of this fast-growing 

market. Formycon’s business model is scalable. 

The continued growth of both the market environ-

ment and Formycon own business and organization 

shows that Formycon Group is on the right path 

with its corporate strategy.  
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Overall risk assessment by Executive Board 

Compared to the prior-year period, there has been 

an increase in the risks described above. With re-

gard to the various risks broadly associated with 

the development and commercialization of biosimi-

lars as described in the various sections above, the 

Executive Board has reviewed its risk assessment. 

Geopolitical turmoil and potential adverse changes 

in the the U.S. economic and business environ-

ment, as well as product sales volumes and prod-

uct unit prices below expectations, could have a 

significant negative impact on Formycon's financial 

performance. In view of the fact that certain regula-

tory authorities have, in the past, expressed reser-

vations arising from audits of production facilities of 

individual contract development and manufacturing 

organizations (CDMOs), as well as of certain com-

petitors of Formycon, the Executive Board has de-

termined that the risk should, in accordance with 

the criteria of the risk matrix, be assessed as “rela-

tively high”.   
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Summary risk matrix* 

Risk   Risk type   Assessed risk level 

Operational and project risks associated with the development of 

biosimilars 

  Strategic   high 

Operational and project risks relating to clinical trials and to the 

role of Clinical Research GmbH as clinical trial sponsor 
  Strategic   Low 

Patent and other intellectual property (IP) risks   Strategic / Commercial   Relatively low 

Regulatory and political risks   Strategic / Commercial   Relatively high 

Industry, market and competitive risks   Commercial   Relatively high 

Financing, credit and liquidity risks   Financing   Relatively high 

Environmental protection, health and workplace safety   Operating   Relatively high 

Information and technology risks   Operating   high 

Staff and process risks   Operating   Relatively high 

Legal and compliance risks   Operating   Relatively high 

    

*The assessment categories “Financial impact” and “Probability of occurrence” have changed compared to 

the previous year. For this reason, the change in risks compared to the previous year has been deliberately 

omitted. 

 

Determination of risk level based upon estimated probability of occurrence 
and estimated financial impact in the event of occurrence    

Estimated financial 

impact   Probability of occurrence (PoO)    

 

  < 25 % low   25 – 50 % (relatively 

low) 

  50 – 75 % (relatively 

high)   

> 75 % high 

> € 8.000K   Relatively high   high   high   high 

€ 4.000K - € 8.000K   Relatively low   Relatively high   high   high 

€ 500K - € 4.000K   low   Relatively low   Relatively high   high 

< € 500K   low   low   Relatively low   Relatively high 
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Report on risks relating to  
the use of financial instruments 

The financial instruments currently used by 

Formycon to any significant extent are trade receiv-

ables, trade liabilities, shareholder loans, condi-

tional purchase price payment obligations, and 

bank balances. Liabilities are settled within the stip-

ulated period. Potential currency risks, which could 

have a negative effect on the Group’s asset situa-

tion, financial position and profitability, are miti-

gated by avoiding the accumulation of significant 

foreign-currency positions. 

The Group’s most significant foreign-currency ex-

posure arises from purchases of third-party ser-

vices in Swiss francs (CHF) and U.S. dollars (USD), 

which are paid promptly in order to minimize cur-

rency risks.

Formycon’s risk management policy is fundamen-

tally to protect against financial risks of all kinds. 

In managing its financial position, the Group follows 

a conservative risk policy. To the extent that pay-

ment default or other credit risks are identifiable 

with regard to financial assets, these risks are re-

flected through value adjustments. 
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Report on outlook for  
Formycon Group 

The information provided within this section in-

cludes forward-looking statements based upon our 

current expectations and certain assumptions. 

Identified and unidentified risks, inherent uncer-

tainties and other factors may lead to significant de-

viations between the expectations outlined herein 

and actual future results. Such future deviations 

from these expectations could involve the Group’s 

future financial situation and overall development 

as well as the future sales of its current or potential 

products. With regard to its pipeline projects, 

Formycon AG makes no representations, warran-

ties or other guarantees of any kind that these will 

receive the necessary regulatory ap-provals or that 

these will be commercially viable and/or successful. 

Business and financial outlook for Formycon 

Group for fiscal year 2025 

The development of biosimilars remains the strate-

gic focus of Formycon Group and the fundamental 

basis for its sustainable long-term business growth. 

The global market for biosimilars is expected to 

continue its dynamic growth, with IQVIA expecting 

combined sales of USD 74 billion by the year 

2030.62 However, current conditions, particularly in 

the United States, have adversely affected 

Formycon’s near-term outlook. In particular, certain 

market segments are now expected to open more 

slowly and price discounts to be significantly 

deeper than previously anticipated. The recent per-

formance of our projects underscores this volatility 

but also points to associated opportunities in this 

market environment. 

In the case of FYB201, our U.S. partner Sandoz AG 

responded to the increasing price erosion by 

 
62 https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/germany/publications/fokus-bi-

osmilars/newsletter-fokus-biosimilars-ausgabe-10.pdf 

temporarily adjusting its marketing strategy for 

FYB201/Cimerli®. The new plan is to commercially 

reposition the product following a temporary pause 

in U.S. marketing activities and, following the prod-

uct’s relaunch, to extend its reach into new cus-

tomer segments.  

The temporary suspension of marketing means that 

Formycon must now factor in a significant reduction 

in expected sales and earnings for this product in 

2025, which cannot be offset by revenue from Eu-

rope and other territories. However, a relaunch of 

the product in the United States with better market 

opportunities is planned for 2026. Marketing in Eu-

rope and other territories outside the U.S. remains 

unaffected by this tactical marketing measure. 

FYB202, Formycon’s second biosimilar product, en-

tered the commercial market in 2025. Our partner 

Fresenius Kabi was able to launch the product in 

the U.S. at the end of February 2025, instead of the 

originally anticipated mid-April 2025. Within Eu-

rope, FYB202/Otulfi® was launched in selected 

countries at the beginning of March 2025.  

Within the context of this market launch, it is be-

coming apparent that the market opening for bio-

similars within the U.S. pharmacy benefit segment 

continues to develop more slowly and to require 

deeper price discounts than previously assumed. 

Due to these market conditions, Formycon expects 

sales revenue to increase more slowly than origi-

nally planned. 

In the case of our immuno-oncology biosimilar can-

didate FYB206, on the other hand, regulatory de-

velopments in the U.S. have been quite positiv and 

demonstrate that, on the product development and 
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regulatory approval side, conditions in the U.S. con-

tinue to become even more favorable for biosimi-

lars. 

In the context of a Scientific Advice meeting, the 

FDA confirmed that comprehensive analytical data, 

in conjunction with the ongoing phase I clinical tri-

als including a coordinated study design, will be 

sufficient to demonstrate the therapeutic compara-

bility of FYB206, our biosimilar candidate to Key-

truda®. This eliminates the need for a phase III clini-

cal study for FYB206. This is an important step that 

will not only significantly shorten development time 

but also dramatically reduce the required invest-

ment. This achievement also underscores the im-

portance of the quality of our analytical and preclin-

ical data, placing Formycon at the forefront of Key-

truda® biosimilar development. 

Following the successful approvals of our Eylea® bi-

osimilar FYB203 in the U.S. and Europe, Formycon 

is engaged in various patent-related activities 

aimed at establishing a potential market launch 

date. Because a decision has yet been reached, 

Formycon does not expect any marketing revenue 

for FYB203 in 2025. Teva Pharmaceuticals Interna-

tional GmbH serves as our semi-exclusive market-

ing partner for large parts of Europe and Israel, 

while Lotus Pharmaceutical is our partner for the 

Asia-Pacific region. An announcement regarding 

our marketing partner for the U.S. market is ex-

pected during the first half of 2025. 

Our biosimilar candidates FYB208, FYB209 and 

most recently FYB210, a project initiated in 2024, 

are each in early-stage development. FYB208 

could, upon reaching the Technical Proof of Similar-

ity (TPoS) milestone, potentially enter clinical devel-

opment during the second half of 2025. 

Biosimilars have already demonstrated in the past, 

through numerous product examples, that they can 

achieve a sustainable long-term market position 

and profitable business model. Our strategy re-

mains focused on securing a leading position 

within this dynamic growth field together with our 

partners.  

 

Revenue 

Despite the establishment of FYB201 in multiple 

markets and planned launches in additional new 

markets, Formycon expects the revenue and earn-

ings contributions from FYB201 to decline signifi-

cantly in 2025 due to the tactical marketing deci-

sion in the United States. Due to significant price 

erosion, U.S. marketing of the product will be 

paused for an expected year starting in the second 

quarter of 2025. The relaunch at a more stable 

price level is expected in the first half of 2026. 

Thanks to market launches in the U.S. and parts of 

Europe in the first quarter of 2025, the new 

FYB202/Otulfi® product is expected to generate in-

itial revenue contributions in 2025. At present, we 

see a highly competitive market environment 

emerging, particularly in the U.S., making it difficult 

to estimate how quickly market penetration will oc-

cur and under what business conditions. Neverthe-

less, based on the performance of marketing part-

ner Fresenius Kabi, Formycon expects FYB202 to 

be its largest revenue generator in 2025. 

Following the successful completion of develop-

ment work of the pre-filled syringe product version 

of ophthalmic biosimilars FYB201 and FYB203, rev-

enue generated from the provision of development 

services will continue to decline significantly, as al-

ready expected. 

Given the advanced stage of clinical development 

for FYB206 and the FDA’s concurrence that phase 

III clinical trials are unnecessary, the Group is con-

sidering an initial commercialization partnership 

deal for FYB206 to begin already in 2025, which 

could lead to significant revenue. Overall, 

Formycon expects consolidated revenue for fiscal 

year 2025 to be in the range of € 55.0 million to 

€ 65.0 million, unchanged from the guidance for 

the previous year. 
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EBITDA 

Formycon’s value creation is fundamentally based 

upon its development pipeline. The Group will 

therefore continue to invest significantly into its ad-

vancing product pipeline, including FYB208, 

FYB209 and the recently initiated FYB210 project. 

Because of the capitalization of development ex-

penditures, the FYB206 project does not flow 

through the financial statements. Overall, EBITDA 

for full-year 2025 is expected to be in the range of 

negative € 20 million to negative € 10 million, due 

to the significant non-capitalized development in-

vestments and other ongoing company expenses 

against the expected stable revenue for 2025. 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Adjusted EBITDA additionally includes Formycon’s 

at-equity participation in earnings from the Bioeq 

AG joint venture. 

Bioeq AG generates earnings solely from the oper-

ational success of our FYB201 product. Because of 

the change in marketing strategy and the associ-

ated temporary pause in U.S. marketing efforts, its 

earnings contribution for the fiscal year is expected  

 

 

 

to be zero. Earnings resulting from sales of the 

FYB201 product are not included in Formycon 

Group’s operating income because Bioeq AG is un-

der joint control and therefore necessarily ac-

counted for at equity. By additionally including 

these earnings, Adjusted EBITDA provides a 

broader measure of income and thus a more mean-

ingful reflection of operating performance. For fis-

cal year 2025, Formycon anticipates consolidated 

Adjusted EBITDA in the range of negative € 20.0 

million to negative € 10.0 million. Thus, full-year Ad-

justed EBITDA is expected to be in the same range 

as EBITDA.  

Key financial performance indicators 
in accordance with IFRS in € million           

   

2023 

actual   

Outlook 

for 2024 

per Annual 
Report 

2023   

Updated 

guidance for 
2024  

 

2024 
actual   

2024 
variance 
analysis   

2025 
forecast  

Revenue   77.7   55,0 to 65,0   55,0 to 65,0   69.7      55,0 to 65,0  

EBITDA   1.5   -25,0 to -15,0   -25,0 to -15,0   -13.7      -20,0 to -10,0  

Adjusted 

EBITDA 

  

13.3   -15,0 to -5,0   -5,0 to 5,0   -1.6   Higher at eq-

uity result due 

to stronger 
FYB201 perfor-
mance 

  -20,0 to -10,0 

 

Working 

capital 

  

38.9   10,0 to 20,0   35,0 to 45,0   55.1   Earlier EU ap-

proval of 
FYB202 leads 
to milestone 

payment 
which has al-
ready been 

deferred on 
the revenue 
side but im-

pacts liquidity 

  25,0 to 35,0 
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Working Capital 

Beyond the effect of net profit or loss, Formycon 

anticipates a reduction in consolidated working 

capital due to its investments into the FYB206 pro-

ject. These cash outflows should be largely offset 

by inflows from the shareholder credit line, which is 

currently undrawn. On this basis, working capital is 

expected to end the year in the range of € 25.0 

million to € 35.0 million. 

Medium-term outlook 

Formycon Group continues to strive for sustainable 

and EBITDA-profitable growth over the medium 

term. Management currently assumes that a posi-

tive EBITDA result could ideally be achieved as 

early as 2026 and not later than the 2027 fiscal 

year. 

Four factors in particular are expected to contribute 

significantly to Formycon’s success and the 

achievement of this goal over the short to medium 

term.

FYB201: Resumption of marketing following the 

temporary pause in the U.S. as well as increasing 

penetration in already established markets through 

the launch of the new pre-filled syringe product 

version, as well as development of other markets 

such as Latin America. 

FYB202: Solid establishment in key markets, in-

cluding the United States, Europe, Canada and 

other territories. 

FYB203: Agreement or resolution of the patent sit-

uation with the reference drug manufacturer and 

medium-term market launch. 

FYB206: Signing of regional or global partnerships 

deal, including upfront or milestone payments to 

Formycon.
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2025 financial outlook  
for Formycon AG 

2025 outlook 
Key financial performance indicators for Formycon AG 

Revenue   Medium increase 

EBITDA   Medium decrease 

Working capital   Slight decrease 

   

Revenue 

Unconsolidated revenue generated by the 

Formycon AG parent entity from passing on the 

costs of development projects internally within the 

Group is expected to end the year slightly below 

the prior-year level. As an opposing trend first reve-

nues from partnering of FYB206 are anticipated so 

that in total a medium increase is expected. 

EBITDA 

Full-year 2025 EBITDA is expected to be below the 

prior-year level. Projects FYB201, FYB202 and 

FYB203 are expected to be roughly EBITDA-neu-

tral to the unconsolidated parent company, as ex-

penses incurred are passed on internally within the 

Group. EBITDA will continue to be impacted by ris-

ing investment in other product development ef-

forts, particularly into Formycon’s own projects 

FYB207, FYB208, FYB209 and the new FYB210 

project. Operating earnings from the FYB201 pro-

ject are received through the profit transfer agree-

ment with Formycon Project 201 GmbH and thus 

fall outside the scope of EBITDA. Operating earn-

ings from the FYB202 project are reported as in-

vestment income from FYB202 Project GmbH and 

are thus likewise excluded from parent-level 

EBITDA. 

Working capital 

Beyond the effect of net income, Formycon antici-

pates an inflow to working capital from a partial 

availment under the shareholder credit line. It is 

therefore expected that working capital will de-

crease only slightly. 

Summary statement by Executive Board on ex-

pected future development  

Formycon is not planning any significant changes 

to its corporate goals or strategy. We aim to con-

tinue expanding our position as a global biophar-

maceutical company with an exclusive focus on bi-

osimilars while maintaining our high standards of 

performance and quality. To achieve this goal, 

Formycon will continue to invest heavily into the ex-

pansion and development of our own pipeline and 

in-house capacities so that we will be able to com-

mercialize new biosimilar products on a regular ba-

sis. 

In parallel with this strategic thrust, Formycon is 

pursuing an organizational growth strategy so that 

we have the resources to compete as a leading 

and sustainably profitable company within the bio-

similars market. In order to achieve this strategic vi-

sion, the Executive Board is open to considering 

strategic cooperation arrangements and integration 

in selected areas of the manufacturing process as 

well as to building Formycon’s own commercializa-

tion capabilities in certain geographies. Over both 

the short and long term, our management focus will 

continue to be on operational excellence and on 

the generation of stable cash flows.  
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Takeover-related  disclo-
sures (in accordance 
with Sections 289a and 
315a of the German 
Commercial Code 
(Hadelsgesetzbuch)) and 
explanatory report 

I. Composition of the subscribed capital 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s share 

capital held by the shareholders amounted to 

EUR 17,664,427.00, divided into 17,664,427 ordinary 

bearer shares with no-par value, each with a no-

tional value in the share capital of EUR 1.00. The 

shares are fully paid up. All shares carry the same 

rights and obligations. The rights and obligations of 

shareholders are based on the provisions of the 

German Stock Corporation Act (“AktG”) and the 

Company's articles of association (“Articles of Asso-

ciation”). 

II. Restrictions affecting voting rights or the trans-

fer of shares 

Each share grants one vote at the General Meeting 

and is decisive for the shareholders' share in the 

Company's profit. This does not apply to treasury 

shares held by the Company, which do not entitle 

the Company to any rights. As of December 31, 

2024, the Company did not hold any treasury 

shares. In the cases of Section 136 AktG, voting 

rights from the shares concerned are excluded by 

law. 

III. Direct or indirect shareholdings exceeding 10 

percent of the voting rights 

As of December 31, 2024, the following sharehold-

ers held direct or indirect stakes exceeding 10% of 

the voting rights, according to the voting rights 

notifications we received under the German Securi-

ties Trading Act (WpHG): 

On November 11, 2024, Thomas Peter Maier in-

formed the Company that he indirectly holds 

24.04% of the Company's voting rights through 

Santo Holding (Deutschland) GmbH, Munich, Ger-

many. 

On November 11, 2024, Peter Wendeln informed 

the Company that he holds 13.25% of the Compa-

ny's voting rights, partially directly and partially indi-

rectly through Wpart GmbH and Wen.Co.Invest 

GmbH, both based in Garrel, Germany. 

IV. Holders of shares with special rights granting 

control powers 

There are no shares with special rights that grant 

control powers. 

V. Type of voting right control if employees partic-

ipate in the capital 

Employees who hold shares in the Company exer-

cise their control rights from shares directly in the 

same way as other shareholders in accordance 

with the statutory provisions and the Articles of As-

sociation. 

VI. Statutory provisions and provisions of the Arti-

cles of Association on the appointment and dis-

missal of members of the Executive Board and 

amendments to the Articles of Association 

Members of the Executive Board are appointed and 

dismissed by the Supervisory Board in accordance 

with Sections 84 and 85 AktG. Pursuant to Section 

5 para. 1 of the Articles of Association, the Execu-

tive Board consists of one or more members. Fur-

thermore, the Supervisory Board determines the 

number of Executive Board members. 

Amendments to the Articles of Association are 

made in accordance with Sections 119 para. 1 no. 6, 

179 in conjunction with Section 133 AktG, unless 

otherwise stipulated in the Articles of Association. 

The authority to make amendments that only affect 

the wording is transferred to the Supervisory Board 

in accordance with Section 8 para. 2 of the Articles 

of Association. In addition, the Supervisory Board is 

authorized by the Articles of Association to amend 

Section 4 of the Articles of Association to reflect 



Combined Management Report — Formycon AG  Annual Report 2024 113 

 

 

the respective utilization of the authorized and con-

ditional capitals and upon the expiration of the re-

spective authorization and utilization periods. 

The General Meeting passes its resolutions in ac-

cordance with Section 14 para. 2 of the Articles of 

Association with a simple majority of the votes cast, 

unless the law mandatorily requires otherwise. If 

the law prescribes a capital majority in addition to a 

majority of votes for resolutions of the General 

Meeting, a simple majority of the share capital rep-

resented at the time the resolution is passed is suf-

ficient, insofar as legally permissible. Resolutions of 

the General Meeting to amend the Articles of Asso-

ciation require therefore a simple majority of the 

votes cast and a simple majority of the share capital 

represented when the resolution is passed, unless 

the law mandatorily requires a resolution with a ma-

jority of at least three-quarters of the represented 

share capital. 

VII. Authorization of the Executive Board to issue 

or repurchase shares 

The Executive Board is authorized, with the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the 

Company's share capital on one or more occasions 

by a total of up to EUR 8,828,451.00 in the period 

up to June 11, 2029 by issuing new no-par value 

bearer shares in exchange for cash and/or non-

cash contributions (“Authorized Capital 2024/I”). 

The Executive Board is authorized, with the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude share-

holder subscription rights for one or more capital 

increases within the scope of the Authorized Capi-

tal 2024/I in accordance with the resolution of the 

General Meeting. The Authorized Capital 2024/I 

has not been utilized so far. 

Furthermore, the company's share capital is condi-

tionally increased by up to EUR 724,000.00 (Condi-

tional Capital 2020). This conditional capital in-

crease will only be carried out to the extent that 

subscription rights have been issued according to 

the Stock Option Program 2020, in accordance 

with the authorization of the General Meeting of 

December 10, 2020, and the holders of the sub-

scription rights exercise their rights, and the com-

pany does not grant treasury shares to fulfill these 

rights. In the fiscal year 2024, no stock options 

from the Stock Option Program 2020 were exer-

cised. 

In addition, the share capital is conditionally in-

creased by up to EUR 6,497,125.00 (“Conditional 

Capital 2022”). This conditional capital increase will 

only be implemented to the extent that holders or 

creditors of option or conversion rights or those ob-

ligated to convert or exercise options from issued 

convertible or warrant bonds, which are issued or 

guaranteed by the Company or a group company 

under Section 18 AktG based on the authorization 

resolution of the General Meeting on June 30, 

2022, until June 29, 2027, exercise their option or 

conversion rights or, if they are obligated to con-

vert, fulfill their conversion obligation, or to the ex-

tent that the Company exercises a right to grant 

shares instead of paying the due cash amount, un-

less a cash settlement is provided or own shares or 

shares of another listed company are used for ser-

vice. No capital increase has yet been carried out 

from the Conditional Capital 2022. 

Furthermore, the Company’s share capital is condi-

tionally increased by up to EUR 225,450.00 

through the issuance of up to 225,450 bearer 

shares (“Conditional Capital 2015”). This conditional 

capital increase will only be implemented to the ex-

tent that, within the framework of the Stock Option 

Program 2015, under the authorization of the Gen-

eral Meeting on June 30, 2015, stock options have 

been issued up to and including June 29, 2020, to 

members of the Executive Board and employees of 

the Company, as well as to members of the man-

agement and employees of companies affiliated 

with the Company. Holders of the subscription 

rights exercised their rights, and the Company did 

not grant treasury shares to fulfill these rights. In 

the fiscal year 2024, 7,525 stock options from the 

Stock Option Program 2015 were exercised, and 

the Company’s share capital was thus increased by 

EUR 7,525 through the issuance of 7,525 new 

shares from the Conditional Capital 2015. 

The Annual General Meeting on June 12, 2024, au-

thorized the Executive Board, with the consent of 

the Supervisory Board, to acquire up to 10% of the 

share capital existing at the time of the resolution 

or, if lower, at the time of exercising the authoriza-

tion, while adhering to the principle of equal 
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treatment until June 11, 2029 (inclusive). The shares 

acquired under this authorization, together with 

other treasury shares acquired and held by the 

Company, or attributable to the Company under 

Section 71a et seq. AktG, may not exceed 10% of 

the respective share capital at any time. The acqui-

sition may be made through the stock exchange, a 

public purchase offer to all shareholders, or a pub-

lic invitation to submit sales offers. The Executive 

Board is authorized, with the Supervisory Board's 

approval, to use the shares acquired under this au-

thorization for any legitimate purpose, including (i) 

retiring them without any further resolution by the 

General Meeting, (ii) conducting a scrip dividend, 

(iii) offering, promising, and transferring them to in-

dividuals who are or have been employees of the 

Company or an affiliated company under Section 15 

AktG, or to corporate officers under employee 

share plans or other share-based programs, (iv) ser-

vicing stock options issued under the Stock Option 

Program 2020, (v) offering them to third parties in 

exchange for non-cash contributions, (vi) selling 

them to third parties in exchange for cash if the 

price is not significantly below the stock market 

price, and (vii) fulfilling acquisition obligations or 

rights from convertible bonds, option bonds, profit-

sharing rights, and/or income bonds (or combina-

tions of these instruments) with conversion or op-

tion rights or obligations. The Company did not ac-

quire any treasury shares in the fiscal year 2024. 

VIII. Significant agreements of the Company sub-

ject to a change of control due to a takeover offer 

and compensation agreements concluded with 

members of the Executive Board or employees in 

the event of a takeover offer 

The license agreement regarding FYB202 con-

cluded between FYB202 Project GmbH as licensor 

and Fresenius Kabi SwissBioSim GmbH as licensee 

provides for a right of termination of the parties in 

particular in the event that one party is directly or 

indirectly controlled by a competitor for FYB202. 

The Executive Board members have a special right 

of termination if a third party acquires more than 

30% of the voting rights in the Company within the 

meaning of Section 29, 35 para. 1 sentence 1 of the 

German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act 

(WpÜG) through the acquisition of shares or 

otherwise or if the Company enters into a domina-

tion agreement with another company (so-called 

change of control). In such cases, each Executive 

Board member can terminate its service contract 

with a notice period of three months to the end of a 

calendar month and will receive as severance: 

— the fixed remuneration for the remaining term 

of the service contract together with all annual 

bonuses achieved up to this point, and 

— the annual bonuses for the original remaining 

term of the service contract in the average 

amount of the annual bonuses paid to date, 

— but at least the fixed remuneration for a full 

year of service plus the annual bonus, provided 

that the remaining term of the service contract 

is at least one year, 

— however, no more than two years' remunera-

tion excluding annual bonuses or fringe bene-

fits and no more than would be payable for the 

remaining term of the service contract. 

In the event of special termination, the Executive 

Board member also has the right to demand the 

settlement of allocated stock options and receive 

their equivalent value in cash from the Company. 

Should a third party acquire at least 50% of the vot-

ing rights in the Company through the purchase of 

shares or otherwise gain controlling influence, each 

Executive Board member or any other holder of 

stock options has the right to exercise their allo-

cated stock options early. 

If a third party acquires, through the purchase of 

shares or otherwise, directly and/or indirectly at 

least 50% of the voting rights in the Company, or if 

a comparable event or occurrence arises in the 

view of the Supervisory Board, the Long-Term In-

centive Plan for the Executive Board 2024 (LTI Plan) 

ends, and the allocated (virtual) Performance Share 

Units (PSUs), proportionately reduced based on 

whole calendar months within the respective vest-

ing period, are immediately paid out with a perfor-

mance factor of 100%. 

Other than this, the Company does not maintain 

any significant agreements that are subject to a 
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change of control due to a takeover offer, nor any 

compensation agreements made with members of 

executive management or employees in the event 

of a takeover offer. 
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Corporate governance 
statement pursuant to 
Sections 289f, 315d of 
the German Commercial 
Code (Handels- 
gesetzbuch)63 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of 

Formycon AG (also referred to as “Company” and 

together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Group” 

or “Formycon”) report in this statement on the Com-

pany’s corporate governance for the fiscal year 

from January 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024, pursu-

ant to Sections 289f, 315d of the German Commer-

cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – “HGB”) and Princi-

ple 23 of the German Corporate Governance Code 

(Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex) as 

amended on April 28, 2022 (“GCGC”). 

At Formycon, corporate governance signifies re-

sponsible company management and supervision 

aimed at sustainable value creation, encompassing 

all areas of the Group. Key pillars of this corporate 

culture include transparent reporting and corporate 

communication, management aligned with the in-

terests of all stakeholders, trustful collaboration be-

tween the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board, 

and employees, and adherence to applicable laws. 

The Company and its governing bodies are always 

aware of the Company’s role in society and its so-

cial responsibility in their actions. 

1. General information 

As a stock corporation under German law, the 

Company has three governing bodies: the Execu-

tive Board, the Supervisory Board, and the General 

Meeting. Their tasks and powers are primarily de-

termined by the German Stock Corporation Act 

 
63  Unaudited information 

(Aktiengesetz – “AktG”), the Company’s articles of 

association (“Articles of Association”), and the rules 

of procedure. As a publicly listed company, the 

Company’s corporate governance also follows the 

recommendations of the GCGC as amended from 

time to time. 

2. Declaration of Conformity with the 
German Corporate Governance 
Code (GCGC) 

On March 21, 2025, the Company’s Executive 

Board and the Supervisory Board issued the follow-

ing declaration pursuant to Section 161 para. 1 sen-

tence 1 AktG: 

Declaration by the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board of Formycon AG on the recom-

mendations of the “Government Commission on 

the German Corporate Governance Code” pursu-

ant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corpora-

tion Act (AktG) 

The management board and the supervisory board 

of Formycon AG (“Company”) declare pursuant to 

Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 

(Aktiengesetz – AktG) that the recommendations of 

the “Government Commission on the German Cor-

porate Governance Code” in the version dated 

April 28, 2022, published by the Federal Ministry of 

Jus-tice in the official section of the Federal Ga-

zette on June 27, 2022 (“GCGC”), have been com-

plied with since the first admission of the Com-

pany’s shares to trading on a regulated market on 

November 11, 2024 (“Uplisting”), and will continue 

to be complied with in the future, with the following 

exceptions: 

Recommendation A.3 of the GCGC: 

Pursuant to recommendation A.3 of the GCGC, the 

internal control system and the risk management 

system shall also cover sustainability-related objec-

tives, unless required by law anyway; this shall in-

clude processes and systems for collecting and 

processing sustainability-related data. With its inter-

nal control system and risk management system, 

the Company strictly follows the requirements of 

the German Stock Corporation Act. The Company 
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currently does not implement sustainability-related 

objectives that go beyond these requirements in 

the interest of lean and functioning administrative 

processes. However, the Company attaches great 

importance to ensuring that sustainability-related 

objectives are adequately considered in the corpo-

rate strategy and corporate planning in the future. 

Therefore, the Company’s internal control system 

and risk management system shall be extended to 

sustainability-related objectives in the future. 

Recommendation C.10 of the GCGC: 

Pursuant to recommendation C.10 of the GCGC, the 

chairperson of the supervisory board shall be inde-

pendent from the company and the management 

board. As a precautionary measure, a deviation is 

declared from this recommendation with respect to 

Wolfgang Essler, the current chairman of the super-

visory board of the Company (“Supervisory Board”). 

Members of the supervisory board are to be con-

sidered independent from the company and its 

management board if they have no personal or 

business relationship with the company or its man-

agement board that may cause a substantial and 

not merely temporary conflict of interest. Mr. Essler 

is managing director of Santo Holding (Deutsch-

land) GmbH, which holds 24.04% of the shares of 

the Company and, therefore, is the Company’s larg-

est shareholder. There are business relations be-

tween Santo Holding (Deutschland) GmbH or its af-

filiates and the Company. These circumstances did 

not or do not constitute a conflict of interest, nor 

did they or do they impair the performance of the 

duties of Mr. Essler as chairman of the Supervisory 

Board. However, in certain cases, the Company 

may pursue interests that conflict with the interests 

of Santo Holding (Deutschland) GmbH. 

In all other respects, in particular regarding the 

chairperson of the Audit Committee, the recom-

mendation C.10 of the GCGC has been and will be 

complied with. 

Recommendations G.1 and G.2 of the GCGC: 

Recommendations G.1 and G.2 of the GCGC con-

tain requirements that the Supervisory Board shall 

take into account when determining the remunera-

tion system for the members of the management 

board of the Company (“Management Board”) in 

accordance with Section 87a(1) AktG and when de-

termining the specific remuneration for the Man-

agement Board members on the basis of this remu-

neration system. At the time of the Uplisting, the 

Supervisory Board had not yet adopted a remuner-

ation system for the Management Board members 

in accordance with Section 87a(1) AktG and recom-

mendation G.1 of the GCGC. The Supervisory Board 

intends to adopt a remuneration system for the 

Management Board members that complies with 

Section 87a(1) AktG and recommendation G.1 of the 

GCGC and on the basis of which it determines the 

specific remuneration for the Management Board 

members in accordance with recommendation G.2 

of the GCGC. The remuneration system for the 

Management Board members is to be proposed to 

the annual general meeting of the Company in 

June 2025 for approval and to be implemented by 

this date in all existing Management Board service 

contracts. 

Recommendation G.7 of the GCGC: 

According to recommendation G.7 sentence 1 of 

the GCGC, the Supervisory Board shall determine 

the performance criteria for all variable remunera-

tion components for each Management Board 

member for the upcoming financial year. In Decem-

ber 2024, the Management Board members were 

allocated (virtual) performance share units (“PSUs”). 

The PSUs have a performance period from 1 Octo-

ber 2024 to September 30, 2028. The performance 

criteria for the PSUs were also determined in De-

cember 2024 and therefore not “for the upcoming 

financial year”. 

The reason for setting the performance criteria in 

December 2024 was that the PSUs were issued on 

the basis of a new long-term incentive plan devel-

oped in the 2024 financial year (“LTI Plan 2024”), 

and this LTI Plan 2024 was adopted after the Up-

listing. 

In all other respects, recommenda�on G.7 of the 
GCGC was complied with. It is intended that rec-
ommenda�on G.7 of the GCGC will be fully com-
plied with in the future.  
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Recommendations G.9, G.10 and G.12 of the 
GCGC: 

According to recommendation G.9 of the GCGC, af-

ter the end of every financial year, the Supervisory 

Board shall determine the amount of the individual 

remuneration components to be granted for this 

year depending on the achievement of targets, 

whereby the achievement of targets shall be com-

prehensible in terms of reason and amount. Ac-

cording to recommendation G.10 sentence 2 of the 

GCGC, the Management Board member shall only 

have access to the granted long-term variable re-

muneration components after four years. Finally, 

recommendation G.12 of the GCGC stipulates that 

in the event of the termination of a Management 

Board service contract, the payment of outstanding 

variable remuneration components attributable to 

the period up to the termination of the contract 

shall be made in accordance with the originally 

agreed targets and comparison parameters and in 

accordance with the due dates or holding periods 

specified in the contract. 

The LTI Plan 2024 provides in the event of a 

change of control (i.e. the direct and/or indirect 

holding of at least 50% of the voting rights in the 

Company through the acquisition of shares or in 

any other way by a third party, the conclusion of a 

domination agreement between the Company as 

the controlled company and another company as 

the controlling company or a comparable event), 

for the LTI Plan 2024 to end and the number of 

PSUs granted to be paid out on a pro rata temporis 

basis with a performance factor of 100% regardless 

of the specific target achievement upon termination 

of the LTI Plan 2024. 

In all other respects, recommendations G.9, G.10 

and G.12 of the GCGC have been and will be com-

plied with. 

Planegg-Martinsried, March 21, 2025 

 

The Management Board        The Supervisory Board 

The declaration of conformity is available on the 

Company’s website at 

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-rela-
tions/governance/. 

  

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/governance/
https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/governance/
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3. Remuneration system and 
remuneration report 

The Supervisory Board will present a compensation 

system for the Executive Board members to the 

Company’s Annual General Meeting, scheduled for 

June 18, 2025, for approval. This system complies 

with Section 87a para. 1 AktG and recommendation 

G.1 of the GCGC. It serves as the basis for determin-

ing the specific remuneration for the Executive 

Board members in accordance with recommenda-

tion G.2 of the GCGC. The remuneration system for 

the members of the Executive Board shall be imple-

mented in all existing Executive Board contracts by 

the Company’s Annual General Meeting scheduled 

for June 18, 2025 at the latest. 

The compensation system and the remuneration 

for the Supervisory Board members must be sub-

mitted for resolution to the Company’s Annual Gen-

eral Meeting, scheduled for June 18, 2025, pursu-

ant to Section 113 para. 3 AktG. 

The remuneration report for the fiscal year 2024 

and the auditor’s note pursuant to Section 162 AktG 

are publicly accessible on the Company's website 

at https://www.formycon.com/investoren/gov-
ernance/. 

4. Executive Board 

The Executive Board manages the Company on its 

own responsibility with the aim of sustainable value 

creation and in the interest of the Company, taking 

into account the concerns of shareholders, employ-

ees, and other groups associated with the com-

pany (stakeholders). 

Overview 

Pursuant to Section 5 para. 1 sentence 1 of the Arti-

cles of Association, the Executive Board consists of 

one or more members. The Supervisory Board ap-

points the Executive Board members and deter-

mines their number. As of December 31, 2024, the 

Executive Board was comprised of four members. 

There are no committees of the Executive Board. 

The Executive Board develops the Company’s stra-

tegic direction, aligns it with the Supervisory Board, 

and ensures its implementation. It ensures compli-

ance with legal provisions and internal guidelines 

and works towards their adherence throughout the 

Group (compliance). In addition, it is responsible for 

an internal control system, risk management sys-

tem, and internal audit system that are appropriate 

and effective given the Company’s scope of busi-

ness activities and the risk situation. The internal 

control system and the risk management system 

also include a compliance management system tai-

lored to the Company’s risk situation. The key char-

acteristics of the entire internal control system and 

the risk management system are described in the 

management report, which also assesses the ade-

quacy and effectiveness of these systems. 

The Executive Board members are solely commit-

ted to the Company’s interests. In their decisions, 

they may neither pursue personal interests nor ex-

ploit business opportunities of the Company or 

other companies of the Formycon Group for them-

selves, any related natural or legal person or for 

any other institution or association in which or for 

which they are active. Undertaking secondary activ-

ities, in particular board positions at companies out-

side the Group, requires prior approval from the Su-

pervisory Board. Each Executive Board member 

must promptly disclose any existing or potential 

conflicts of interest to the Supervisory Board and 

inform the other members about the nature of such 

conflicts and that the conflict has been disclosed to 

the Supervisory Board. No conflicts of interest were 

reported in the fiscal year 2024. The Executive 

Board members are also subject to a comprehen-

sive non-compete obligation during their member-

ship on the board and for the duration of their ser-

vice contract. 
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Composition 

In the fiscal year 2024, the Execu�ve Board con-
sisted of the following members:  

 

Dr. Stefan Glombitza 

— Born 1965 

— Chair of the Executive Board (since Janu-

ary 1, 2025) and Chief Executive Of-

ficer/Chief Operations Officer 

— First appointment with effect from October 1, 

2016 

— Appointed until December 31, 2027 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024): none 

Nicola Mikulcik 

— Born 1971 

— Member of the Executive Board and Chief 

Business Officer 

— First appointment with effect from June 1, 

2022 

— Appointed until May 31, 2027 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024): Member of the 

Board of Directors of Bioeq AG, Zug, Swit-

zerland 

Dr. Andreas Seidl 

— Born 1969 

— Member of the Executive Board and Chief 

Scientific Officer 

— First appointment with effect from July 1, 

2022 

— Appointed until June 30, 2027 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024): none 

Enno Spillner 

— Born 1970 

— Member of the Executive Board and Chief 

Financial Officer 

— First appointment with effect from April 1, 

2023 

— Appointed until March 31, 2026 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024): Member of the 

Supervisory Board of NANOBIOTIX SA à di-

rectoire (s.a.i.), Paris, France 

The curricula vitae of the current Executive Board 

members are published and regularly updated on 

the Company's website at 

https://www.formycon.com/unterneh-
men/vorstand/. Information on the remuneration 

of the Executive Board members can be found in 

the remuneration report. 

Target quotas for women on the Executive Board 
and at the management level below the Executive 
Board 

The Supervisory Board has set the target quota for 

the proportion of women on the Executive Board at 

a minimum of 25 percent (equivalent to one woman 

on a four-member board), in accordance with Sec-

tion 111 para. 5 AktG. It has determined that this tar-

get for the women's quota should be achieved by 

February 26, 2030. In the fiscal year 2024, the es-

tablished target quota for women on the Executive 

Board was achieved. 

https://www.formycon.com/unternehmen/vorstand/
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For the proportion of women at the management 

level below the Executive Board, the Executive 

Board set a target quota of at least 35 percent in 

accordance with Section 76 para. 4 AktG, with the 

objective of reaching this target by February 26, 

2030. This target quota was achieved in the fiscal 

year 2024. The management level under the Exec-

utive Board consists of employees of Formycon AG 

who hold the titles of Vice President, Senior Direc-

tor, Director, or Associate Director. As of December 

31, 2024, this management level comprised 32 em-

ployees, of whom 13 were women (representing a 

proportion of around 40 percent). Due to the Com-

pany’s small number of employees and flat man-

agement structure, there is only one management 

level below the Executive Board, and therefore a 

target quota for women was set exclusively for this 

level. 

Diversity concept for the Executive Board 

The composition of the Executive Board is based 

on the professional qualifications of its members for 

their respective areas of responsibility, proven man-

agement experience and demonstrated perfor-

mance and expertise. In addition to these criteria, 

the Supervisory Board also considers diversity 

when appointing new members to the Executive 

Board. 

The Executive Board members should meet the fol-

lowing profile: 

— The Supervisory Board strives for sufficient 

diversity in terms of personality, gender, in-

ternationality, professional background, ex-

pertise and experience as well as age distri-

bution. In evaluating potential candidates 

for Executive Board positions, diversity 

should be adequately considered early in 

the selection process. Together with the ob-

jectives for composition and the compe-

tence profile, this ensures that the Executive 

Board is constituted to ensure qualified 

company management. 

— The Company’s business operations involve 

a wide range of cross-border activities. 

Therefore, a reasonable number of 

Executive Board members should have 

gained experience in internationally active 

companies through their education or pro-

fessional activities. 

The decision on filling a specific position on the Ex-

ecutive Board is always driven by the Company’s 

interest, considering all circumstances of the indi-

vidual case. The Supervisory Board takes into ac-

count the goals for composition and the require-

ments outlined in the diversity concept during the 

selection process and appointment of Executive 

Board members. 

All mentioned criteria are fulfilled or observed. The 

Executive Board is composed in accordance with 

the requirements of the diversity concept for the 

Executive Board. 

As a rule, only individuals who have not yet 

reached the age of 65 at the time of appointment 

should be appointed as Executive Board members 

(see recommendation B.5 of the GCGC). 

Long-term succession planning 

Together with the Executive Board, the Supervisory 

Board ensures long-term succession planning. This 

planning is based on discussions with the Executive 

Board members and impressions formed from sen-

ior executives who present during Supervisory 

Board meetings. In this manner, the Supervisory 

Board gains a clear understanding of potential suc-

cessors within the Group. 

Working methods 

The Supervisory Board has established rules of 

procedure for the Executive Board which include a 

distribution of responsibilities plan outlining the di-

vision of areas among the individual board mem-

bers. 
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In the fiscal year 2024, the responsibilities of the 

Executive Board members were as follows: 

 

Dr. Stefan Glombitza 

Chair of the Executive Board                                

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) & Chief Operations 
Officer (COO) 

— Corporate strategy and corporate develop-

ment 

— Management of operational technical devel-

opment units 

— Program management incl. PMO 

— Protein(analytics) - and Process Sciences 

— Drug Product Development 

— Regulatory affairs 

— Quality Management 

 

Nicola Mikulcik 

Chief Business Officer (CBO) 

— Business development, in particular cooper-

ations (e.g. licensing, co-development, stra-

tegic partnerships) and competition monitor-

ing 

— Purchasing management 

— Head of Launch Management and Supply 

Chain 

— Head of Patent Litigation 

— Representation of the Company in bioeq AG  

 

Dr. Andreas Seidl 

Chief Scientific Officer (CSO) 

— Pre-clinical development 

— Clinical development 

— Clinical bioanalytics 

— IP (FTO analyses and patent protection for 

development projects) 

— Cross-divisional innovation and technology 

management 

— Occupational safety 

 

Enno Spillner 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 

— Finance (accounting, controlling, treasury, 

taxes) 

— Communication (investor relations, public 

relations, internal communication) 

— ESG 

— Legal, Governance & Compliance 

— Risk management 

— IT (IT, digitalization, cyber security) 

— Human Resources 

— Facility management 
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The Executive Board members share overall re-

sponsibility for managing the Company’s affairs. 

The rules of procedure for the Executive Board 

specify certain matters of particular importance and 

significance that require a decision by the entire 

Executive Board. Notwithstanding the overall re-

sponsibility, each member independently manages 

the business area assigned to them according to 

the rules of procedure. The management of all 

business areas is uniformly oriented towards the 

objectives established by the Executive Board’s 

resolutions. Each Executive Board member must al-

ways subordinate their area-specific interests to the 

success and well-being of the Company and the 

Group. 

The Executive Board members work collegially, 

continuously informing each other and particularly 

the Chair of the Executive Board about significant 

actions, events, intentions, and any special risks or 

impending losses. Any Executive Board member 

can request information about specific business 

matters from another member at any time, concern-

ing the relevant member’s area. The Chair of the 

Executive Board coordinates the content of the 

business areas and is responsible for the internal 

oversight of each area, ensuring that the manage-

ment aligns with the Executive Board’s goals and 

plans. 

The Executive Board typically meets every two 

weeks. Meetings must be held if the Company’s in-

terest requires it or if an Executive Board member 

requests a meeting, specifying the topic for discus-

sion. The Chair of the Executive Board convenes 

and chairs the meetings unless regular meetings 

are scheduled. If the Chair and, if appointed, its 

deputy cannot attend, the meeting is chaired by a 

member appointed by the Chair, or otherwise by 

the most senior member present. 

Board resolutions are typically adopted during 

meetings. However, upon request by an Executive 

Board member, meetings can also be conducted 

via telephone conference or other electronic com-

munication means (in particular video conferenc-

ing), allowing individual Board members to join by 

phone or other electronic means if no member 

promptly objects to this approach. In such cases, 

resolutions can be made via telephone conference 

or through other electronic communication meth-

ods. Resolutions can also be adopted outside of 

meeting – in written, verbal, telephonic, email, or 

other electronic formats, or any combination 

thereof – as well as in combination with meetings, 

provided a member requests it and no other mem-

ber promptly objects to this procedure. Any Execu-

tive Board member who did not participate in such 

a decision-making process should be promptly in-

formed about the resolutions made. Minutes of the 

Executive Board's resolutions and meetings should 

be recorded and signed by the chair of the respec-

tive meeting or, for resolutions outside of meetings, 

by the Chair of the Executive Board. 

The Executive Board has a quorum if all members 

have been properly invited and at least half of its 

members participate in the resolution. Resolutions 

should ideally be unanimous. If unanimity cannot 

be achieved, resolutions are passed by a simple 

majority of the participating members, unless the 

law specifies otherwise. 

Any Executive Board member may propose that 

non-members be included in discussions on spe-

cific matters, provided there is no objection from 

the entire Executive Board. 
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Cooperation with the Supervisory Board 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 

work closely and trustingly together for the benefit 

of the Company. The Supervisory Board monitors 

and advises the Executive Board on the manage-

ment of the Company. In decisions of fundamental 

importance, the Supervisory Board is directly in-

volved. 

The Executive Board reports to the Supervisory 

Board regularly, promptly, comprehensively, and 

usually in text form, about all matters relevant to the 

Company or the Group, in particular regarding strat-

egy, planning, business development, risk situation, 

risk management, finance, and compliance. The Ex-

ecutive Board must address deviations in business 

performance from the agreed objectives outlined in 

the established plans, stating the reasons for such 

deviations. 

For management measures of fundamental im-

portance, the Supervisory Board has established in 

the Executive Board’s rules of procedure that cer-

tain actions require its prior approval. In addition, 

the Supervisory Board can decide to subject addi-

tional transactions or measures, not listed in the Ex-

ecutive Board’s rules of procedure, to its approval. 

Corporate governance practices 

Compliance and comprehensive Code of Conduct 

For the Company, business integrity is of utmost 

priority. Therefore, the Group understands compli-

ance not only as adherence to applicable national 

and international laws and regulations but also as a 

commitment to ethical and moral values. To this 

end, the Company has implemented certain compli-

ance measures tailored to the Company's risk situa-

tion, which supports employees and executives in 

meeting these standards. 

The Legal & Compliance department reports di-

rectly to the Chief Financial Officer and oversees 

the compliance. The Executive Board is responsible 

for ensuring compliance with relevant measures 

and processes, legal requirements, and internal 

company policies. Within the Supervisory Board, 

 
64  Unaudited information 

the audit committee primarily deals with compli-

ance issues regularly, ensuring a reporting line to 

the Supervisory Board. 

The Group-wide whistleblower system allows em-

ployees to anonymously and securely report legal 

violations within the company. The whistleblower 

system is available at https://formycon.integ-
rityline.com/?lang=en. This system is also availa-

ble to third parties. The Company has adopted a 

“Whistleblower Policy” related to the whistleblower 

system, which is published on its website at 

https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainabil-
ity/reports-downloads/. 

The Company has issued a Supplier Code of Con-

duct (“Supplier CoC”). These principles shall form 

the basis for all deliveries of goods and services. 

The Supplier CoC is published on the Company’s 

website at https://www.formycon.com/en/sus-
tainability/reports-downloads/.64 

The Code of Conduct summarizes Formycon’s 

compliance requirements, which are binding for the 

Company, management, and every individual em-

ployee. The Code of Conduct is available on the 

Company’s website at 

https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainabil-
ity/reports-downloads/. 

The Code of Conduct regulates in particular: 

— the protection of Formycon's competitive 

advantage and third-party intellectual prop-

erty rights, 

— cooperation with authorities, 

— fairness in competition and strict compli-

ance with antitrust law, 

— integrity in business life, 

— separation of business and private interests, 

https://formycon.integrityline.com/?lang=en
https://formycon.integrityline.com/?lang=en
https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainability/reports-downloads/
https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainability/reports-downloads/
https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainability/reports-downloads/
https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainability/reports-downloads/
https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainability/reports-downloads/
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— equal opportunities in securities trading and 

reporting, 

— data protection and data security, 

— environment, health and safety protection, 

and 

— compliance for data processing and finan-
cial reporting. 

The Code of Conduct is available to employees in 

both German and English. 

Employees can contact the Company’s Compliance 

Officer or submit an anonymous report via the whis-

tleblower system at any time regarding questions 

or suspicions of violations of the Code of Conduct. 

Other compliance-related matters, such as the han-

dling of inside information, are governed by Group-

wide binding policies. In the event of changes to 

the legal framework, information is updated, and 

the affected employees are informed through train-

ing sessions. 

Sustainability 

The Executive Board ensures that the risks and op-

portunities associated with social and environmen-

tal factors for the Company, as well as the ecologi-

cal and social impacts of business activities, are 

systematically identified and assessed. In the cor-

porate strategy, ecological and social goals are 

given appropriate consideration alongside long-

term economic objectives. Corporate planning in-

cludes not only corresponding financial goals but 

also relevant sustainability-related targets. Compre-

hensive information on sustainability can be found 

on the Company’s website at 

https://www.formycon.com/en/sustainabil-
ity/responsibility/. 

Risk management system and internal control 
system 

The company has an integrated risk management 

system. The aim of central risk management is to 

 
65 Unaudited information 

identify risks and opportunities at an early stage, 

mitigate financial, environmental and strategic 

losses, optimize the risk profile and ensure compli-

ance with key corporate principles. Risk manage-

ment is therefore an important component of cor-

porate management. The internal control system is 

regularly reviewed by the Management Board and 

the auditor for appropriateness and effectiveness. 

The company has taken measures to eliminate any 

weaknesses identified and to continuously improve 

the processes and systems. 

The overall assessment of the appropriateness and 

effectiveness of the internal control system and the 

risk management system, taking into account the 

scope of the company's business activities and risk 

situation, did not reveal any indications that these 

systems are inadequate or ineffective.65 

Further information can be found in the risk and op-

portunity report. 
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5. Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board has the task of monitoring 

and advising the Executive Board on the manage-

ment of the Company. 

Overview 

Pursuant to Section 6 para. 1 sentence 1 of the Arti-

cles of Association, the Supervisory Board consists 

of five members. The Supervisory Board members 

are elected by the General Meeting with a simple 

majority. Elections for the Supervisory Board are 

generally conducted as individual votes. 

The Supervisory Board appoints the Executive 

Board members and determines their compensa-

tion. It can revoke the appointment of an Executive 

Board member for a significant reason. The Super-

visory Board monitors and advises the Executive 

Board in the management of the Company. This 

monitoring and advisory function also specifically 

includes sustainability issues. The Supervisory 

Board is involved in decisions of fundamental im-

portance for Formycon. 

At regular intervals, the Supervisory Board dis-

cusses matters of strategy, planning, business de-

velopment, risk situation, risk management, compli-

ance, and other significant events important for as-

sessing the situation, development, and manage-

ment of the Company and the Group. It reviews the 

annual and consolidated financial statements, the 

combined management report of the Company and 

the Group, and the Executive Board’s proposal for 

the appropriation of net income. It adopts the Com-

pany’s annual financial statements and approves 

the consolidated financial statements, based on the 

preliminary review results by the Audit Committee 

and considering the auditors’ reports. The Supervi-

sory Board decides on the proposal for the appro-

priation of net income and the Supervisory Board 

report to the General Meeting. It also addresses the 

Company’s sustainability reporting. 

The Supervisory Board members are committed 

solely to the Company’s interests. They must not 

pursue personal interests in their decisions or ex-

ploit business opportunities available to the 

Company or any other Group companies for them-

selves, a closely related natural or legal person, or 

any other institution or association with which they 

are associated. Each Supervisory Board member 

must immediately disclose any existing or potential 

conflict of interest to the Chair of the Supervisory 

Board, particularly those arising from advisory or 

board positions at customers, suppliers, lenders to 

the Company, or other third parties. 

Information regarding conflicts of interest and their 

handling is included in the Supervisory Board re-

port. The Chair of the Supervisory Board, Wolfgang 

Essler, is managing director of Santo Holding 

(Deutschland) GmbH. Supervisory Board member 

Klaus Röhrig is a founding partner and Co-Chief In-

vestment Officer at Active Ownership Corporation 

S.à r.l. Due to a potential conflict of interest result-

ing from these functions, Wolfgang Essler and 

Klaus Röhrig did not participate in the resolution on 

the conclusion of the loan agreement concluded 

between the Company as borrower and Santo 

Holding (Deutschland) GmbH and Active Owner-

ship Corporation S.à r.l. acting on behalf of Active 

Ownership SICAV SIF SCS as lenders as a precau-

tionary measure. Both disclosed the potential con-

flict of interest to the other members of the Supervi-

sory Board. Wolfgang Essler and Klaus Röhrig 

agreed to the resolution being passed by the other 

members of the Supervisory Board. Otherwise, no 

conflicts of interest were reported in the fiscal 

year 2024. 

In cases of significant and non-temporary conflicts 

of interest involving a Supervisory Board member, 

the member should resign from its position. 

New Supervisory Board members participate in an 

onboarding program that includes an introduction 

to corporate governance regulations, the Compa-

ny's business activities, and strategic orientation, 

along with preparatory discussions with Executive 

Board members. 

Supervisory Board members ensure they have suf-

ficient time to fulfill their mandate. If a Supervisory 

Board member also serves on the Executive Board 

of a publicly listed company, they should not hold 

more than two Supervisory Board mandates in 
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external listed companies or comparable roles, nor 

serve as the chair of a Supervisory Board in an ex-

ternal listed company. A member who does not 

serve on an Executive Board should not hold more 

than five Supervisory Board mandates at external 

listed companies or comparable roles in total, with 

a chair position counting double. 

Composition 

In the fiscal year 2024, the Supervisory Board com-

prised the following members: 

Wolfgang Essler 

— Born: 1972 

— Chair of the Supervisory Board 

— Member since July 25, 2023 

— Elected until the end of the Annual General 

Meeting 2027 

— Main position: Chief Representative of 

ATHOS and Managing Director of Santo 

Holding (Deutschland) GmbH 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024): 

o Vanguard AG, Deputy Chairman of 

the Supervisory Board; 

o Mega Pharma Holding Uruguay 

S.A., Montevideo, Uruguay, mem-

ber of the non-executive Board of 

Directors; 

o Terra Quantum AG, St. Gallen, Swit-

zerland, Member of the Board of 

Directors. 

Colin Bond (since October 1, 2024) 

— Born: 1960 

— Deputy Chairman since October 1, 2024 

— Member since October 1, 2024 

— Elected until the end of the Annual General 

Meeting 2028 

— Main position: Non-executive director 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024): 

o BioPharma Credit Plc, Leeds, 

United Kingdom, member of the 

Board of Directors; 

o Agomab Therapeutics NV, Ant-

werp, Belgium, Member of the 

Board of Directors; 

o Oxford Biomedica PLC, Oxford, 

United Kingdom, Member of the 

Board of Directors (since January 1, 

2025). 

Nicholas Haggar (since June 12, 2024)) 

— Born: 1965 

— Deputy Chairman from June 12, 2024 to 

September 30, 2024 

— Member since June 12, 2024 

— Elected until the end of the Annual General 

Meeting 2028 

— Main position: Chief Executive Officer of 

HealthQube Ltd 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 
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supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024):  

o Zentiva K.S. International, Prague, 

Czech Republic, non-executive di-

rector 

o Biocon Limited, Bangalore, India, 

independent member of the Board 

of Directors;  

o Biocon Biologics Ltd, Bangalore, 

India, independent member of the 

Board of Directors;  

o Biocon Biologics UK Ltd, London, 

United Kingdom, non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors;  

o Biosimilars NewCo Ltd, London, 

United Kingdom, non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors;  

o Biosimilars Collaborations Ireland 

Ltd, Dublin, Ireland, non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors; 

o Polpharma Group B.V., non-exec-
utive chairman. 

Klaus Röhrig 

— Born: 1977 

— Member since December 10, 2020 

— Elected until the end of the Annual General 

Meeting 2025 

— Main position: Founding Partner and Co-

Chief Investment Officer of Active Owner-

ship Capital S.à r.l. 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable domestic or foreign 

supervisory bodies of commercial enter-

prises (as of December 31, 2024): 

o Agfa-Gevaert N.V., Belgium, mem-

ber of the Board of Directors (non-

executive member) 

o Fagron NV, Belgium, member of 

the Board of Directors (non-execu-

tive member); 

o MAM Baby AG, Wollerau, Switzer-

land, member of the Board of Di-

rectors;  

o Active Ownership Corporation 

S.à.r.l., Grevenmacher, Luxem-

bourg, Member of the Board of Di-

rectors;  

o Active Ownership Capital S.à.r.l., 

Grevenmacher, Luxembourg, mem-

ber of the Board of Directors;  

o White Elephant Holdco S.à.r.l., 

Grevenmacher, Luxembourg, mem-

ber of the Board of Directors;  

o White Elephant S.à.r.l., 

Grevenmacher, Luxembourg, mem-

ber of the Board of Directors;  

o AOC Technology SAS, 

Grevenmacher, Luxembourg, Mem-

ber of the Board of Directors 

o AO Gaming S.à.r.l., Grevenmacher, 

Luxembourg, member of the Board 

of Directors;  

o AOC Cloud S.à.r.l., Grevenmacher, 

Luxembourg, member of the Board 

of Directors;  

o AOC Pharma S.à.r.l., 

Grevenmacher, Luxembourg, Mem-

ber of the Board of Directors. 
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Dr. Bodo Coldewey (since June 12, 2024) 

— Born: 1971 

— Member since June 12, 2024 

— Elected until the end of the Annual General 

Meeting 2027 

— Main position: Managing Director of the 

family office WEGA Invest GmbH 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of December 31, 2024): None 

Dr. Olaf Stiller (until June 12, 2024) 

— Born: 1977 

— Chairman until June 12, 2024 

— Member from August 4, 2010 to June 12, 

2024 

— Main position: Member of the Executive 

Board of Paedi Protect AG (until September 

25, 2024) 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of June 12, 2024): 

o NanoRepro AG, member of the Su-

pervisory Board; 

o Deutsche Reinigungswerke AG, 

Member of the Supervisory Board; 

o HWT invest Aktiengesellschaft, 

Member of the Supervisory Board.  

Peter Wendeln (until June 12, 2024) 

— Born 1964 

— Deputy Chairman until June 12, 2024 

— Member from August 4, 2010 to June 12, 

2024 

— Main position: Managing Director and share-

holder of Wendeln & Cie. Asset Manage-

ment GmbH 

— Memberships of statutory supervisory 

boards or comparable German or foreign 

supervisory bodies of business enterprises 

(as of June 12, 2024): None 

The curricula vitae of the current Supervisory Board 

members are published and annually updated on 

Formycon's website at 

https://www.formycon.com/en/company/super-
visory-board-of-formycon-ag/. Details regarding 

the compensation of the Supervisory Board mem-

bers can be found in the remuneration report. 

Except for Wolfgang Essler and Klause Röhrig, all 

Supervisory Board members (i.e., as of December 

31, 2024, Colin Bond, Nicholas Haggar, and Dr. 

Bodo Coldewey) are considered independent ac-

cording to the GCGC. 

Colin Bond has special knowledge and experience 

in the application of accounting principles and in-

ternal control and risk management systems as well 

as knowledge and experience in sustainability re-

porting. Dr. Bodo Coldewey has special knowledge 

and experience in auditing financial statements, in-

cluding the audit of sustainability reporting. 

https://www.formycon.com/en/company/supervisory-board-of-formycon-ag/
https://www.formycon.com/en/company/supervisory-board-of-formycon-ag/
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Appointment objectives and competence profile  

The Supervisory Board members must collectively 

possess the knowledge, skills, and professional ex-

perience required for the proper performance of 

their duties and be familiar with the sector in which 

the Company operates. 

The Supervisory Board uses a competency profile 

and a qualifications matrix as a guideline for board 

appointments, detailing the requirements in the ar-

eas of (1) Independence, (2) Diversity, and (3) Pro-

fessional Competencies. This competence profile 

also takes into account Formycon's specific corpo-

rate situation, its international structure, and the fu-

ture development of markets and the product port-

folio. 

— Independence: The Supervisory Board ba-

ses its definition of independence on the 

German Corporate Governance Code. 

— Diversity: The Supervisory Board strives for 

sufficient diversity in terms of personality, 

gender, internationality, professional back-

ground, expertise and experience as well as 

age distribution. 

— Professional Competencies: To responsibly 

perform its mandate, the Supervisory Board 

has defined a variety of competencies nec-

essary for evaluating the diverse topics on 

its agenda. Overall, the Supervisory Board 

should possess competencies deemed es-

sential in light of the Company's activities. 

These include, in particular, in-depth experi-

ence and knowledge in 

— management of an (international) company, 

— the healthcare and life sciences industry, 

— Research & Development and commerciali-

zation, 

— key markets in which Formycon operates, 

— Accounting, 

— Auditing, 

— Controlling and risk management, 

— Legal matters, governance, and compliance, 

— Sustainability (environment and social as-

pects). 

In addition, at least one Supervisory Board member 

must have expertise in accounting, and at least one 

other member must have expertise in auditing (two 

Financial Experts). 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board has estab-

lished the following additional guidelines regarding 

its composition: 

— In general, only individuals who have not 

yet reached the age of 70 at the time of 

election should be elected to the Supervi-

sory Board. 

— The Company’s business activities involve 

numerous cross-border operations. There-

fore, an appropriate number of Supervisory 

Board members should have gathered ex-

perience in internationally active companies 

due to their education or professional activi-

ties. 

— Supervisory Board members should not 

hold positions on the governing bodies of 

significant competitors of the Group. 

All of the above criteria are met or observed. 

The competence profile of the Supervisory Board is 

continuously developed, and the implementation 

status is disclosed below in the form of the 

qualification matrix: 
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The Supervisory Board believes that it collectively 

fulfills the competence profile appropriately. Moreo-

ver, for each of the defined competencies, there is 

at least one expert represented on the Supervisory 

Board. 

Target figure for the proportion of women on the 
Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board has set a target for the pro-

portion of women on the Supervisory Board in ac-

cordance with Section 111 para. 5 AktG at a mini-

mum of 0.00 percent, with this target to be 

achieved by February 26, 2030. 

The target of "zero" corresponds to the current sta-

tus of the Company, which has an all-male Supervi-

sory Board. The Company reconstituted its Supervi-

sory Board in the fiscal year 2024. The search and 

selection process for new Supervisory Board mem-

bers was conducted with consideration of female 

candidates. Ultimately, the Supervisory Board de-

cided to propose and appoint three highly qualified 

new members: Colin Bond, Dr. Bodo Coldewey, and 

Nicholas Haggar, who significantly contribute to the 

professionalization and internationalization of the 

Supervisory Board’s activities. The Company is a 

dynamic growth enterprise that has only recently, in 

November 2024, completed its uplisting to the reg-

ulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. In 

this phase of the Company’s development, the Su-

pervisory Board considers stability in its composi-

tion to be crucial for continued progress. Therefore, 

the intent is to maintain this composition in the 

coming years. 

The aforementioned target was achieved in the fis-

cal year 2024. 

Information on the diversity concept for the Su-
pervisory Board 

The diversity concept for the Supervisory Board 

aims to ensure that its members have the personal 

qualifications needed, such as the necessary 

knowledge, skills, and professional experience, to 

properly fulfill their duties. It consists of the follow-

ing components: 

— the targets set for the composition of the 

Supervisory Board; 

— the competence profile for the Supervisory 

Board; 

— the target figure for the proportion of 

women on the Supervisory Board of at least 

0.00%. 

The diversity concept is implemented during the 

election of Supervisory Board members and is 

taken into account during the search for candidates 

for the Supervisory Board. In the case of new ap-

pointments, there is also an evaluation of which 

competencies might be strengthened within the 

Supervisory Board. 

All the stated criteria were fulfilled or observed in 

the fiscal year 2024. The Supervisory Board was 

composed in accordance with the stipulations of 

the diversity concept during the fiscal year 2024. 

Proposals for the election of Supervisory Board 

members at the Annual General Meeting are made 

in compliance with legal regulations and the guide-

lines of the diversity concept. 

Working methods 

The Supervisory Board has adopted rules of proce-

dure. The rules of procedure for the Supervisory 

Board are publicly accessible on the Company’s 

website at https://www.formycon.com/en/inves-
tor-relations/governance/. 

The Supervisory Board holds as many meetings as 

required by law or the Company’s business needs; 

it meets at least twice per calendar half-year. The 

main topics of the meetings held in the past fiscal 

year are summarized in the Supervisory Board’s re-

port. The Chair of the Supervisory Board coordi-

nates its work, convenes meetings, and presides 

over them. 

Decisions of the Supervisory Board are generally 

made in meetings. Upon the Chair’s instruction or 

with the consent of all Supervisory Board members, 

meetings can also be conducted in the form of a 

teleconference or via other electronic 

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/governance/
https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/governance/
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communication methods (particularly video confer-

ence), and individual Supervisory Board members 

can be connected by phone or other electronic 

means; in these cases, decisions can be made via 

teleconference or other electronic communication 

methods. Members who participate via phone or 

electronic means are considered present. Absent 

members, or those not participating via phone or 

other electronic means, can still partake in deci-

sion-making by submitting written votes through 

another Supervisory Board member. Furthermore, 

they may cast their votes orally, by phone, email, or 

other electronic means before, during, or after the 

meeting within a reasonable period determined by 

the Chair. There is no right to object to the form of 

decision-making ordered by the Chair. 

Decisions can also be made without convening a 

meeting, in writing, by phone, email, video confer-

ence, or other electronic means, if the Chair orders 

it and participating members can communicate with 

each other and discuss the matter at hand, or if no 

member objects to the procedure. 

The Supervisory Board has a quorum if at least half 

of its members participate in the decision-making. 

In any case, at least three members must partici-

pate. Supervisory Board decisions require a major-

ity of the votes cast unless otherwise stipulated by 

law or the Articles of Association. Abstentions are 

not considered as votes cast. In case of a tie, the 

Chair’s vote, or that of the Deputy if the Chair does 

not participate, is decisive (casting vote). 

Minutes must be taken of the meetings and deci-

sions made outside of meetings. The Chair of the 

Supervisory Board must sign the minutes. 

The Supervisory Board also regularly meets without 

the Executive Board. Experts and informants may 

be consulted for advice on specific matters. 

Committees and their working methods 

The Supervisory Board has formed two commit-

tees, an Audit Committee and a Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee. 

 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee deals primarily with the re-

view of financial reporting, monitoring the account-

ing process, the effectiveness of the internal con-

trol system, the risk management system, and inter-

nal audit system, as well as external audit, particu-

larly the selection and independence of the auditor, 

the quality of the audit, and the additional services 

provided by the auditor, compliance, and the audit 

of the Company's sustainability reporting. The Audit 

Committee may make recommendations or pro-

posals to ensure the integrity of the accounting 

process. It presents a recommendation to the Su-

pervisory Board for the appointment of the auditor, 

which, in the case of a tender, includes at least two 

proposals and a preference. It prepares the Super-

visory Board's proposal to the Annual General 

Meeting for the election of the auditor. 

The Chair of the Audit Committee regularly ex-

changes information with the auditor regarding the 

progress of the audit and reports back to the Audit 

Committee. The committee discusses with the audi-

tor the assessment of audit risk, audit strategy, fo-

cus, materiality, and planning, as well as the audit 

results. It also regularly meets with the auditor with-

out the Executive Board present. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee was 

composed of: 

— Colin Bond (Chair), 

— Dr. Bodo Coldewey (Deputy Chair) and 

— Nicholas Haggar. 

Colin Bond and Dr. Bodo Coldewey have the nec-

essary expertise in the areas of auditing and ac-

counting (as previously mentioned on page 129). 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee pre-

pares the Supervisory Board's proposals to the An-

nual General Meeting for the election of Supervi-

sory Board members and nominates suitable candi-

dates to the Supervisory Board. 
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 

also responsible for preparing the Supervisory 

Board's decisions on the selection, appointment, 

dismissal, and remuneration of Executive Board 

members, as well as the conclusion, amendment, 

and termination of their service contracts. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Nomination and 

Compensation Remuneration was composed of: 

— Nicholas Haggar (Chair), 

— Wolfgang Essler (Deputy Chair) and 

— Colin Bond. 

Working methods 

The rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board 

contain provisions on the procedure of the commit-

tees. In all other respects, the provisions of the 

rules of procedure relating to the working methods 

of the Supervisory Board apply accordingly to the 

committees, unless the Supervisory Board decided 

otherwise for a specific committee. 

Self-assessment of the Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board regularly evaluates its effi-

ciency and that of its committees through a self-as-

sessment process. To facilitate this, a questionnaire 

is distributed to the members of the Supervisory 

Board, allowing them to comment on the effective-

ness of the Supervisory Board's operations and 

suggest potential improvements. 

The Company restructured its Supervisory Board in 

the fiscal year 2024, electing three new members. 

An initial self-assessment of the work of the Super-

visory Board and its committees in this composition 

is currently being carried out and should be com-

pleted in the first half of 2025. The results of the 

self-assessment will be discussed at the next ordi-

nary meeting of the Supervisory Board following 

completion of the self-assessment and possible im-

provements will be discussed. 

 

6. Share transactions by members of 
the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board 

Pursuant to Article 19 of Regulation (EU) No. 

596/2014 of the European Parliament and Council 

of April 16, 2014, on market abuse (Market Abuse 

Regulation), members of the Executive Board and 

the Supervisory Board are legally required to dis-

close transactions with shares of the Company or 

related derivatives or other financial instruments if 

the total amount of transactions by the member or 

a person closely associated with them reaches or 

exceeds EUR 20,000.00 within a calendar year. 

Transactions reported to the Company in the fiscal 

year 2024 were duly published and are available 

on the Company’s website at 

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-rela-
tions/directors-dealings/. 

7. Transparency and communication 

To ensure maximum transparency and equality of 

information, the Company is committed to compre-

hensive, equal, and timely communication with its 

shareholders and the public. The schedule for reg-

ular financial reporting and other significant events, 

such as the Annual General Meeting, can be found 

in the financial calendar. All annual and quarterly re-

ports, ad-hoc announcements, press releases, and 

notifiable changes in voting rights are available on 

the Company’s website in both German and Eng-

lish. Additionally, the website offers information on 

the Articles of Association, the members of the Ex-

ecutive Board and the Supervisory Board, as well 

as upcoming and previous Annual General Meet-

ings. 

For the publication of the annual financial state-

ments, the Company holds an analyst and investor 

conference. Following the publication of quarterly 

results, the Company conducts regular earnings 

calls, which are also available as recordings on the 

Company’s website. 

8. Accounting 

The Executive Board prepared the Company’s con-

solidated financial statements as of December 31, 

https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/directors-dealings/
https://www.formycon.com/en/investor-relations/directors-dealings/
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2024, based on the International Financial Report-

ing Standards (IFRS) as applicable in the European 

Union, and additional German legal requirements 

under Section 315e para. 1 HGB, as well as the 

Company's unconsolidated financial statements as 

of December 31, 2024, in accordance with the pro-

visions of the HGB. The consolidated financial 

statements and management reports are published 

within 90 days after the end of the fiscal year. Man-

datory interim financial information (half-year finan-

cial reports and quarterly statements) is generally 

published within 45 days after the end of each 

quarter or half-year. 

The annual financial statements and the consoli-

dated financial statements, both as of December 31, 

2024, were audited by KPMG AG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, the audi-

tor elected by the Annual General Meeting 2024. 

Before the audit assignment, the auditor confirmed 

its independence and objectivity to the Supervisory 

Board. Following preparation by the Audit Commit-

tee, the annual financial statements and the consol-

idated financial statements were discussed, exam-

ined and adopted or approved by the Supervisory 

Board. 

9. Annual General Meeting 

The Company’s shareholders exercise their control 

and participation rights at the General Meeting. The 

General Meeting decides in particular on the appro-

priation of retained earnings, the discharge of the 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board members, 

the appointment of the auditor, the remuneration 

report, the remuneration system, the remuneration 

for Supervisory Board members, amendments to 

the Articles of Association, and certain capital 

measures, and elects shareholder representatives 

to the Supervisory Board. 

In addition, in the case of significant changes, but 

at least every four years, the remuneration system 

for the Executive Board is submitted to the General 

Meeting for approval. 

Shareholders may exercise their voting rights at the 

General Meeting either personally, by proxy, or 

through a proxy representative appointed by the 

Company. The Executive Board is authorized to al-

low shareholders to submit their votes in writing or 

via electronic communication without attending the 

meeting themselves or by proxy (postal vote) and 

to participate in the meeting and exercise all or 

some of their rights entirely or partially through 

electronic communication (online participation). The 

Executive Board is also authorized to hold the Gen-

eral Meeting without the physical presence of 

shareholders or their representatives at the meet-

ing venue (virtual meeting), provided legal require-

ments are met. This authorization is valid for virtual 

meetings until August 31, 2026. 
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The Annual General Meeting on June 12, 2024, was 

held as an in-person meeting. 

Martinsried/Planegg, March 21, 2025 

 

The Executive Board The Supervisory Board 
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Martinsried/Planegg, Germany, March 21, 
2025  

  

Dr. Stefan Glombitza Nicola Mikulcik 

  

Dr. Andreas Seidl Enno Spillner 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2024 in € thousand 

   explanatory note   Dec. 31, 2024   Dec. 31, 2023 

Assets          

Non-current assets          

Goodwill   18   -   44,534 

Other intangible assets   18   444,116   508,403 

Right-of-use (ROU) assets   17   10,749   9,300 

Property, plant and equipment   17   3,821   3,027 

Investment accounted for using the equity 

method 
  19   151,870   167,044 

Financial assets   19   66,134   90,907 

Total non-current assets      676,691   823,215 

Current assets          

Inventories      262   467 

Trade and other receivables   24   23,693   11,612 

Contract assets   8   7,016   16,561 

Other financial assets      6   6 

Prepayments and other assets   24   22,123   11,335 

Income tax receivables   15   91   131 

Cash and cash equivalents      41,834   27,035 

Total current assets      95,024   67,147 

Total assets      771,715   890,362 

          

Equity and liabilities          

Equity          

Subscribed capital   20   17,664   16,053 

Capital reserve   20   496,021   412,871 

Accumulated profit/loss carryforward   20   73,829   -1,968 

Period income (loss)   20   -125,672   75,795 

Total equity capital      461,843   502,751 

Non-current liabilities          

Non-current lease obligations   25   9,097   7,815 

Other non-current liabilities   23   164,726   187,690 

Deferred tax liabilities   15   102,156   122,800 

Total non-current liabilities      275,979   318,305 

Current liabilities          

Provisions      -   387 

Current lease obligations   25   1,496   1,186 

Other current liabilities   22   12,932   51,349 

Trade payables   24   17,437   16,319 

Current income tax liabilities   15   2,028   65 

Total current liabilities      33,893   69,306 

Total liabilities      309,872   387,611 

Total equity and liabillities      771,715   890,362 

   



Consolidated Financial Statements — Formycon AG  Annual report 2024 140 

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 in € thousand 

   explenatory note   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Revenue   8   69,674   77,696 

Cost of sales   9   -54,840   -54,391 

Research and development expenses   10   -16,503   -9,162 

Selling expenses   11   -1,302   -841 

Administrative expenses   11   -20,085   -13,283 

Other expenses   11   -567   -389 

Other income   11   78   1 

Operating profit/loss (EBIT)      -23,543   -369 

Income from investments accounted for 

using the equity method 
  12   -15,174   -19,362 

Finance income   12   24,777   102,210 

Finance expense   12   -1,137   -2,962 

Change in Impairments based on the 

expected credit loss model 

  12   78   -447 

Net finance income      8,543   79,439 

Impairments on Goodwill and Other intangible 

assets 
  18   -129,253   - 

Profit before tax      -144,253   79,070 

Income tax expense   15   18,582   -3,275 

Profit (loss) / Comprehensive income (loss) 

for the period 

     -125,672   75,795 

          

          

          

Basic (undiluted) earnings per share (in €)   13   -7.18 €   4.76 € 

Average number of shares outstanding 

(undiluted) 
     17,491,811   15,915,789 

Diluted earnings per share (in €)      -7.18 €   4.72 € 

Average number of shares outstanding 

(diluted) 
     17,633,367   16,048,616 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 in € thousand  

   
explana- 
tory note   

Sub- 

scribed 

capital   
Capital 

reserve   

Accumu- 

lated loss 
carry- 

forward   

Period 

income 

(loss)   
Total 

equity  

as of Jan. 1, 2023      15,129   343,419   -37,960   35,993   356,581  

Appropriation of prior-year in-

come (loss) 

  20   
-   -   35,993   -35,993   0 

 

Capital increase against cash 

contributions 
     

910   69,160   -   -   70,070 
 

Costs of capital increase      -   -1,736   -   -   -1,736  

Effect of stock options granted   14   -   1,624   -   -   1,624  

Shares issued through exercise of 

stock options 
     

14   404   -   -   418 
 

Period income (loss)      -   -   -   75,796   75,796  

as of Dec. 31, 2023      16,053   412,871   -1,968   75,796   502,752  

Appropriation of prior-year in-

come (loss) 

  20   
-   -   75,796   -75,796   0 

 

Capital increase against cash 

contributions 
     

1,604   81,240   -   -   82,843 
 

Effect of stock options granted   14   -   1,675   -   -   1,675  

Shares issued through exercise of 

stock options 
     

8   235   -   -   243 
 

Period income (loss)      -   -   -   -125,672   -125,672  

as of Dec. 31, 2024      17,664   496,021   73,829   -125,672   461,844  
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 in € thousand 

   explanatory note   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Profit (loss) for the period      -125,672   75,795 

Adjustments for 

non-cash items:          

Depreciation and amortization   17, 18   139,065   1,887 

Net finance income   12   -8,543   -79,439 

Effect of stock options   14   1,675   1,624 

Net loss (gain) arising from disposals of 

non-current assets   17, 18   163   41 

Other non-cash transactions      495   -46 

Income tax expense   15   -18,582   3,275 

Changes in operating assets 

and liabilities:          

Decrease (increase) in 

inventories      206   104 

Decrease (increase) in 

trade and other receivables   24   -12,275   2,696 

Decrease (increase) in 

contract assets   8   9,544   -15,400 

Decrease (increase) in 

prepayments and other assets   24   -10,788   -6,699 

Increase (decrease) in 

other liabilities   24   762   1,094 

Increase (decrease) in 

trade payables   24   1,118   4,999 

Increase (decrease) in 

current provisions      -387   387 

Income taxes paid   15   -4   -166 

Net cash used for 

operating activities      -23,221   -9,848 

Investments in intangible assets   18   -28,395   -20,167 

Investments in property, plant and 

equipment   17   -1,545   -1,029 

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets      5   - 

Repayments from loans granted   19   27,300   3,300 

Interest received   12   1,176   516 

Net cash used for investing activities      -1,459   -17,380 

Proceeds from issuance of shares   20   83,086   70,488 

Costs relating to issuance of shares   20   -   -1,736 

Payment of lease liabilities   25   -1,404   -1,103 

Outflows for the repayment of financial liabili-

ties   22, 23   -41,292   -23,137 

Interest paid   12   -913   -69 

Net cash from financing activities      39,478   44,443 

Net increase (decrease) 

in cash and cash equivalents      14,798   17,215 

Cash and cash equivalents as of Jan, 1      27,035   9,820 

Cash and cash equivalents as of Dec, 31      41,834   27,035 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
of Formycon Group for the period 
from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024

1. Reporting entity 

FORMYCON AG (hereinafter also the “Company”), 

together with the subsidiaries within its scope of 

consolidation (hereinafter “Group” or together 

“Formycon”), is a leading independent developer of 

high-quality biosimilar drugs, meaning follow-on 

products to biopharmaceuticals already on the mar-

ket. Formycon has long specialized in the develop-

ment of biosimilars and is able to cover all technical 

stages of the biopharmaceutical development 

chain from analysis and cell line development to 

preclinical studies and clinical trials, all the way 

through to the creation and submission of regula-

tory approval application documents. In addition to 

its decades of experience in protein chemistry, 

analysis and immunology, Formycon also has ex-

tensive expertise in the successful transfer of anti-

bodies and antibody-based therapies into the clini-

cal development stage. 

FORMYCON AG has its registered offices in Mar-

tinsried/Planegg, Germany, and is entered into the 

commercial register (Handelsregister) of the District 

Court of Munich under number HRB 200801. The 

Company’s shares are listed in the Frankfurt Stock 

Exchange’s Prime Standard (Deutsche Börse: Ger-

man securities identifier (WKN): A1EWVY, ticker 

symbol: FYB, ISIN: DE000A1EWVY8). 

2. Basis of accounting 

These Consolidated Financial Statements (hereinaf-

ter also the “Financial Statements”), presented here 

in translation from the German original, have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed within the 

European Union. The provisions of sec. 315e of the 

German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 

HGB) were taken into account as applicable. These 

Financial Statements were released for publication 

by the Company’s Management Board (Vorstand) 

on March 26, 2025. 

During the fiscal year, the following standards and 

interpretations were mandatorily applied for the 

first time: 

— Amendments to IAS 1 regarding the classifica-

tion of liabilities as current or non-current and 

amendments to IAS 1 regarding non-current lia-

bilities with covenants. The amendments are to 

be applied retrospectively: The amendments 

clarify certain requirements for assessing 

whether a liability is classified as current or 

non-current and introduce new disclosures for 

long-term loan liabilities that are subject to cov-

enants within twelve months of the reporting 

date. There have been no material effects on 

these Financial Statements. 

— Amendments to IFRS 16 – Lease Liability in a 

Sale and Leaseback: The amendments to IFRS 

16 govern the accounting of lease liabilities 

from sale and leaseback transactions and stipu-

lates that a lessee must measure the lease lia-

bility following a sale in such a way that there is 

no recognition of any amount of gain or loss re-

lating to the retained right of use. The newly 

added paragraphs explain different possible 

approaches with concrete examples, such as 

variable lease payments. There have been no 

material effects on these Financial Statements. 

— Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – Supplier Fi-

nance Arrangements: The amendments affect 

disclosure requirements related to supplier fi-

nancing arrangements (also known as supply 

chain financing, trade payables financing or 
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reverse factoring arrangements). The new reg-

ulations supplement requirements already con-

tained in other standards and explicitly pre-

scribe the following appendix information: 

— Terms and conditions of supplier fi-

nancing agreements, 

— The carrying amounts of liabilities sub-

ject to such agreements for which 

suppliers have already received pay-

ment from the finance providers, in-

cluding specification of the balance 

sheet item under which these liabili-

ties are included, 

— The range of due dates, and 

— Information on liquidity risk. 

There have been no material effects on the Fi-

nancial Statements. 

Formycon does not plan early application of the fol-

lowing new or amended standards and interpreta-

tions, which will only become mandatory in subse-

quent fiscal years. Unless otherwise stated, the ef-

fects of these changes on the Financial Statements 

are currently under review. 

 

Already endorsed by the European Union: 

— Amendments to IAS 21 – Lack of Exchangeabil-

ity: The amendments concern the determina-

tion of the exchange rate in the event of a long-

term lack of convertibility, an issue which has 

until now not been addressed by IAS 21. With 

these amendments, IAS 21 additionally in-

cludes: 

— Requirements for assessing whether a 

currency can be converted to another 

currency, 

— Statements on determining the ex-

change rate if such conversion is not 

possible, and 

— Additional disclosure requirements re-

lating thereto. 

The amended standard is to be applied to 

reporting periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2025. Early application of the changes is 

permitted but requires EU endorsement. The 

Group currently assumes that there will be no 

material impact on its consolidated financial 

statements. 

Pending endorsement by the European Union: 

— Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or 

Contribution of Assets between an Investor 

and its Associate or Joint Venture: The amend-

ments address a known inconsistency between 

the provisions of IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011) in 

the event of the sale or contribution of assets 

to an associate or joint venture. According to 

IFRS 10, a parent company must recognize the 

full amount of the gain or loss from the sale of a 

subsidiary in the income statement if control is 

lost. In contrast, the existing IAS 28.28 requires 

that the gain on a sale transaction between an 

investor and an investment valued at equity - 

be it an associate or joint venture - only be rec-

ognized in the amount of the share held by the 

others in this company. In the future, it is pro-

posed that the entire gain or loss from the 

transaction should only be recognized if the as-

sets sold or contributed constitute a “business 

operation” within the meaning of IFRS 3. The 

new standard would apply regardless of 

whether the transaction is structured as a share 

deal or asset deal. However, if the assets do 

not constitute a business operation, only a pro-

portionate recognition of profits would be per-

mitted. The date of initial application of the 

changes has been indefinitely postponed by 

the IASB. 

— IFRS 18 – Presentation and Disclosure in Finan-

cial Statements: IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements and ap-

plies for annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after January 1, 2027. The new standard in-

troduces the following key new requirements: 
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— Entities are required to classify all in-

come and expenses into five catego-

ries in the statement of profit or loss, 

namely the operating, investing, fi-

nancing, discontinued operations and 

income tax categories. Entities are 

also required to present a newly-de-

fined operating profit subtotal. Entities’ 

net profit will not change. 

— Management-defined performance 

measures (MPMs) are disclosed in a 

single note in the financial statements. 

— Enhances guidance is provided on 

how to group information in the finan-

cial statements. 

— In addition, all entities are required to 

use the operating profit subtotal as 

the starting point for the statement of 

cash flows when presenting operating 

cash flows under the indirect method. 

The Group is still in the process of assessing 

the impact of the new standard, particularly 

with respect to the structure of the Group’s 

statement of profit or loss, the statement of 

cash flows and the additional disclosures re-

quired for MPMs. The Group is also assessing 

the impact on how information is grouped in 

the financial statements, including for items 

currently labelled as “other”. 

— IFRS 19 – Subsidiaries without Public Accounta-

bility: Disclosures: IFRS 19 allows eligible sub-

sidiaries to apply IFRS Accounting Standards 

with the reduced disclosure requirements. A 

subsidiary may choose to apply the new stand-

ard provided that, at the reporting date it does 

not have public accountability, and its parent 

produces consolidated financial statements un-

der IFRS Accounting Standards. A subsidiary 

generally has public accountability if it is listed 

on a public market or holds assets in a fiduciary 

capacity as one of its primary businesses. IFRS 

19 applies for annual reporting periods begin-

ning on or after January 1, 2027, subject to its 

adoption into EU law. Earlier application is 

permitted, but is subject to EU endorsement. 

The group does not meet the application re-

quirements, thus IFRS 19 will not be applied 

and there will be no impact. 

— Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Classifica-

tion and Measurement of Financial Instruments: 

The amendments clarify the classification of fi-

nancial assets that are linked to environmental, 

social and governance (ESG) and similar char-

acteristics. The amendments clarify how the 

contractual cash flows of such instruments are 

to be assessed in terms of subsequent meas-

urement, i.e. amortized cost accounting or fair 

value accounting.  The amendments also ad-

dress the settlement of liabilities through elec-

tronic payment systems. The amendments clar-

ify, when a financial asset or financial liability is 

derecognized. In addition, an option has been 

introduced that allows an entity to derecognize 

a financial liability before delivering cash on the 

settlement date, provided that certain criteria 

are met. The amendments also introduced ad-

ditional disclosure requirements with regard to 

investments in equity instruments measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income 

and financial instruments with conditional fea-

tures (e.g. ESG targets). The amendments are 

effective for reporting periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2026, subject to EU endorse-

ment. Earlier application of the amendments is 

permitted, but is subject to EU endorsement. 

The Group currently assumes that there will be 

no material impact on the consolidated finan-

cial statements. 

— Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Contracts 

Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity: Con-

tracts referencing nature-dependent electricity 

are often structured as so-called power pur-

chase agreements (PPA). The purchase based 

on these contracts can fluctuate due to unfore-

seen events such as weather conditions. Ap-

plying the current accounting regulations may 

lead to effects on net income that do not nec-

essarily adequately reflect the influence of 

these contracts on the performance of the re-

porting company. The following changes have 
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been made to better reflect these contracts in 

companies' financial statements: 

— Clarification of the application of the 

own use exemption to these contracts. 

— Adjustment of the rules for hedge ac-

counting with the option of using con-

tracts referencing nature-dependent 

renewable energy sources as a hedg-

ing instrument if certain conditions are 

met. 

— Introduction of additional disclosure 

requirements regarding the impact of 

these contracts on the financial perfor-

mance and future cash flow of a com-

pany. 

The amendments are effective for report-

ing periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2026, subject to EU endorsement. Earlier 

application of the amendments is permit-

ted, but is subject to EU endorsement. The 

Group currently assumes that there will be 

no material impact on on the consolidated 

financial statements. 

— Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting 

Standards – Volume 11: The annual improve-

ments process is limited to changes that either 

clarify the wording of an IFRS standard or cor-

rect relatively minor unintended consequences, 

oversights or conflicts between requirements in 

the standards. It contains the following main 

adjustments: 

— IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards: 

Hedge accounting by a first-time 

adopter 

— IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclo-

sures: Profit or loss from derecogni-

tion; disclosure of differences be-

tween fair value and transaction price; 

credit risk disclosures 

— IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Derecog-

nition of lease liabilities; transaction 

price 

— IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial State-

ments: Determining a “de facto agent” 

— IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Cost 

method. 

The amendments are effective for report-

ing periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2026, subject to EU endorsement. Earlier 

application of the amendments is permit-

ted, but is subject to EU endorsement. The 

Group currently assumes that there will be 

no material impact on on the consolidated 

financial statements. 

3. Functional currency and 
presentation currency 

These Financial Statements are presented in euros, 

the Company’s functional currency. Unless other-

wise stated, all amounts in euros presented herein 

have been rounded to the nearest thousand euros 

(€ thousand). 

4. Use of judgements and estimates 

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Man-

agement Board has made judgements and esti-

mates that affect the application of accounting poli-

cies and the reported amounts of assets and liabili-

ties, income and expense. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates. Estimates and underlying as-

sumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revi-

sions to estimates are recognized prospectively. 

Judgements 

Judgements exercised by the Management Board 

have an impact on the following specific issues pre-

sented herein: 

— Lease term: Determination of whether the exer-

cise of lease extension options is reasonably 

certain (see Note 25) 
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— Internally generated intangible assets: Point in 

time at which the criteria of IAS 38 (“Intangible 

Assets”) are met, thereby resulting in an obliga-

tion to capitalize the asset (see Note 18) 

— Identification of multiple performance obliga-

tions under the development partnerships for 

purposes of revenue recognition (see Note 8 ) 

and separation thereof between development 

services and granting of license 

Assumptions and estimate uncertainties 

Significant assumptions and estimates which could 

result in the risk of necessary adjustments in subse-

quent periods to the amounts recognized herein 

have been made in the following specific cases: 

— Recognition of deferred tax assets: Availability 

of future taxable profit against which deducti-

ble temporary differences and tax losses car-

ried forward can be used (see Note 15) 

— Impairment test of intangible assets and good-

will: Key assumptions underlying the calculation 

of the recoverable amounts (see Note 18) 

— Valuations under IFRS 2 (including phantom 

shares): The determination of the fair value of 

sharebased payment arrangements is based, 

among other factors, upon future share price 

volatility and future staff turnover, both of which 

may have a significant influence on the valua-

tion of the options at the time of issuance. The 

correctness of these estimates depends upon 

actual future staff turnover and, in the case of 

the phantom stock program, on the actual de-

velopment of the share price, both of which 

may deviate from the original estimates used in 

preparing these Financial Statements and may 

thus lead to significant corrections in future pe-

riods (see Note 14). 

— Determination of book value of investment par-

ticipations in jointly controlled companies: Key 

assumptions for impairment testing in accord-

ance with IAS 28 (see Note 19) 

Measurement of fair values 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and 

disclosures require the measurement of fair values, 

for both financial and non-financial assets and liabil-

ities. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liabil-

ity, the Group uses observable market data as far 

as possible. Fair values are categorized into differ-

ent levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the in-

puts used in the valuation techniques as follows: 

— Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

— Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices in-

cluded in Level 1 that are observable for the as-

set or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or in-

directly (i.e. derived from prices). 

— Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are 

not based on observable market data (unob-

servable inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an 

asset or a liability are categorized in different levels 

of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value meas-

urement is categorized in its entirety in the same 

level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level 

input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

Assumptions have been made in measuring fair val-

ues in the following cases: 

— Valuation of conditional purchase price pay-

ments in determining and allocating the pur-

chase price (see Note 24), 

— Valuation of obligations arising from share set-

tled as well as cash-settled share-based com-

pensation arrangements (see Note 14), 

— Impairment testing of unfinished internally gen-

erated intangible assets and Goodwill (see 

Note 18), and 

— Impairment testing of financial assets (see Note 

19). 
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5. Group structure 

In addition to the Formycon AG parent entity, 

Formycon Group also includes, as of December 31, 

2024, the following 100% owned and fully consoli-

dated subsidiaries: 

— Formycon Project 201 GmbH 

(Martinsried/Planegg, Germany) 

— Formycon Project 203 GmbH 

(Martinsried/Planegg, Germany) 

— FYB202 Project GmbH 

(Martinsried/Planegg, Germany) 

— Clinical Research GmbH 

(Holzkirchen, Germany) 

Furthermore, Bioeq AG (Zug, Switzerland), which is 

under joint control by Formycon, is included in 

these Financial Statements using the equity 

method. 

6. Accounting and valuation methods 

Basis of valuations 

These Financial Statements have been prepared 

based on the principle of historical cost. Exceptions 

to this are the valuations of the contingent consid-

eration component of the Athos transaction (see 

Notes 22 and 23) and of obligations arising from 

cash-settled share-based compensation arrange-

ments, which have both been carried out at fair 

value. Equity-settled share-based payment arrange-

ments granted to employees are likewise meas-

ured at fair value as of the grant date (see Note 14). 

In their preparation, and for all periods therein, the 

Group has, unless otherwise stated, consistently 

applied the following accounting policies. 

Consolidation principles 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are companies under the Group’s con-

trol. The Group controls an entity when it is ex-

posed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to af-

fect those returns through its power over the entity. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are consoli-

dated into these Financial Statements from the date 

control begins until the date such control ends. 

Loss of control 

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derec-

ognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 

from its consolidated statement of financial position 

(balance sheet), along with any related non-control-

ling interests or other equity components. Any re-

sulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. If 

an interest in the former subsidiary is retained, it is 

measured at fair value as of the date control over 

the subsidiary is lost. 

Financial assets accounted for using the equity 
method 

The Group’s financial assets (investments) ac-

counted for using the equity method include a 

shareholding in a joint venture. A joint venture is an 

arrangement in which the Group has joint control, 

whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of 

the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and 

obligations for its liabilities. 

Shares in joint ventures, which are accounted for 

using the equity method, are initially recognized at 

acquisition cost, including transaction costs. Subse-

quent to this initial recognition, these Financial 

Statements include the Group’s share of the com-

prehensive income of the financial assets ac-

counted for using the equity method until the date 

upon which such significant influence or joint con-

trol ends. 

Consolidation of intragroup transactions 

In preparing these Financial Statements, balances 

and transactions between the Company and con-

solidated subsidiaries thereof, as well as any unre-

alized intercompany income and expenses (other 

than income and expenses arising from foreign cur-

rency transactions), have been eliminated. In the 

case of companies accounted for using the equity 

method (associates and joint ventures), any unreal-

ized gains on transactions have been offset against 

the investment asset, but not by more than the 
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Group’s investment in the respective company. Un-

realized losses have been analogously offset (i.e. 

added to the investment asset), but only where 

there is no indication of impairment. 

Transactions in foreign currencies 

Business transactions in foreign currencies are con-

verted into the functional currency of the respective 

Group company at the spot rate on the date of the 

transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a 

foreign currency as of the reporting date are trans-

lated into the functional currency at the closing rate 

for the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 

measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 

translated at the exchange rate in effect at the time 

the fair value was measured. Non-monetary items 

measured at historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on 

the transaction date. Currency translation differ-

ences are recognized in period profit and loss and 

included within finance income and finance cost. 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group generates revenue by granting licenses 

for the marketing of products once development 

has been completed. Depending on the contractual 

design, these licenses may include marketing rights 

for certain regions, sublicensing rights for certain 

regions, and/or rights to develop, manufacture and 

register the products. In some cases, the Group 

may retain certain rights. The Group subsequently 

receives license revenue for the granted rights 

based upon product sales within the licensed terri-

tories. If the amount can be reliably determined, the 

Group recognizes the revenue at the time the li-

cense is granted. As a rule, however, such license 

revenues depend upon actual product sales and 

thus the amount generated thereby can only be re-

liably determined over time. The corresponding li-

cense revenue is allocated as variable considera-

tion to the separate performance obligation of 

granting a license. 

These license agreements may also include upfront 

payments, which are likewise allocated to the rele-

vant license grant performance obligation. Revenue 

from such upfront payments is recognized at the 

time the license is granted. 

In addition the company generates revenues from 

the provision of development and other services to 

assist with the completion of product development 

through to market approval. These other services 

may include, for example, the organization of clini-

cal studies and the preparation of approval docu-

ments. The customer agreement may provide for 

ongoing reimbursement of costs or defined mile-

stones. Services rendered but not yet been in-

voiced are reported as contract assets. In the case 

of ongoing reimbursements, the regular payments 

are recognized against contract assets as received, 

whereas milestone payments are only recognized 

against contract assets provided that the relevant 

milestones havehave been achieved. Revenue is 

recorded over the development period using the 

cost-to-cost method. Associated costs are recog-

nized in profit or loss as they are incurred. 

In some cases, a single customer contract may 

combine different kinds of performance obligations, 

such as both the granting of a license and the pro-

vision of development services. 

The transaction price of the contract is allocated to 

the respective individual performance obligations 

based upon their individual values. Development 

services are valued using cost plus an appropriate 

margin as well as residual value considerations. 

The license is granted on the basis of theresidual 

value considerations if the individual values are not 

observable. 

Specific conditions may be attached to Milestones 

and Upfront payments. The assessment of the ful-

fillment of such conditions has an impact on the 

revenue recognized. Currently the fulfillment of 

such conditions is assessed to be highly probable. 

Once product sales are generated, license reve-

nues become due and payable to the Group with 

relatively short payment terms. 

In addition, the group generates revenues from the 

sale of products and materials from the develop-

ment process for further use by the respective li-

cence holder and from the sale of finished products 
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to marketing partners. Revenues are recognized at 

the time of the transfer of risk to the respective cus-

tomer. 

All payments are to be made by the customer 

within current payment terms. 

Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are ex-

pensed as the employee performs the related work 

services. In cases where the Group has an obliga-

tion to pay a future amount as a result of service 

rendered by the employee, whether legally binding 

or constructive, and where the obligation can be re-

liably estimated, a liability is recognized for the 

amount expected to be paid. 

Equity-settled share-based compensation 

Share-based compensation payments to employ-

ees settled by the physical delivery of shares are 

recognized as an expense in the amount of their 

fair value upon the grant date, with a correspond-

ing increase in equity, over the vesting period of 

the awards. The amount recognized as an expense 

is adjusted to reflect the number of granted shares 

for which the related service and non-market per-

formance conditions are expected to be met, such 

that the amount ultimately recognized is based on 

the number of granted shares that meet the related 

service and non-market performance conditions at 

the vesting date. In the case of share-based pay-

ments with non-vesting conditions, the fair value of 

the share-based payment as of the grant date is 

measured to reflect such conditions, but with no 

subsequent true-up for differences between ex-

pected and actual outcomes. If a share-based pay-

ment involves equity-settled compensation, the 

vesting conditions are market-independent and the 

valuation is updated at each reporting date. Further 

explanation may be found under Note 14. 

Cash-settled share-based compensation 

The fair value of amounts payable to employees 

under cash-settled stock appreciation rights (SARs) 

is recognized as an expense with a corresponding 

increase in liabilities, beginning with the period dur-

ing which the respective employees become un-

conditionally entitled to payment. The liability is re-

measured at each reporting date and at the settle-

ment (payout) date based upon the fair value of the 

SARs. Any changes in the liability are recognized in 

profit or loss. Further explanation may be found un-

der Note 14. 

Defined contribution plans 

Obligations to make contributions to defined contri-

bution plans are expensed as the employee per-

forms the related work services. Prepaid contribu-

tions are recognized as an asset to the extent that 

there is a right to a refund of, or reduction in, future 

payments. 

Government grants 

Government grants to fund the future purchase of 

assets are initially recognized as deferred income 

at fair value if there is reasonable assurance that 

they will be received and that the Group will meet 

the conditions attached to the grant. Once such 

government grant is actually used to fund the ac-

quisition of the asset, the deferred income is then 

amortized over the period of the asset's useful life 

and recognized in profit and loss as other income. 

Grants which compensate the Group for expenses 

incurred are recognized as a reduction in expense 

in the period(s) in which the relevant expenses are 

recognized, unless the grant conditions are not met 

until after the related expenses have been recog-

nized. In this case, the grant is recognized in the 

period during which the entitlement arises. 

The Group is currently receiving grants to cover re-

search and development expenditures incurred in 

connection with the development of the FYB207 

project. Accordingly, the grants are recorded as a 

reduction in research and development expenses, 

and are reflected in the same way as the expenses 

and presented in the Consolidated Statement of 

Cash Flows under cash flows from operating activi-

ties. 
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Finance income and finance expense 

The Group’s finance income and finance expens in-

clude: 

— interest income, 

— interest expense, 

— gains and losses of investments accounted for 

using the equity method, 

— write-downs of financial assets valued at equity, 

— foreign currency gains and losses on financial 

assets and financial liabilities, and 

— gains and losses arising from the measurement 

of fair value of contingent consideration classi-

fied as a financial liability. 

Interest income and expenses are recognized in 

profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

The effective interest rate is the interest rate that 

exactly discounts the estimated future payments or 

receipts over the expected life of the financial in-

strument to the net book value of the financial as-

set, or in the case of a financial liability to the re-

maining amount thereof. 

In calculating interest income and expense, the ef-

fective interest rate is applied to the gross book 

value of the asset, provided that the asset is not 

credit impaired, or in the case of a financial liability 

to the remaining amount thereof. In the case of fi-

nancial assets which have become credit-impaired 

subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is, 

however, instead calculated by applying the effec-

tive interest rate to the amortized cost of the finan-

cial asset. Should the asset no longer be creditim-

paired, the calculation of interest income reverts to 

the gross basis. 

Income tax expense 

Income tax expense consists of current tax ex-

pense and deferred tax expense. Both are 

recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent 

that they relate to a business combination or to an 

item recognized directly in equity or other compre-

hensive income (OCI). The Group has determined 

that interest and penalties on income taxes, as well 

as uncertain tax items, do not meet the definition of 

income tax expense, and therefore accounts for 

these in accordance with IAS 37. 

Current taxes 

Current tax expense is the expected tax liability or 

tax receivable on taxable income or tax loss for the 

year, based on tax rates enacted or certain to be 

soon enacted as of the reporting date, along with 

any adjustments to tax liability for prior years. The 

amount of the expected tax liability or tax receiva-

ble is the best estimate of the tax amount expected 

to be paid or received, but also reflecting any tax 

uncertainties. Current tax receivables and liabilities 

are only offset (netted) under certain specific condi-

tions. 

Deferred taxes 

Deferred taxes are recognized in respect of tempo-

rary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting pur-

poses and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred taxes are not recognized for: 

— temporary differences upon initial recognition 

of assets or liabilities in a transaction which is 

not a business combination and which affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

— temporary differences related to investments in 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 

where the Group is able to control the timing of 

the reversal of the temporary differences and it 

is probable that they will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future; and 

— taxable temporary differences arising upon ini-

tial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax 

losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
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temporary differences to the extent that it is proba-

ble that future taxable profits will be available 

against which they can be used. Future taxable 

profits are determined based on the reversal of rel-

evant taxable temporary differences. If the amount 

of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to 

recognize a deferred tax asset in full, then future 

taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing 

temporary differences, are considered, based on 

the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the 

Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 

be realized; such reductions are reversed when the 

probability of future taxable profits improves. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax 

consequences that would follow from the manner 

in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, 

to recover or settle the carrying amount of its as-

sets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities re-

sulting from the application of IFRS 16 “Leases” are 

offset (netted). All other deferred tax assets and de-

ferred tax liabilities are only offset under certain 

specific conditions. 

Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 

net realizable value. The cost of inventories is 

based on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of allo-

cation. In the case of manufactured inventories, 

cost includes an appropriate share of production 

overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 

and demand deposits, together with other short-

term, highly liquid investments maturing within 90 

days from the date of acquisition that are readily 

convertible into known amounts of cash and which 

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

value. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at 

cost, including any capitalized borrowing costs, less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated im-

pairment losses. Should significant components 

thereof have different useful lives, these are ac-

counted for as separate items (major components) 

of property, plant and equipment. Any gain or loss 

on disposal of an item of property, plant and equip-

ment is recognized in profit or loss. 

Subsequent costs of acquisition or production 

Subsequent expenditures are only capitalized if it is 

probable that the Group will derive additional future 

economic benefits resulting from the expenditure. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated to fully depreciate the 

cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 

less its estimated residual value on a straight-line 

basis over its estimated useful life. Depreciation is 

generally recognized in profit or loss. 

The estimated useful lives of significant items of 

property, plant and equipment, for both the current 

period and prior-year period, are: 

— Leasehold improvements: The useful life 

specific to the asset, not to exceed the 

remaining term of the underlying lease at the 

time of the leasehold improvement: 5-10 years 

— Laboratory furnishings and equipment: 7-15 

years 

— Office furnishings and equipment: 5-10 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 

values are reviewed on each reporting date and 

adjusted as necessary. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets 
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Recognition and measurement 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arising from business combinations is 

measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 

losses. 

Research and development 

Research expenditures are recognized in profit or 

loss as incurred. Development expenditures are 

only capitalized provided that the expenditure can 

be measured reliably, that the product or process is 

technically and commercially feasible, that future 

economic benefits are probable, and that the 

Group both intends and has sufficient resources to 

complete development and to utilize or sell the as-

set. Any development expenditures not meeting 

these criteria are recognized in profit or loss as in-

curred. Capitalized development expenses are val-

ued at acquisition or production cost less accumu-

lated amortization and any accumulated impair-

ment losses. 

Formycon develops biopharmaceuticals, in particu-

lar biosimilars, with the aim of converting biosimilar 

candidates into development and marketing part-

nerships upon attainment of certain defined mile-

stones. Formycon currently has seven projects un-

der active development. For each individual devel-

opment project, an assessment is made as to 

whether the criteria for recognition of an internally 

generated intangible asset have been met. 

While innovative drug development projects in 

phase 3 clinical trials often suffer failures or signifi-

cant setbacks, the probability of success of a bio-

similar candidate in phase 3 clinical comparability 

trials is significantly higher. Because the efficacy of 

the originator (reference) biopharmaceutical has al-

ready been scientifically proven and recognized by 

the authorities, and because biosimilar develop-

ment focuses on various tests and studies to 

demonstrate biological similarity to the reference 

drug already prior to phase 3 clinical testing, one 

may reasonably conclude, predicated on this al-

ready demonstrated similarity, that the likelihood of 

successfully completing the remaining develop-

ment of a biosimilar that will bring future economic 

benefits is very high. It should be noted that more 

than 95% of biosimilar candidates entering phase 3 

clinical trials are, upon completion thereof, proved 

similar to the reference drug. It is also notable that 

78% of biosimilars entering phase 1 clinical trials are 

ultimately licensed upon completion of develop-

ment work. 

The main activities which Formycon undertakes to 

develop a biosimilar candidate may be broadly di-

vided into the following six development steps: 

— Market research: assessment of market situa-

tion, identification of possible drug targets, pro-

ject planning 

— Initial analysis: development of the analytical 

method panel, characterization of reference 

molecule, definition of quality target, com-

mencement of cell line development 

— Development phase: cell line development, bi-

osimilar manufacturing process development 

— Preclinical testing: in vivo studies generally not 

necessary, but comprehensive physiochemical 

and bioanalytical testing leading to technical 

proof of similarity (TPoS) 

— Phase I clinical trials: testing on healthy volun-

teers to demonstrate biological similarity to the 

reference product 

— Phase III clinical trials: study to demonstrate the 

similarity of the biosimilar to the reference 

product in patients (similar efficacy, safety and 

immunogenicity) 

TPoS is generally the point following completion of 

pre-clinical testing at which Formycon is able to 

demonstrate, based on the results thereof, that the 

asset resulting from the development fulfills the cri-

teria of IAS 38.57 and thus that all subsequent de-

velopment expenditures may be deemed part of 

the cost of generating the asset and capitalized ac-

cordingly. Each project is, however, individually as-

sessed as to whether the criteria have been met. 
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The costs to be allocated are determined as costs 

directly attributable to development; because the 

assets are qualifying assets within the meaning of 

IAS 23, these costs also include related borrowing 

costs. The capitalization of development expendi-

tures is terminated upon regulatory approval, ex-

cept for subsequent development expenditures 

which generate an additional economic benefit with 

respect to the related asset. 

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets acquired by the Group that 

have finite useful lives are measured at cost less 

accumulated amortization and any accumulated im-

pairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditures 

Subsequent expenditures relating to goodwill and 

intangible assets are capitalized only to the extent 

that they generate an additional economic benefit 

with respect to the related asset. All other expendi-

tures, including expenses for internally generated 

goodwill and brand names, are recognized in profit 

or loss as incurred. 

Amortization 

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line 

basis over the respective estimated useful life. The 

amortization begins from the day the respective as-

sets are first used, or in the case of development 

projects, from the day of initial regulatory approval 

of the drug in question. The amortization is gener-

ally recognized in profit or loss. Other than through 

impairment, goodwill is not amortized. 

The estimated useful lives are: 

— Patents and trademarks: based on the term of 

the corresponding legal protection: 5-10 years 

— Capitalized development costs both acquired 

and internally developed: up to 18 years 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual val-

ues are reviewed on each reporting date and ad-

justed as necessary. 

Financial instruments 

Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are in-

itially recognized from the date they arise or are is-

sued. All other financial assets and financial liabili-

ties are initially recognized when the Group be-

comes a party to the contractual terms of the instru-

ment. A financial asset (unless it is a trade receiva-

ble without a significant financing component) or fi-

nancial liability is initially measured at fair value 

plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL (i.e. fair 

value with changes in value through profit or loss), 

transaction costs directly attributable to its acquisi-

tion or issue. Trade receivables without a significant 

financing component are initially recognized at the 

transaction price. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets 

 

Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classi-

fied and measured as: 

— an instrument at amortized cost 

— an FVOCI debt instrument (investment in a debt 

instrument measured at fair value with changes 

through other comprehensive income) 

— an FVOCI equity investment (equity investment 

measured at fair value with changes through 

other comprehensive income) 

— an FVTPL instrument (at fair value with changes 

through profit or loss) 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to 

their initial recognition unless the Group changes 

its business model for managing financial assets, in 

which case all affected financial assets are reclassi-

fied on the first day of the first reporting period fol-

lowing the change in the business model. 
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A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it 

meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as an FVTPL instrument: 

— It is held within a business model whose objec-

tive is to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows. 

— The contractual terms of the financial asset 

give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the principal amount outstanding. 

A debt investment is classified as an FVOCI instru-

ment if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as an FVTPL instrument: 

— It is held within a business model whose objec-

tive is achieved by both collecting contractual 

cash flows and selling financial assets. 

— Its contractual terms give rise, on specified 

dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. 

Upon initial recognition of an equity investment that 

is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably 

elect to present subsequent changes in the fair 

value of the investment in OCI. This election is 

made individually for each investment. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at 

amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are 

measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative fi-

nancial assets. Upon initial recognition, the Group 

may irrevocably designate a financial asset that 

otherwise meets the requirements to be measured 

at amortized cost or at FVOCI as an FVTPL instru-

ment if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 

an accounting mismatch that would otherwise 

arise. 

Financial assets:  

Business model assessment 

The Group makes its assessment of the objective 

of the business model in which a financial asset is 

held through an assessment of each individual 

portfolio. The information considered includes: 

— the stated objectives for the investment, includ-

ing whether management’s strategy focuses on 

earning contractual interest income, maintain-

ing a particular interest rate profile, matching 

the duration of the financial assets to the dura-

tion of any related liabilities or expected cash 

outflows, or realizing cash flows through the 

sale of the assets; 

— how performance results are evaluated and re-

ported to the Group’s management; 

— the risks that affect the performance of the 

business model (and the financial assets held 

within that business model) and how those 

risks are managed; 

— how managers of the business are compen-

sated - e.g. whether compensation is based on 

the fair value of the assets managed or the 

contractual cash flows collected; and 

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of fi-

nancial assets in prior periods and expectations 

about future sales activity. 

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent 

measurement, and gains and losses 

 

Financial liabilities are classified and measured at 

amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is clas-

sified at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, 

is a derivative, or is designated as such upon initial 

recognition. 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair 

value, with net gains and/or losses, including inter-

est expense, recognized in profit or loss. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently meas-

ured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. Interest expense and foreign currency 

translation differences are recognized in profit or 

loss. Any gain or loss upon derecognition is also 

recognized in profit or loss. 
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With the exception of the obligation to pay contin-

gent consideration under the Athos transaction, all 

of the Group’s financial liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost. 

Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when its 

contractual right to receive cash flows from the fi-

nancial asset expires, or when it transfers its right 

to receive contractual cash flows in a transaction in 

which either the Group transfers substantially all of 

the risks and rewards associated with ownership of 

the financial asset are transferred, or when the 

Group, although neither transferring nor retaining 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, 

does not retain control of the financial asset. 

Financial liabilities 

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when 

its contractual obligations are discharged or can-

celled, or expire. The Group also derecognizes a fi-

nancial liability when its contractual terms are modi-

fied and the cash flows of the modified liability are 

substantially different, in which case a new financial 

liability based on the modified terms is recognized 

at fair value. 

Upon derecognition of a financial liability, the differ-

ence between the carrying amount extinguished 

and the consideration paid (including any non-cash 

assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recog-

nized in profit or loss. 

Subscribed capital 

Costs directly attributable to the issuance of com-

mon shares are recorded as a deduction from eq-

uity. Income tax effects relating to the transaction 

costs of an equity measure are recognized directly 

in equity in accordance with IAS 12. 

Asset impairment 

Financial assets (excluding derivatives) 

Financial instruments and contract assets 

The Group recognizes loss allowances for ex-

pected credit losses (ECLs) on: 

— financial assets measured at amortized cost, 

and 

— contract assets. 

The Group also recognizes loss allowances for 

ECLs on other receivables. 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount 

equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, 

which are measured at 12-month ECLs: 

— debt securities that are determined to have low 

credit risk at the reporting date, and 

— other debt securities and bank balances for 

which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occur-

ring over the expected life of the financial in-

strument) has not increased significantly since 

initial recognition 

In the case of trade receivables and contract as-

sets, valuation allowances reflect the amount of the 

expected credit loss over the term. 

In determining whether the credit risk of a financial 

asset has increased significantly since initial recog-

nition and in estimating expected credit losses, the 

Group considers reasonable and reliable infor-

mation which is both relevant and available, includ-

ing quantitative as well as qualitative information. In 

addition to well-founded estimates based on analy-

sis, including forward-looking assessments, the 

Group also considers its own past experience. 

Should a financial asset be overdue by more than 

30 days, the Group assumes that its credit risk has 

increased significantly. Due to the company’s cus-

tomer structure and contractually agreed payment 

terms, there have to date been no such delays. 

Due to the small number of contract counterparties, 

the Group assesses each of these with whom there 
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is significant contract exposure through an assess-

ment of each individual portfolio. In each existing 

case, the Group has assessed the risk of default as 

extremely low. Thus, subject to materiality consider-

ations, no value adjustments are currently recog-

nized. 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in de-

fault when: 

— the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obliga-

tions to the Group in full, without recourse by 

the Group to actions such as realizing security 

(if any is held); or 

— the financial asset is more than 180 days past 

due. 

The Group considers a debt security to have low 

credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to 

the globally understood definition of “investment 

grade”. The Group considers this to be an S&P rat-

ing of BBB or higher. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs 

that result from all possible default events over the 

expected life of a financial instrument. 12-month 

ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from de-

fault events that are possible within the 12 months 

after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the 

expected life of the instrument is less than 12 

months). The maximum period considered when 

estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period 

over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 

Non-financial assets 

The book value of the Group’s non-financial assets, 

other than inventories and deferred tax assets, is 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. 

Should this be the case, an estimate is made of the 

asset’s recoverable amount. Goodwill and intangi-

ble assets with an indefinite useful life as well as 

unfinished internally generated intangible assets 

(capitalized development costs) are tested annually 

for impairment. 

In testing for impairment, assets are grouped into 

the smallest groupings of assets that generate cash 

inflows from continued use that are as independent 

as possible of cash inflows from other assets or 

cash-generating units (CGUs). Goodwill acquired in 

a business combination is allocated to the CGU(s), 

or group(s) of CGUs, expected to benefit from the 

synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the 

higher of its value in use and its fair value less dis-

posal costs. In assessing value in use, the esti-

mated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate which 

reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and of the risks specific to the as-

set or CGU. 

Should the book value of an asset or CGU exceed 

this recoverable amount, an impairment loss is rec-

ognized. 

Impairment losses are included in profit or loss. Im-

pairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are 

first allocated to any goodwill allocated to the CGU, 

then allocated to the book values of the other as-

sets of the CGU (or group of CGUs) on a pro rata 

basis. Each development project generally corre-

sponds to its own CGU. 

Any impairment of goodwill, once recognized, is 

not reversed. In the case of other (non-goodwill) as-

sets, an impairment loss may only be reversed to 

the extent that the book of the asset does not ex-

ceed the book value, net of depreciation and amor-

tization, which would exist had no impairment loss 

been recognized. 

Leases 

The Group enters into lease contracts solely as a 

lessee. Upon entry into a contract, the Group first 

assesses whether the contract constitutes a lease 

or contains a lease component. This is deemed to 

be the case when the contract entitles the holder to 

control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time in exchange for payment of a fee. 

Upon commencement of a lease (or contract con-

taining a lease component), or when a lease (or 
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contract containing a lease component) is modified, 

the Group allocates the contractual consideration 

pro rata based on the stand-alone selling prices of 

the leased assets. 

Upon commencement of the lease, the Group rec-

ognizes a right-of-use (RoU) asset and a lease liabil-

ity. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at 

cost, which comprises the initial amount of the 

lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 

made on or before the commencement date, plus 

any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of 

costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 

or to restore the underlying asset or the site on 

which it is located, less any lease incentives re-

ceived. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated 

using the straight-line method from the commence-

ment date to the end of the lease term, unless the 

lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset 

to the Group at the end of the lease term, or unless 

the cost of the right-of-use asset suggests that the 

Group will exercise a purchase option. In either of 

these cases, the right-of-use asset is instead depre-

ciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, 

which is determined on the same basis as in the 

case of comparable owned assets. In addition, the 

right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impair-

ment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-

measurements of the lease liability. If the lease in-

cludes extension options and it is likely that these 

will be used, these are assumed in the lease term. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the pre-

sent value of the lease payments that are not al-

ready paid as of the commencement date, dis-

counted using the interest rate implicit in the lease 

or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the 

Group’s incremental borrowing rate (which is, in 

fact, the relevant discount rate usually used by the 

Group). 

The Group determines its incremental borrowing 

rate by obtaining interest rates from various exter-

nal financing sources and makes adjustments as 

necessary to reflect the individual lease term and 

type of asset leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of 

the lease liability may include: 

— fixed payments, including de facto fixed pay-

ments; 

— variable lease payments that depend upon a 

benchmark index or rate, initially set according 

to the index or rate on the commencement 

date; 

— amounts expected to be payable under a resid-

ual value guarantee; and/or 

— the exercise price under a purchase option that 

the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional lease extension 

period if the Group is reasonably certain to ex-

ercise the lease extension option, and penal-

ties for early termination of a lease unless the 

Group is reasonably certain not to terminate 

early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost us-

ing the effective interest method. It is remeasured 

when there is a change in future lease payments 

arising from a change in an index or rate; if there is 

a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount ex-

pected to be payable under a residual value guar-

antee; if the Group changes its assessment of 

whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 

termination option; or if there is a change in the 

amount of a de facto fixed lease payment. 

Should the lease liability be remeasured in this way, 

a corresponding adjustment is made to the book 

value of the right-of-use asset, or if the book value 

of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero, 

it is recognized in profit or loss. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-

use assets and corresponding lease liabilities for 

leases of low-value assets and short-term leases, 

including IT equipment. The Group recognizes the 

lease payments associated with these leases as an 
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expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. 

Operating profit/loss (EBIT) 

Operating profit/loss is net income generated from 

the Group’s continuing sales-generating primary ac-

tivities plus other income and expenses from oper-

ating activities, but excluding finance income and fi-

nance costs, participations in the profits and losses 

of companies accounted for using the equity 

method, impairments and income taxes. 

Measurement of fair value 

Fair value is the price at which an asset would, as 

of the measurement date, be sold, or a liability 

transferred, in an orderly transaction on the rele-

vant principal market or, if none exists, in the most 

advantageous market to which the Group has ac-

cess at that time. The fair value of a liability reflects 

the risk of non-performance (credit risk). 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and 

disclosures require the measurement of fair values, 

for both financial and non-financial assets and liabil-

ities. 

Where a quoted price in an active market is availa-

ble, the Group determines the fair value of a finan-

cial instrument on the basis thereof. A market is 

considered active when transactions for the rele-

vant asset or liability occur and are reported with 

sufficient frequency and volume to provide market 

price information on an ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, the 

Group uses valuation techniques that maximize the 

use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the 

use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation 

technique incorporates all factors which market 

participants would normally consider when pricing 

the asset or liability. 
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Segments 2024 in € thousand              

 

 
   

FYB201 

 
 

  FYB202 

 

  FYB203 

 

  FYB206 

 

 

External revenue   17,293   34,683   17,676   -  

Segment revenue   17,293   34,683   17,676   -  

Segment profit (loss)   - 5,245   - 109,093   - 3,237   -  

Finance income   5,062   16,026   -   -  

Finance expense   -   -   -   -  

Impairments   -   - 129,253   -   -  

Income from investment participations 

at equity   - 15,174   -   -   -  

              

Allocated costs (cost of sales, research and 

development expenses, administrative 
expenses)   - 12,098   - 22,191   - 20,372   -  

Other expenses (selling expenses, 

miscellaneous)   -   -   -   -  

Depreciation and amortization   - 328   - 8,358   - 541   -  

Income taxes   -   -   -   -  

              

Assets              

Investment accounted for using 

the equity method   151,870   -   -   -  

Additions to non-current assets   12,087   -   -   28,385  

    

Segments 2023 in € thousand              

 

 
   

FYB201 

 
 

  FYB202 

 
  FYB203 

 
  FYB206 

 
 

External revenue   14,885   37,356   25,456   -  

Segment revenue   14,885   37,356   25,456   -  

Segment profit (loss)   -16,038   12,502   -1,672   -  

Finance income   -   -   -   -  

Finance expense   -   -   -   -  

Income from investment participations 

at equity   -19,362   -   -   -  

              

Allocated costs (cost of sales, research 

and development expenses, administrative 
expenses)   -11,275   -24,185   -26,456   -  

Other expenses (selling expenses, 

miscellaneous)   -   -   -   -  

Depreciation and amortization   -286   -668   -672   -  

Income taxes   -   -   -   -  

              

Assets              

Investment accounted for using 

the equity method   167,044   -   -   -  

Additions to non-current assets   14,111   3,717   -   16,073  
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 FYB207 

 

  FYB208 

 

  FYB209 

 

  Total for re- 

portable operating 
segments 

  Remaining 

amount 
 

  Formycon 

Group 

 -   -   -   69,652   22   69,674 

 -   -   -   69,652   22   69,674 

 -   - 12,182   - 9,580   -139,338   13,666   -125,672 

 -   -   -   21,088   3,689   24,777 

 -   -   -   -   - 1,060   -1,060 

 -   -   -   -129,253   -   -129,253 

 - 

 

  -   -   -15,174   -   -15,174 

                 

 - 

 

 
  - 11,858 

 

  - 9,325   -75,844   - 5,776   -81,620 

 - 

 

  -   -   -   - 1,791   -1,791 

 -   - 324   - 255   -9,807   -   -9,807 

 -   -   -   -   18,582   18,582 

                 

                 

 -   - 
 

  -   151,870   -   151,870 

 -   -   -   40,472   6,686   47,158 

    

                 

 FYB207 

 
  FYB208 

 
  FYB209 

 
  Total for re- 

portable operating 
segments 

  Remaining 

amount 
 

  Formycon 

Group 

 -   -   -   77,696   -   77,696 

 -   -   -   77,696   -   77,696 

 -2,920   -3,431   -4,175   -15,733   91,528   75,795 

 -   -   -   -   102,210   102,210 

 -   -   -   -   -3,409   -3,409 

 - 

 

  -   -   -19,362   -   -19,362 

                 

 -2,847 

 

 
  -3,346 

 

  -4,072   -72,181   -2,768   -74,949 

 - 

 

  -   -   -   -1,229   -1,229 

 -72   -85   -103   -1,887   -   -1,887 

 -   -   -   -   -3,275   -3,275 

                 

                 

 -   - 

 

  -   167,044   -   167,044 

 -   -   -   33,902   1,406   35,307 
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7. Operating segments 

Basis for segmentation 

The Group’s segments are defined on the basis of 

the so-called “management approach” as required 

by IFRS 8 (“Operating Segments”). Accordingly, the 

segments are determined, and the disclosures for 

each segment made, based on the criteria that the 

key decision makers use internally for allocating re-

sources and assessing the profitability of the 

Group’s components. At Formycon, the key deci-

sion maker is the Management Board, which allo-

cates resources and evaluates segment perfor-

mance on the basis of the management reports 

submitted to it. The following segment reporting 

was prepared in accordance with this definition. In 

evaluating the performance of the Group’s busi-

ness segments, the Management Board relies upon 

operating profit/loss as the primary measure of 

profitability. 

The Management Board monitors and directs activ-

ities at the level of the Group’s individual develop-

ment projects. Project progress, operational perfor-

mance and financial performance are reported on a 

monthly basis along with a deviation analysis from 

the approved plan for each project. The Group’s 

development projects thus also represent the 

Group’s reportable segments. 

The business activity of all segments is biopharma-

ceutical development. In all cases, the products in-

volved are biosimilars, meaning that the operating 

activities within the segments do not differ signifi-

cantly. For the purposes of internal reporting, al-

most all of the Group’s costs are allocated to the in-

dividual projects. 

Income and expenses that cannot be assigned to a 

specific operating segment are substantially the re-

sult of the fair value measurement of the contingent 

purchase price payment obligations. The income 

from investment participations at equity allocated 

to the FYB201 segment includes, in addition to 

Formycon’s share earnings from jointly controlled 

Bioeq AG, the loss resulting from write-down of the 

investment participation (see Note 19). 

The Group’s business activities take place exclu-

sively within Germany. During the fiscal year almost 

all and in the preceding fiscal year, all revenues 

were generated from Athos Group companies 

(FYB203 operating segment revenue), from Bioeq 

AG, which is under joint control (FYB201 operating 

segment revenue, see Note 26), and from Frese-

nius Kabi (FYB202 operating segment revenue dur-

ing the fiscal year) as marketing partner for the 

FYB202 project. Thus, almost all revenue for the 

fiscal year was generated from three major custom-

ers. 

8. Revenue 

Revenue streams 

During the period, Formycon generated revenue by 

providing development services to the respective 

development partners for its partnered develop-

ment projects FYB201, FYB202 and FYB203. 

These costs include not only product development 

costs but also costs incurred for the management 

of clinical studies. In addition, with the market 

launch of FYB201 in the UK and shortly thereafter in 

the EU and the USA, Formycon began generating 

revenue through license income from the granting 

of exclusive marketing rights to Bioeq AG. Such li-

cense revenues are recognized only from the point 

at which they can be reliably determined. During 

the fiscal year, a total of € 7.104 thousand (2023: € 

4.159 thousand) was recognized as license revenue 

from FYB201. 
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Geographical breakdown of revenue in € thousand 

Region 

   
Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Germany   17,594   25,456 

Switzerland   52,080   52,240 

Total   69,674   77,696 

    

Geographical breakdown of revenue 

During the period, and based upon customer domi-

cile, the Group’s revenues were generated entirely 

in Germany and Switzerland as shown above. 

The FYB203 segment revenue corresponds to rev-

enue generated in Germany during fiscal year. 

Contract receivables and contract assets 

Assets arising from contracts with customers are in-

cluded as both trade receivables and contract as-

sets. As of the reporting date, such receivables 

from customers were € 18,497 thousand (Dec. 31, 

2023: € 6,757 thousand), while receivables from 

services not yet invoiced and separately reported 

as contract assets were € 7,016 thousand (Dec. 31, 

2023: € 16,561 thousand). The decrease in contract 

assets in the amount of € 9,544 thousand was 

mainly attributable to services that were already 

provided in the previous year under the agreement 

for the further development and marketing of 

FYB202 but had not yet been invoiced to the cus-

tomer and were invoiced in the past financial year. 

The contract balances were mostly attributable to 

additional development services for FYB201 and 

FYB203 which had not yet been invoiced at year 

end. There were no contract liabilities. 
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Cost of sales in € thousand 

      

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Cost of materials   -2,262   -3,410 

Contract research expenses   -29,739   -33,820 

Staff expenses   -11,440   -11,915 

Amortization FYB202   -7,579   - 

Depreciation, amortization 

and write-downs   -327   -397 

Regulatory approval fees   -1,884   -3,744 

Other expenses   -1,609   -1,105 

Total   -54,840   -54,391 

    

9. Cost of sales 

Cost of sales includes all costs directly related to 

generated revenue and thus all costs that can be 

allocated to the Group’s partnered projects. Start-

ing from February 1, 2023, with the conclusion of 

the marketing agreement with Fresenius Kabi and 

the associated realization of revenue from perfor-

mancerelated payments using the cost-to-cost 

method, all further development costs were rec-

orded as cost of sales. With the approval of the 

FYB202 project end of September 2024, the 

scheduled amortization of the development costs 

capitalized up to this point began. Cost of sales 

during the fiscal year consisted primarily the above 

cost types. 

The regulatory approval fees are fees for the appli-

cations to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration 

(FDA) and European Medicines Agency (EMA) for 

the approval of FYB201, FYB202 and FYB203. 

10. Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses include all 

such costs attributable to the Group’s non-part-

nered projects. Research and development ex-

penses in the financial year were essentially made 

up as follows: see right-hand side. 

11. Other operating income and other 
operating expenses 

Other operating income consists mainly of income 

from other periods. 

Selling and administrative expenses and other ex-

penses are essentially composed as shown below.

Research and development expenses 
in € thousand 

      

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Cost of materials   -726   -391 

Contract research expenses   -8,887   -8,038 

Staff expenses   -5,431   -2,977 

Depreciation, amortization and 

write-downs   -254   -153 

Grants received   -   2,914 

Other expenses   -1,205   -519 

Total   -16,503   -9,163 
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Other operating expenses in € thou-
sand 

      

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Staff expenses   -9,565   -7,485 

Marketing expenses   -959   -608 

Legal and advisory expenses   -6,018   -3,304 

IT expenses   -1,926   -813 

Depreciation, amortization and 

write-downs   -1,311   -1,130 

Other expenses   -2,174   -1,173 

Total   -21,953   -14,513 
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Net finance income in € thousand       

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Investment gain from Bioeq AG   12,087   11,811 

Impairment of investment in Bioeq AG   -27,261   -31,173 

       

Income from investments accounted for 

using the equity method   -15,174   -19,362 

       

Realized and unrealized gains from foreign 

currency translation   94   73 

Interest income per effective interest 

method   3,595   2,816 

Change in fair value conditional 

purchase prices   21,088   99,321 

   -   - 

Finance income   24,777   102,210 

   -   - 

Bank fees   -18   -15 

Realized and unrealized losses from 

foreign currency translation   -31   -165 

Interest expense from lease liabilities   -269   -80 

Interest expense per effective interest 

method   -820   1 

Change in fair value of FYB202 conditional 

purchase price   -0   -2,703 

   -   - 

Finance expense   -1,137   -2,962 

   -   - 

Change in Impairments based on the 

expected credit loss model   78   -447 

       

Net finance income   8,543   79,439 
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Earnings per share 

         

 
   

Outstanding 

common shares   

Exercisable 

stock options 
  Diluted number of 

common shares 

 Jan. 1, 2023   15,128,775   128,725   15,257,500 

 Feb. 3, 2023   16,038,775   128,725   16,167,500 

 Sep. 20, 2023   16,048,225   146,775   16,195,000 

 Nov. 20, 2023   16,053,025   141,975   16,195,000 

 Year average Dec. 31, 2023   15,915,789   -   16,048,616 

           

 Jan. 1, 2024   16,053,025   141,975   16,195,000 

 Feb. 8, 2024   17,656,902   141,975   17,798,877 

 Sep. 24, 2024   17,662,127   136,750   17,798,877 

 Oct. 15, 2024   17,664,427   134,450   17,798,877 

 Dec. 15, 2024   17,664,427   167,950   17,832,377 

 Year average Dec. 31, 2024   17,491,811   -   17,633,367 
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12. Net finance income 

The Group’s net finance income during the report-

ing period were as shown on the left. 

The impairment is based on the expected credit 

loss model and primarily the result of value adjust-

ments to loans to companies under joint control 

(see Note 19). The remainder is attributable to the 

other current financial assets. 

13. Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing 

after-tax earnings attributable to the shares by the 

number of Formycon common shares outstanding 

and therefore participating in earnings. Diluted 

earnings per share are calculated by adding shares 

which could in the future be issued through the ex-

ercise of stock options. The addition of these exer-

cisable but not yet unexercised options results in a 

dilution in the number of common shares outstand-

ing as shown above. 
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Share options issued and 
outstanding 

            

   

Stock Option Plan 

2015 
  Stock Option Plan 

2020 
  Weighted Average 

option price 
  LTIP 

as of Jan. 1, 2023   217,225   204,000   € 49.06   - 

Share options granted - May 

2023   -   25,000   € 78.90   - 

Shares subscribed - August 

2023   -9,750   -   € 36.46   - 

Shares subscribed - Sep-

tember 2023   -4,500   -   € 22.70   - 

Share options granted - Oc-

tober 2023   -   2,000   € 67.74   - 

Share options granted - De-

cember 2023   -   1,000   € 63.94   - 

as of Dec. 31, 2023/Jan. 1, 

2024   202,975   232,000   € 51.45   - 

Share options granted - May 

2024      -      - 

Share options expired - May 

2024      -      - 

Share options expired - July 

2024   -   -2,000   € 58.61   - 

Shares subscribed - July 

2024   -5,225   -   € 35.46   - 

Shares subscribed - August 

2024   -2,300      € 34.59    

Share options granted - De-

cember 2024      -      22,740 

as of Dec. 31, 2024   195,450   230,000   € 51.70   22,740 

 

     



Consolidated Financial Statements — Formycon AG  Annual report 2024 170 

Stock Option Plan 

Stock Option Plan 

Tranche Grant date Vesting date Expiry date Expected 

exercise date 

2015 1 July 16, 2015 July 16, 2019 July 15, 2025 Nov. 15, 2020 

2015 2 June 28, 2016 June 28, 2020 June 27, 2026 Oct. 29, 2021 

2015 3 Oct. 4, 2016 Oct. 4, 2020 Oct. 3, 2026 Feb. 4, 2022 

2015 (amended) 4 July 3, 2017 July 3, 2021 July 2, 2027 Nov. 3, 2022 

2015 (amended) 5 Feb. 28, 2018 Feb. 28, 2022 Feb. 27, 2028 July 1, 2023 

2015 (amended) 6 Apr. 1, 2018 Apr. 1, 2022 Mar. 31, 2028 Aug. 2, 2023 

2015 (amended) 7 July 1, 2018 July 1, 2022 June 30, 2028 Nov. 1, 2023 

2015 (amended) 8 July 10, 2019 July 10, 2023 July 9, 2029 Nov. 9, 2024 

2020 1 Dec. 16, 2020 Dec. 16, 2024 Dec. 15, 2030 Apr. 18, 2026 

2020 2 Oct. 19, 2021 Oct. 19, 2025 Oct. 18, 2031 Feb. 19, 2027 

2020 3 Dec. 9, 2021 Dec. 9, 2025 Dec. 8, 2031 Apr. 11, 2027 

2020 4 Aug. 1, 2022 Aug. 1, 2026 July 31, 2032 Feb. 11, 2028 

2020 5 May 12, 2023 May 12, 2027 May 11, 2033 Oct. 13, 2028 

2020 6 Oct. 1, 2023 Oct. 1, 2027 Sep. 30, 2033 Oct. 12, 2029 

2020 7 Dec. 1, 2023 Dec. 1, 2027 Nov. 30, 2033 Oct. 15, 2029 
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14. Share-based compensation  
arrangements 

Description of share-based compensation 
arrangements 

On July 1, 2015, the Group introduced, and subse-

quently amended on April 27, 2017, and introduced 

again on December 10, 2020, stock option plans 

which enable eligible staff (including members of 

the Management Board) to purchase shares in the 

Company. Under these two stock option plans, the 

holders of options granted thereunder have the 

right, once the options are exercisable, to purchase 

shares at a subscription price set on the option 

grant date. Currently, these programs are limited to 

Management Board members and other eligible 

employees. The key contractual terms of the stock 

option plans are as follows: all options are to be 

settled through subscription and physical delivery 

of newly issued shares. Under both of the plans, 

the conditions for exercise of the options are that 

the relevant beneficiary must have remained in the 

Group for a period of four years following the grant 

date and  

that the stock market price must be at least 10% 

above the subscription price set at the time of the 

grant. The subscription price is determined as the 

average of closing prices of Formycon AG shares in 

Xetra trading during the 60 days before the option 

grant. In both plans, the options have a term of ten 

years. 

Conditional capital for the issuance of up to 

715,260 options (Stock Option Plan 2015) and up to 

724,000 options (Stock Option Plan 2020) was es-

tablished by resolutions of the Annual General 

Meeting. The number of options issued and out-

standing during the reporting period and during the 

comparable prior-year period was as follows. 

In measuring the fair values as of the grant date for 

reporting these share-based compensation ar-

rangements (stock options with subscription and 

physical delivery of new shares upon exercise), the 

following valuation parameters were used: 

 

                 

 

Expected term   Interest rate 

  

Market price at 

grant date 
  Subscription price 

  

Minimum price   Market value 

of options 

 5.63   0.07 %   27.10   26.29   29.36   8.4058 

 5.63   -0.17 %   17.51   20.70   22.70   4.7053 

 5.63   -0.56 %   19.90   19.46   21.42   7.0826 

 5.63   -0.42 %   34.32   33.29   36.16   11.1178 

 5.63   -0.10 %   33.10   31.73   34.95   11.1551 

 5.63   -0.04 %   32.20   31.74   35.04   10.6511 

 5.63   -0.11 %   35.00   36.07   39.33   10.3722 

 5.63   -0.33 %   30.40   32.83   36.04   8.0761 

 5.38   -0.78 %   58.40   47.57   38.32   22.2827 

 5.34   -0.68 %   53.30   51.72   57.71   18.1448 

 5.34   -0.58 %   53.60   49.78   55.00   18.9723 

 5.53   0.93 %   83.00   75.12   82.06   32.6618 

 5.53   2.38 %   78.60   71.04   78.90   39.3118 

 6.03   2.53 %   58.30   61.34   67.74   27.7102 

 6.03   2.54 %   67.20   56.51   63.94   35.8599 
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Key terms and parameters for SARs (phantom stock plan)    

Waiting period in years   4.00 

Contractual term in years   10.00 

Expected term   6.35 

Valuation date   31.12.2024 

Vesting date   11.12.2027 

Expiry date   10.12.2033 

Expected exercise date   15.10.2029 

Market price at valuation date   50.28 € 

Subscription price   58.08 € 

Minimum price   55.31 € 

Historical volatility   51.16 % 

Expected dividend yield   0.00 % 

Market value per option as of Dec. 31,2024   17.17 € 

    

For both plans, a share price volatility of between 

0.35% and 0.43% was assumed based on historical 

data, along with beneficiary reduction (staff turno-

ver) of approx. 3% and zero dividends. The out-

standing stock options have a weighted average 

remaining term of 0.33 years. 

During fiscal year 2024, the total current expense 

for share-based compensation payments under 

these stock option plans was € 1,565 thousand 

(2023: € 1,624 thousand). As of December 31, 

2024, the impact of these share-based payments 

on the capital reserve account was € 8,074 thou-

sand (Dec. 31, 2023: € 6,509 thousand). 

In addition to the above two share-settled stock op-

tion plans, a cash-settled phantom stock plan was 

approved by the Supervisory Board during the fis-

cal year 2023, under which members of the Man-

agement Board and certain other employees were 

granted stock appreciation rights (SARs) to shares 

in Formycon AG, i.e. subscription rights to phantom 

shares which are never actually issued. Each SAR 

entitles the holder to receive a cash payment equal 

to the difference between the share market price 

upon the actual exercise date and the subscription 

price determined at granting. The term of the SARs 

is ten years from the grant date, subject to a four-

year vesting period. The current share market price 

for purposes determining the share price apprecia-

tion is determined as the average unweighted clos-

ing price of Formycon shares in Xetra trading (or a 

comparable successor trading system) during the 

60 trading days preceding the actual exercise date, 

with the right to payout upon exercise subject to a 

minimum 10% share price appreciation. 

During the fiscal year no new phantom shares were 

issued (Dec. 31, 2023: 109,250) and 500 phantom 

subscription rights have expired (Dec. 31, 2023: -). 

Based upon the the waiting period, € 448 thousand 

(Dec. 31, 2023: € 44 thousand) have been recorded 

as an expense. Because this is a cash-settled 

share-based compensation arrangement, a corre-

sponding liability has been recognized and in-

cluded under other long-term liabilities. 

In the financial year 2024, a Long-Term Incentive 

Plan (LTIP) was set up for members of the Manage-

ment Board and other employees in order to align 

the interests of shareholders and Management 

Board members, to strengthen the loyalty of Man-

agement Board members and other employees 

and to promote their participation in the company's 

future success. The plan provides for the allocation 

of performance share units (PSUs), the number of 

which is based on the fixed salary of the beneficiar-

ies (allocation amount). The final number of PSUs to 

be issued after the four-year vesting period is de-

termined by multiplying the allocated number by a 

performance factor. The performance factor is 

based on the fulfillment of predefined performance 

conditions, which include the following criteria: an 

EBITDA target, an ESG target, an innovation target 

and a strategic growth target. The performance fac-

tor is capped at 200%, and the total value of the 
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issue cannot exceed 400% of the fixed salary. Dur-

ing the financial year, 22,740 PSUs were issued 

and, taking into account the waiting period, € 109 

thousand (Dec. 31, 2023: -) was recorded as an ex-

pense. As this is a compensation program settled in 

equity instruments, a corresponding capital reserve 

is recorded. 

Key terms and parameters for LTI    

Waiting period in years   4.00 

Contractual term in years   4.00 

Expected term   4.00 

Grant date   04.12.2024 

Vesting date   30.09.2028 

Expected exercise date   30.09.2028 

Market price at grant date   48.29 € 

Historical volatility   46.28 % 

Expected dividend yield   0.00 % 

Market value per option   48.21 € 
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15. Income tax expense 

Taxes recognized in profit or loss 

Current, deferred and total income tax expenses 

(income) during the reporting period were as 

shown below:

 

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards are 

written down to the extent that the Group cannot 

demonstrate that future taxable profits will be suffi-

cient to utilize the loss carryforwards. 

 

 

Income tax expense in € thousand       

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Current tax expense   2,062   -8 

       

Deferred tax expense / income       

from valuation at equity   430   -258 

from differing asset valuations   43   -4 

from capitalization of certain leases 
as right-of-use (ROU) assets and 
corresponding liabilities from lease 
obligations   -49   -36 

from accounting for cash-settled share-based 
compensation arrangements   -115   -12 

from capitalization of certain internally 
generated intangible assets   -20,860   8,664 

Other   251   -110 

from deferred taxes on tax loss carry- 
forwards   -344   -4,962 

       

Total tax expense   -18,582   3,275 
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in € thousand 

      

   Dec. 31, 2024   Dec. 31, 2023 

   

Deferred tax 

assets 
  Deferred tax 

liabilities 
 

 

Deferred tax 

assets 
  Deferred tax 

liabilities 

Valuation of participation in 

affiliate   -      431    

Valuation of non-current assets      134      91 

Right-of-use (ROU) assets and 

corresponding leasing obliga- 
tions   123      74    

Arising from capitalized assets in 

course of a business combination      96,517      119,116 

Capitalization of internally 

generated intangible assets      17,539      15,801 

Other   226   241   198   76 

Tax loss carryforwards - 

Formycon AG corporate tax 
(Körperschaftssteuer)   6,062      3,345    

Tax loss carryforwards - Formycon 

AG 
trade tax (Gewerbesteuer)   4,074      2,257    

Tax loss carryforwards - 

FYB202 Project GmbH   1,790      5,980    

Offset (netting) of deferred tax 

assets and liabilities   -12,275   -12,275   -12,284   -12,284 

Total   -   102,156   -   122,800 

    

 
Reconciliation of expected income tax expense in € thousand 

   

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Profit before tax   -144,253   79,070 

Tax rate   26.68%   26.68% 

Expected income tax expense   -38,487   21,096 

Tax-free income an from the valuation of financial 

instruments   -5,626   -20,454 

Non-taxable expense   12,329    

Taxes for prior years   39   -121 

Other   59   -221 

Non-recognition of deferred tax 

assets on tax losses   13,104   3,022 

Total tax expense   -18,582   3,275 
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EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA in € thousand 

      

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

EBIT   -23,543   -369 

Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment   732   564 

Depreciation of right-of-use 

(ROU) assets   1,262   1,122 

Amortization of intangible assets   7,813   201 

EBITDA   -13,736   1,518 

       

At-Equity Result Bioeq AG   12,087   11,811 

adjusted EBITDA   -1,649   13,329 
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16. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 

The Management Board additionally presents earn-

ings before finance income/expenses, taxes, depre-

ciation and amortization (EBITDA) in this section of 

the Financial Statements because it relies upon 

consolidated EBITDA as well as Adjusted EBITDA 

as key performance measures in managing the 

Group and believes that this measure is relevant to 

an understanding of the Group’s financial perfor-

mance. EBITDA is derived and calculated from re-

ported operating income (EBIT).

Adjusted EBITDA additionally includes the contribu-

tion from Formycon’s jointly controlled investment 

accounted for using the equity method Bioeq AG. 

While EBITDA is not a defined performance meas-

ure under cost of sales method, the Group’s defini-

tion of EBITDA is consistent with usual definitions. 

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the reporting pe-

riod are derived and calculated as shown above. 

 

 



Consolidated Financial Statements — Formycon AG  Annual report 2024 178 

 

 

17. Property, plant and equipment 
(PP&E) and right-of-use (ROU)  
assets 

Right-of-use (ROU) assets 

Capitalized right-of-use (ROU) assets include rights 

to use leased space for the Company’s headquar-

ters, technical equipment and machinery, and 

vehicles leased for employee use. During the fiscal 

year, the Company’s leased headquarters space 

was expanded again and the corresponding lease 

term extended until 2034 (five years fixed plus five 

years optional). An exercise of the lease extension 

option is assumed in the lease term because the 

Company believes it likely that the option will be 

exercised. 

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) and right-of-use (ROU) assets: Reconciliation of book value in € thousand 

  

2023 

  

Right-of-use 

(ROU) assets 

  Leaseholds   Leased 

technical equipment 
and machinery 

 

Cost of acquisition as of Jan. 1, 2023   11,821   9,719   1,856  

Additions   1,506   683   705  

Disposals   -125   -   -  

Cost of acquisition as of Dec. 31, 2023   13,202   10,402   2,561  

           

Accumulated depreciation as of Jan. 1, 2023   -2,905   -1,966   -796  

Additions   -1,122   -838   -203  

Disposals   125   -   -  

Accumulated depreciation as of Dec. 31, 2023   -3,902   -2,804   -999  

           

Net book value as of Jan. 1, 2023   8,916   7,753   1,060  

Net book value as of Dec. 31, 2023   9,300   7,598   1,562  

    

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) and right-of-use (ROU) assets: Reconciliation of book value in € thousand 

  

2024 

  

Right-of-use 

(ROU) assets 

  Leaseholds   Leased 

technical equipment 
and machinery 

 

Cost of acquisition as of Jan. 1, 2024   13,201   10,402   2,560  

Rebookings   -   -   -  

Additions   2,711   2,358   228  

Disposals   -67   -   -  

Cost of acquisition as of Dec. 31, 2024   15,845   12,759   2,788  

           

Accumulated depreciation as of Jan. 1, 2024   -3,901   -2,804   -1,000  

Additions   -1,262   -927   -249  

Disposals   67   -   -  

Accumulated depreciation as of Dec. 31, 2024   -5,096   -3,731   -1,248  

           

Net book value as of Jan. 1, 2024   9,300   7,598   1,561  

Net book value as of Dec. 31, 2024   10,749   9,029   1,540  
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 Leased 

other equipment 
and furnishings 

  Property, plant 

and equipment 

  Leasehold 

improvements 

  Technical equipment 

and machinery 

  Other equipment 

and furnishings 

 246   6,523   644   3,723   2,157 

 118   1,029   7   423   599 

 -125   -189   -   -   -189 

 239   7,363   651   4,146   2,567 

              

 -143   -3,923   -424   -2,345   -1,154 

 -81   -564   -57   -282   -225 

 125   151   -   -   151 

 -99   -4,336   -481   -2,627   -1,228 

              

 103   2,600   220   1,378   1,003 

 140   3,027   170   1,519   1,339 

    

 
 

            
 

 

 Leased 

other equipment 
and furnishings 

  Property, plant 

and equipment 

  Leasehold 

improvements 

  Technical equipment 

and machinery 

  Other equipment 

and furnishings 

 239   7,365   651   4,146   2,567 

 -   2   32   98   -129 

 126   1,545   405   247   893 

 -67   -54   -   -15   -39 

 297   8,857   1,089   4,476   3,293 

              

 -98   -4,338   -481   -2,628   -1,228 

 -86   -732   -80   -321   -331 

 67   33   -   11   22 

 -116   -5,036   -562   -2,938   -1,537 

              

 141   3,027   170   1,518   1,340 

 181   3,821   527   1,538   1,756 
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Goodwill and other intangible assets: Reconciliation of book value in € thousand 

 

 

2023 
  

Goodwill 

 
  Total intangible assets 

 
 

Cost of acquisition as of Jan. 1, 2023   44,534   489,079  

Additions   0   20,167  

Disposals   0   -11  

Rebookings   0   0  

Cost of acquisition as of Dec. 31, 2023   44,534   509,235  

        

Accumulated depreciation as of Jan. 1, 2023   0   -641  

Additions   0   -201  

Disposals   0   9  

Accumulated depreciation as of Dec. 31, 2023   0   -832  

        

Net book value as of Jan. 1, 2023   44,534   488,438  

Net book value as of Dec. 31, 2023   44,534   508,402  

    

Goodwill and other intangible assets: Reconciliation of book value in € thousand 

 

 

2024 
  

Goodwill   Total intangible assets 

 
 

Cost of acquisition as of Jan. 1, 2024   44,534   509,236  

Additions   0   28,395  

Disposals   0   -192  

Rebookings   0   -2  

Cost of acquisition as of Dec. 31, 2024   44,534   537,437  

        

Accumulated depreciation as of Jan. 1, 2024   0   -833  

Additions   0   -7,813  

Disposals   0   45  

Impairments   -44,534   -84,719  

Accumulated depreciation as of Dec. 31, 2024   -44,534   -93,321  

        

Net book value as of Jan. 1, 2024   44,534   508,403  

Net book value as of Dec. 31, 2024   0   444,116  
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 Licenses and 

similar rights 
  Software   Prepayments for 

intangible assets 

 488,017   951   111 

 19,807   360   0 

 -0   -11   0 

 0   111   -111 

 507,824   1,411   0 

        

 -84   -557   0 

 -38   -163   0 

 0   9   0 

 -122   -711   0 

        

 487,933   394   111 

 507,702   700   0 

    

  

     

 

 

 Licenses and 

similar rights 
  Software   Prepayments for 

intangible assets 

 507,825   1,411   0 

 28,385   10   0 

 0   -192   0 

 0   -2   0 

 536,211   1,227   0 

        

 -122   -712   0 

 -7,617   -197   0 

 0   45   0 

 -84,719   0   0 

 -92,457   -864   0 

        

 507,704   699   0 

 443,753   363   0 
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18. Goodwill and other  
intangible assets 

Capitalized development expenditures 

As part of a business combination, all rights to the 

FYB202 project, which was still under develop-

ment, were reacquired by Formycon and recog-

nized accordingly. From May 1, 2022 until January 

31, 2023, all costs for the further development of 

the project, both external and internal, were also 

capitalized as eligible development expenditures. 

Starting from February 1, 2023, all subsequent de-

velopment costs were expensed as incurred and 

included in cost of sales. With the receipt of the ap-

provals for FYB202 in Europe and the US, the asset 

is amortized over its expected useful life. 

In the case of the FYB206 development project, 

the technical proof of similarity (TPoS) milestone 

was reached in 2022. Upon attainment of TPoS, 

the Group capitalizes all subsequent internal and 

external development costs. As of December 31, 

2024, the amount of capitalized development ex-

penditures for this project was € 50,781 thousand 

(Dec. 31, 2023: € 22,395 thousand). 

During the fiscal year, borrowing costs of € 300 

thousand (2023: € 1,460 thousand) under the 

shareholder loans were allocated to the qualifying 

assets FYB206, and capitalized as part of their ac-

quisition costs. 

Impairment testing 

As the part of the business combination involving 

FYB202 Project GmbH, goodwill of € 44,534 thou-

sand was recognized for the first time. The entire 

amount of this goodwill was assigned to the 

FYB202 cash-generating unit (CGU), which corre-

sponds to the FYB202 operating segment. The an-

nual impairment test was conducted upon comple-

tion of the Group’s budget planning for 2025 and 

subsequent years and based upon financial figures 

as of September 30, 2024. The book value of the 

CGU was accordingly established at € 424,987 

thousand, including amongst others € 44,534 thou-

sand in goodwill, € 485,128 thousand in internally 

generated intangible assets (capitalized develop-

ment costs), and corresponding deferred tax 

liabilities (€ 119,116 thousand). The recoverable 

amount of the CGU for impairment testing was de-

termined using the value in use method, and thus 

at Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, with fair value 

determined on the basis of current planning for the 

FYB202 project using discounted cash flows. The 

Group’s planning is based upon analyses of the 

market for the original product, internal information 

regarding potential competitors, market analyses of 

biosimilar products in general, and internal empiri-

cal values developed together with the contractual 

partner for marketing the product as well as exter-

nal advisors. Assumptions were made with regard 

to the overall future market size, the market share 

for all biosimilars, the market share specifically for 

FYB202, and price reductions, which are then used 

as a basis for calculating expected future product 

sales. For the years 2025 to 2035, annual market 

sales of the product were thereby estimated at be-

tween € 145 and 370 million (2023: between € 127 

and 377 million) and assumed to remained un-

changed in subsequent years, with these estimates 

then used as a basis for the further calculations. 

The planning period ends in 2040, with no further 

extrapolations beyond this point. In discounting the 

future estimated cashflows from the CGU, the 

Group applied after-tax discount rates of 9.9% resp. 

17.6% before taxes (2023: between 11.98% and 

16.2%), depending upon the term and based upon 

the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) using 

historical industry weightings, with a possible lever-

age of 8.0% (2023: 9.9%) and a market risk pre-

mium of 7.25% (2023: 8%). The recoverable amount 

determined in this way was € 89,151 thousand 

(2023: € 38,428 thousand) above the book value of 

the CGU, and thus it was not necessary to recog-

nize any impairment. 

As published in our Ad-hoc-news from February 17, 

2025 Formycon in addition identified a triggering 

event to test the CGU FYB202 for impairment, 

based on expected higher rebates and a slower 

market uptake for Stelara Biosimiliars in the US, in 

consensus with its commercialization partner. Ac-

cordingly, the planning for the product was updated 

based on the latest available information. 

For the years 2025 to 2035, market revenues of 

between € 58 million and € 186 million were 
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assumed and extrapolated on a constant basis for 

the following years. The planning period ends in 

2040; no further extrapolation was made. The 

group used a term-dependent discount rate after 

taxes of 10.04% resp. 16.1% before taxes for the 

CGU, which is based on the historical industry-

weighted average cost of capital, with a possible 

leverage of 5.8% and a market risk premium of 

7.25%. The recoverable amount calculated in this 

way was € 106,650 thousand below the carrying 

amount of the CGU at € 300,351 thousand, mean-

ing that an impairment had to be recognized. In the 

first step, the goodwill of € 44,534 thousand allo-

cated to the CGU was written off in full. In the sec-

ond step, applying the grossing up method, both 

the internally generated intangible asset with € 

84,719 thousand and the associated deferred tax li-

ability wit € 22,603 thousand were reduced, result-

ing in a net effect of € 62,116 thousand. After recog-

nition, the carrying amount of the CGU amounts to 

€ 300,351 thousand and mainly includes the inter-

nally generated intangible asset of € 392,752 thou-

sand and the resulting deferred tax liability of € 

98,721 thousand. 

The FYB206 project under development was as-

signed to the FYB206 CGU with a book value for 

the CGU as at September 30, 2024 of € 47,621 

thousand (2023: € 21,815 thousand). Likewise for 

this CGU, the recoverable amount was determined 

using value in use on the basis of current planning 

for the FYB206 project using discounted cash 

flows. In the case of FYB206, Formycon’s planning 

is based in large part upon its experience with pre-

vious biosimilar development projects. Assump-

tions were likewise made with regard to the overall 

future market size, the market share for all biosimi-

lars, the market share specifically for FYB206, and 

price reductions. Initial CGU revenues in the form of 

milestone payments from a potential marketing 

partner are expected from 2025, with commercial 

market launch anticipated following originator pa-

tent expiry in 2029. The planning period ends in 

2040, with no further extrapolations beyond this 

point. For this CGU, Group has applied a before-tax 

discount rate of 9.9% (2023: 11.9%), likewise based 

upon the WACC using historical industry weight-

ings, with a possible leverage of 8% (2023: 7.5%) 

and a market risk premium of 7.25% (2023: 8%). 

The recoverable amount determined in this way is 

€ 310,640 thousand. This did not result in any im-

pairment requirement. 
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Financial assets: Reconciliation of book value in € thousand       

2023   

Investment in 

Bioeq AG   

Loan to associate 

Bioeq AG   Total 

Book value as of Jan. 1, 2023   186,406   92,300   278,706 

Additions   11,811   2,300   14,111 

Disposals   -   -3,300   -3,300 

Write-downs   -31,173   -393   -31,566 

Book value as of Dec. 31, 2023   167,044   90,907   257,952 

 

 
Financial assets: Reconciliation of book value in € thousand       

2024   

Investment in 

Bioeq AG   

Loan to associate 

Bioeq AG   Total 

Book value as of Jan. 1, 2024   167,044   90,907   257,952 

Additions   12,087   2,419   14,506 

Disposals   -   -27,300   -27,300 

Write-downs   -27,261   107   -27,154 

Book value as of Dec. 31, 2024   151,870   66,134   218,004 
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19. Financial assets 

Shareholdings in jointly controlled companies 

During fiscal year 2022, the Group became a 50% 

shareholder and co-owner of Bioeq AG (Zug, Swit-

zerland), which is thus jointly controlled by 

Formycon. The company is accounted for in the 

consolidated financial statements using the equity 

method.  

Impairment testing 

As published in our Ad-Hoc-News from February 17, 

2025 Bioeq AG, the exclusive licensing partner for 

FYB201/CIMERLI®, is currently, based on the in-

creasing price pressure among the Ranibizumab 

competition in discussions with their commerciali-

zation partner for the US Sandoz AG. Based on 

these ongoing discussions Formycon currently  

expects the commercialization of FYB201/CIMERLI® 

to pause in the US after the first quarter 2025 for 

approx. 1 year. This expection was identified as a 

triggering event for an impairment test of the net in-

vestment in Bioeq AG. 

For this purpose, the expected cash flows were sig-

nificantly adjusted as of December 31, 2024 due to 

changed market expectations for the FYB201 pro-

ject. Accordingly, an impairment test was carried 

out in accordance with the provisions of IAS 36. 

The net book value of the investment was deter-

mined, including the net income for the period of € 

12,087 thousand, at € 179,132 thousand. The recov-

erable amount of the net investment for impairment 

testing was determined using value in use method 

and thus at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, with 

fair value determined on the  

 

 
Key financial details for the accounting of Bioeq AG in € thou-
sand 

      

   2024   2023 

Formycon share at year end   50%   50% 

Non-current assets   120,958   144,167 

Current assets   61,137   74,147 

Cash and cash equivalents   15,157   5,739 

Non-current financial liabilities   -128,000   -178,000 

Other non-current liabilities   -1,267   -1,305 

Current financial liabilities   -4,991   -8,991 

Other current liabilities   -23,099   -20,142 

Equity (100%)   39,895   15,615 

Formycon share of equity (50%)   19,948   7,808 

Hidden reserves revealed during initial re- 

cognition including Goodwill less accumu- 
lated depreciation and impairments   154,929   187,337 

Tax effect thereof   -23,007   -28,101 

Book value at year end   151,870   167,044 

Revenue   108,286   101,743 

Depreciation & Amortization   -31,205   -30,924 

Operating income (EBIT)   32,950   36,091 

Interest income   531   35 

Interest expense   -4,834   -4,632 

Tax Expense   -4,578   3,472 

Profit (loss) for the period   24,174   23,623 

Formycon share of profit (loss)   12,087   11,811 
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basis of current planning for the FYB201 project us-

ing discounted cash flows. The Group’s planning is 

based upon analyses of the market for the original 

product, internal information regarding potential 

competitors, market analyses of biosimilar products 

in general, and internal empirical values developed 

together with the contractual partners for marketing 

the product. Assumptions were made with regard 

to the overall future market size, the market share 

for all biosimilars, the market share specifically for 

FYB201, and price reductions, which are then used 

as a basis for calculating expected future product 

sales. For the years 2025 to 2028, annual market 

sales of the product were thereby estimated be-

tween € 68 and 211 million and reduced in subse-

quent years by 5% per year, with these estimates 

then used as a basis for the further calculations. 

The planning period ends in 2040, with no further 

extrapolations beyond this point. In discounting the 

future estimated cashflows from Bioeq AG, the 

Group applied after-tax discount rates of 10.04% 

resp. 9.4% before taxes, depending upon term and 

based upon the weighted average cost of capital 

(WACC) using historical industry weightings, with a 

possible leverage of 5.8% and a market risk pre-

mium of 7.25%. The recoverable amount deter-

mined in this way was € 151,870 thousand and thus 

below the net book value, meaning that it was nec-

essary to record an impairment in the amount of € 

27,261 thousand. 

Key financial details for the accounting of Bioeq AG 

at equity may be found in the following table. This 

includes in 2024 € -31 thousand (2023: € -177 thou-

sand) arising from the measurement of defined 

benefit obligations that have been recorded di-

rectly in other comprehensoive income. In this 

presentation, adjustments to fair value at the time 

of acquisition and at the time of the impairment 

testing as of December 31, 2024 have already been 

taken into account. 

Loans to jointly controlled companies 

As part of the acquisition for the shareholding in Bi-

oeq AG, the Group acquired a loan receivable from 

Bioeq AG in the amount of € 82,000 thousand. By 

the end of December 31, 2022, the loan had been 

increased by a further € 10,000 thousand to € 

92,000 thousand within the contractual loan 

framework amount of € 99,000 thousand through a 

further loan drawdown. During the preceding year, 

€ 2,300 thousand attributable to the loan was also 

recorded as interest income. During the 2024 fiscal 

year, € 25,000 thousand was repaid by Bioeq AG 

along with the interest due from the preceding 

year, and a further € 2,419 thousand attributable to 

the loan was recorded as interest income. The in-

terest rate of the loan is based upon the official cir-

culars published by the Swiss tax authorities for 

permissible interest rates on cross-border loans 

with affiliated companies and was approx. 3.0% 

during the fiscal year. The loan bears interest at the 

interest rate published by the Swiss Federal Tax 

Administration (SFTA) in its annually renewed circu-

lar on tax-recognized interest rates for advances or 

loans in foreign currency. During the fiscal year, re-

versal of the write-down in the amount of € 107 

thousand (2023: write-down € 393 thousand) was 

taken based on the expected credit loss (ECL) 

model. 

20. Equity 

In February 2024, the Management Board and Su-

pervisory Board of Formycon AG resolved to in-

crease the Company’s registered capital by € 

1,603,877.00, from € 16,053,025.00 to € 

17,656,902.00, through the issuance of 1,603,877 

new bearer shares without par value. These new 

shares corresponded to approx. 9.08% of the Com-

pany’s shares already outstanding at the time of is-

suance and were issued in a private placement. 

The placement was executed at a price of € 51.65 

per share, Changes to Equity during the reporting 

period are presented in the Consolidated State-

ment of Changes in Equity. 

Number of shares outstanding 

As of the end of the reporting period, the Company 

had registered capital (Grundkapital) of € 

€ 17,664,427.00 (Dec. 31, 2023: € € 16,053,025.00), 

divided into 17,664,427 bearer shares without par 

value (Dec. 31, 2023: 16,053,025 shares). All shares 

have full voting and dividend rights. 

Authorized Capital 2024 
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By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 

June 12, 2024, the Management Board is author-

ized, subject to the approval of the Supervisory 

Board, to increase the Company’s registered capi-

tal one or more times at any time until June 11, 

2029, and by no more than a total of 

€ 8,828,451.00, through the issuance of up to 

8,828,451 new no-par-value common bearer 

shares, against contributions in cash and/or in kind 

(Authorized Capital 2024). The Company’s share-

holders shall, in general, be granted subscription 

rights (which may also be by way of indirect sub-

scription rights pursuant to sec. 186 para. 5 sen-

tence 1 of the Stock Corporation Act). Notwithstand-

ing the foregoing, the Management Board shall be 

authorized, subject to the approval of the Supervi-

sory Board, to fully or partly exclude the general 

statutory subscription rights of shareholders in the 

following specific cases: 

— For the exclusion of fractional shares from sub-

scription rights. 

— In the case of capital increases against non-

cash contributions for the issuance and grant-

ing of shares as consideration for the purchase 

of companies, parts of companies, equity inter-

ests in companies, or other assets or rights. 

— In the case of capital increases made against 

cash contributions, provided that the issuance 

price of the new shares is not significantly 

lower than the stock exchange price at the time 

that the issuance price is determined and that 

the new shares issued under exclusion of sub-

scription rights pursuant to sec. 186 para. 3 

sentence 4 of the Stock Corporation Act do not 

exceed 10% of the Company’s share capital, ei-

ther at the time of entry into effect or at the 

time of exercise. The calculation of this 10% 

limit shall include (a) any shares which are is-

sued or sold during the term of this authoriza-

tion under an exclusion of subscription rights 

through the direct application of, and in accord-

ance with, sec. 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the 

Stock Corporation Act, and/or (b) any shares is-

sued, or which may be issued, to fulfill the 

Company’s obligations arising from the exer-

cise of warrants and/or conversion rights, or 

other stock option rights or obligations, arising 

from bonds or profit participation rights, pro-

vided that these financial instruments have 

been issued subsequent to the entry into force 

of this authorization and under exclusion of 

subscription rights pursuant to sec. 186 para. 3 

sentence 4 of the Stock Corporation Act. 

— In the case of capital increases made against 

cash contributions, insofar as necessary to 

grant sufficient shares to holders of bonds or 

profit participation rights with warrants and/ or 

conversion rights, or involving other stock op-

tion rights or obligations, and issued by the 

Company or by a direct or indirect subsidiary 

thereof, to the extent that they would be enti-

tled as shareholders upon exercise of the rele-

vant option or conversion right or fulfillment of 

option or conversion obligation, or following 

any right to substitute which the Company may 

have. 

— For the granting of shares issued in lieu of cash 

dividends (scrip dividends), whereby sharehold-

ers are offered the option of contributing their 

dividend entitlement (in whole or in part) to the 

Company as a contribution in kind against the 

granting of new shares from Authorized Capi-

tal. 

The Management Board is authorized, subject to 

the approval of the Supervisory Board, to deter-

mine further details regarding the specific imple-

mentation of any such capital increase and issu-

ance of new shares, including the issuance price, 

as well as regarding the rights of shareholders 

thereunder. The Supervisory Board is further au-

thorized to amend the Company’s Articles of Incor-

poration to reflect any such increase in registered 

capital and corresponding decrease in Authorized 

Capital 2023 in the event of any such full or partial 

utilization of the Authorized Capital 2023 or in the 

event of its expiry. 

Conditional Capital 2022 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 

June 30, 2022, the Company’s registered capital 
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has been conditionally increased by a maximum of 

€ 6,497,125.00. 

This conditional capital increase shall serve for the 

granting of shares to holders of convertible bonds 

and/or bonds with attached warrants issued by the 

Company, or by a group company within the mean-

ing of sec. 18 of the Stock Corporation Act, on the 

basis of the corresponding authorization resolved 

by the Annual General Meeting on June 30, 2022 

and at any time until June 29, 2027, which become 

due upon the exercise of bondholder conversion 

and/or option rights, or upon fulfillment of conver-

sion or subscription obligations, or upon the exer-

cise by the Company of its optional rights to re-

deem bonds, in whole or in part, through the grant-

ing of Company shares in lieu of cash. The conver-

sion or option exercise price at which the new 

shares are issued shall be determined in accord-

ance with the authorizing shareholder resolution. 

Capital increases under the Conditional Capital 

2022 shall be carried out only to the extent neces-

sary for the exercise of conversion or option rights, 

or for the fulfillment by creditors or bondholders of 

conversion or subscription obligations, or for the 

exercise by the Company of its optional rights to re-

deem bonds, in whole or in part, through the grant-

ing of new Company shares to holders of converti-

ble bonds and/or bonds with attached warrants as 

consideration due and only insofar as such consid-

eration due is not granted in the form of cash or ex-

isting treasury shares, or as shares of another listed 

company as substitute consideration. Although 

newly issued shares should, in principle, participate 

in profits from the beginning of the fiscal year dur-

ing which they are issued, any shares newly issued 

on the basis of a bond conversion or warrant exer-

cise declared prior to the annual general meeting 

of the Company in which a resolution is passed re-

garding the application of retained profits from the 

prior fiscal year shall also be entitled to participate 

in any dividends declared for the prior fiscal year. 

To the extent legally permissible, the Board of Man-

agement may, with the approval of the Supervisory 

Board, determine the profit participation of such 

newly issued shares in deviation from sec. 60 para. 

2 of the Stock Corporation Act. The Management 

Board is authorized, subject to the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, to determine further details 

regarding the specific implementation of any capi-

tal increases hereunder. 

Number of subscription rights per sec. 192 para. 2 

no. 3 of the Stock Corporation Act 

Conditional Capital 2015 

“The Company’s registered capital has been condi-

tionally increased by a maximum of € 376,000 for 

the issuance of a maximum of 376,000 new no-par-

value bearer shares (Conditional Capital 2015).” The 

Conditional Capital 2015 serves exclusively to se-

cure subscription rights (stock options) granted to 

members of the Management Board and Company 

employees, as well as executives and employees of 

Company subsidiaries and associated companies, 

under the authority granted by resolution of the An-

nual General Meeting of June 30, 2015 to issue 

such stock options at any time up to and including 

June 29, 2020. This capital increase is conditional 

upon such subscription rights having been issued 

and upon the exercise of such subscription rights 

by the holders thereof, and further provided that 

the Company does not grant treasury shares or 

provide a cash settlement in fulfillment of such sub-

scription rights. The newly issued shares shall par-

ticipate in profits from the start of the fiscal year for 

which, at the time of their issuance, no resolution 

has yet been taken by the Annual General Meeting 

as to the application of retained profits. The Man-

agement Board is authorized, subject to approval 

of the Supervisory Board, to determine further de-

tails regarding the specific implementation of any 

such contingent capital increase. In the case of 

such subscription rights (stock options) being 

granted to Management Board members, the Su-

pervisory Board is similarly authorized. The Super-

visory Board is further authorized to amend the 

Company’s articles of incorporation to reflect such 

utilization of conditional capital. 

A total of 7,525 sahres were issued during the fiscal 

year under the Conditional Capital 2015 yb exercise 

of such stock options. 

As of the period closing date, a total of 194,450 

stock options remained issued under the Condi-

tional Capital 2015 that were neither expired nor 

exercised. 
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Conditional Capital 2020 

The Company’s registered capital has been condi-

tionally increased by a maximum of € 724,000 for 

the issuance of a maximum of 724,000 new nopar-

value bearer shares (Conditional Capital 2020). The 

Conditional Capital 2020 serves exclusively to 

secure subscription rights (stock options) granted 

to members of the Management Board and Com-

pany employees, as well as executives and employ-

ees of Company subsidiaries and  

 

 
Equity ratio in € thousand 

      

   2024   2023 

Equity   461,843   502,751 

Non-current liabilities   275,979   318,305 

Current liabilities   33,893   69,306 

Liabilities and equity   771,715   890,363 

Equity ratio   59.8%   56.5% 

    

associated companies, under the authority granted 

by resolution of the Annual General Meeting of De-

cember 10, 2020 to issue such stock options at any 

time up to and including December 9, 2025. This 

capital increase is conditional upon such subscrip-

tion rights having been issued and upon the exer-

cise of such subscription rights by the holders 

thereof, and further provided that the Company 

does not grant treasury shares or provide a cash 

settlement in fulfillment of such subscription rights. 

The newly issued shares shall participate in profits 

from the start of the fiscal year for which, at the 

time of their issuance, no resolution has yet been 

taken by the Annual General Meeting as to the ap-

plication of retained profits. The Management 

Board is authorized, subject to approval of the Su-

pervisory Board, to determine further details re-

garding the specific implementation of any such 

contingent capital increase. In the case of such 

subscription rights (stock options) being granted to 

Management Board members, the Supervisory 

Board is similarly authorized. The Supervisory 

Board is further authorized to amend the Com-

pany’s articles of incorporation to reflect such utili-

zation of conditional capital. 0 (Dec. 31, 2023: 

28,000) stock options were granted and 2,000 op-

tions expired during the fiscal year. Thus as of the 

period closing date, a total of 230,000 stock 

options were issued thereunder and not either ex-

pired or exercised. 

21. Capital management 

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital 

base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future development of 

the business. Management regularly monitors li-

quidity and the Equity ratio in order to ensure their 

adequacy. In the fiscal year 2022, a significant 

long-term debt position was created for the first 

time arising from the business combination and the 

associated financing by key shareholders. This fi-

nancing arrangement serves to facilitate the 

Group’s medium-term to long-term strategy and to 

enable Formycon to continue its development pro-

jects independently without necessarily having to 

rely on the support of external partners. At the 

same time, the equity ratio has fallen significantly 

as a result of the new long-term debt, although it 

should be recognized here that this long-term debt 

is provided exclusively by Formycon shareholders. 

During the fiscal year, the equity base was further 

strengthened through the capital increase against 

cash contributions, with the result that despite the 

impairment losses recognized in the financial year, 

the Group’s equity ratio was mainly kept stable. 
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Other current liabilities in € thousand 

      

   Dec. 31, 2024   Dec. 31, 2023 

Shareholder loans   -   20,485 

Current portion of conditional purchase 

price obligation   8,680   27,179 

Staff-related liabilities   3,069   2,684 

Taxes   -   194 

Other current liabilities   1,183   806 

Total   12,932   51,349 

22. Other current liabilities 

The amount of the shareholder loan in the previous 

year includes loan nominal and accrued interest. 

The loan was granted to the Group by key share-

holders (or affiliates thereof) to facilitate the strate-

gic transaction. The loan is a revolving credit line, 

originally in the amount of € 68,000 thousand with 

a term of 24 months from the first drawdown. The 

credit line was reduced to € 48,000 thousand by 

repayments in the previous year. Interest is charged 

on drawdowns at market rates which can be repaid 

at any time. During the fiscal year, the remaining € 

20,000 thousand was repaid along with the interest 

amount due. As of the reporting date, € 0 thousand 

of this credit line remained drawn by the Group and 

outstanding. 

23. Other non-current liabilities 

Other non-current liabilities include the conditional 

purchase price payments relating to the acquisition 

of subsidiaries in the amount of € 164,249 thou-

sand (Dec. 31, 2023: € 187.644 thousand) along 

with obligations under cash-settled equity-based 

compensation arrangements in the amount of € 

477 thousand (Dec. 31, 2023: € 44 thousand). 

24. Financial instruments 

Valuation 

The Group generally classifies all financial assets 

and liabilities as financial instruments measured at 

amortized cost. The sole exception to this is the 

conditional portion of the purchase price for the ac-

quisition of the shareholdings in FYB202 Project 

GmbH and Bioeq AG (see preceding Notes 22 and 

23), which is measured at fair value. For all financial 

assets and liabilities except for the shareholder 

loan to Bioeq AG, which is at a non-market interest 

rate, book value is an adequate approximation of 

fair value. The book values and fair values of the 

Group’s financial assets and liabilities are summa-

rized on the right side. In the prior fiscal year, the 

book value for all financial assets and liabilities rep-

resented a reasonable approximation of their re-

spective fair value, and thus the fair values were 

not specifically disclosed. 

The contingent purchase price obligations are 

measured at fair value based on level 3 input fac-

tors under the fair value hierarchy (see Note 6). 

  



Consolidated Financial Statements — Formycon AG  Annual report 2024 191 

 

 

 
Book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities in € thousand 

   

   

Book value 

at Dec. 31, 2024 
  Fair value 

at Dec. 31, 2024 
  FV 

category 

Financial assets not carried at fair value   0   0   0 

Financial assets   66,134   55,673   3 

Trade and other receivables   23,693   23,693   3 

Contract assets   7,016   7,016   3 

Prepayments   22,123   22,123   3 

Cash and cash equivalents   41,834   41,834   3 

Financial liabilities carried at fair value   -   -   - 

Current portion of conditional purchase price   8,680   8,680   3 

Non-current portion of conditional purchase price   164,249   164,249   3 

Financial liabilities not carried at fair value   -   -   - 

Trade payables   17,437   17,437   3 

          

 

Book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities in € thousand 
   

   

Book value 

at Dec. 31, 2023 

  Fair value 

at Dec. 31, 2023 

  FV 

category 

Financial assets not carried at fair value   0   0   0 

Financial assets   90,907   82,765   3 

Trade and other receivables   11,612   11,612   3 

Contract assets   16,561   16,561   3 

Cash and cash equivalents   27,035   27,035   3 

Financial liabilities carried at fair value   -   -   - 

Current portion of conditional purchase price   27,179   27,179   3 

Non-current portion of conditional purchase price   187,645   187,645   3 

Financial liabilities not carried at fair value   -   -   - 

Shareholder Loans   20,485   20,485   3 

Trade payables   16,319   16,319   3 

          

    

The contingent purchase price payments were val-

ued at a fair value of € 172,929 thousand as of the 

reporting date (Dec. 31, 2023: € 214,824 thousand). 

During the fiscal year, € 20,807 thousand of the 

contingent purchase price payments were paid. 

The remaining difference in the amount of € 21,088 

thousand was recognized as profit or loss in the fi-

nance income (finance costs). 

The valuation model is based upon the expected 

cash flows discounted at risk-adjusted rates de-

pending upon the respective future payment dates. 

As of the reporting date, the rate used to discount 

the conditional purchase price payments was 

10.04%. The estimated fair value would increase if 

the expected cash flows occurred earlier or if the 

risk-adjusted discount rates were lower. A 1% de-

crease (increase) in the discount rate would result 

in an increase (decrease) in fair value of € 10,596 

thousand (€ 9,641 thousand), which would have to 

be recognized as profit or loss. 

Advance payments in the amount of € 22,123 thou-

sand (Dec. 31, 2023: € 11,335 thousand) are mainly 

advance payments for development services. 
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Liquidity risk in € thousand 

            

as of Dec. 31, 2024   due within 1 year   1-2 years   2-3 years   

Lease obligations   1,597   1,523   1,409   

Conditional purchase price payments   9,107   12,555   20,730   

    

Liquidity risk in € thousand 

            

as of Dec. 31, 2023   due within 1 year   1-2 years   2-3 years   

Lease obligations   1,294   1,223   1,136   

Shareholder loan   20,485   -   -   

Conditional purchase price payments   28,743   28,671   33,654   

    

 

Risk management 

For a description of the methods, processes, re-

sponsibilities and objectives of Formycon’s risk 

management system, please refer to the respective 

section of the combined Management Report. The 

Group has exposure to the following risks arising 

from financial instruments: 

— Credit risk 

— Liquidity risk 

— Foreign currency risk 

Risk management framework 

The Management Board of Formycon AG has over-

all responsibility for the establishment and over-

sight of the Group’s risk management framework. 

Toward this end, the Management Board has ap-

pointed staff members responsible for managing 

and further developing the Group’s risk manage-

ment policies. These staff members report regularly 

to the Management Board on their activities. The 

risk management policies and systems are regu-

larly reviewed to reflect changes in market condi-

tions and in the Group’s activities. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if 

a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 

fails to meet its contractual obligations. In the case 

of Formycon, credit risk arises principally from the 

loan receivable, from trade receivables, from con-

tract assets, andand from the Group’s holdings in 

cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts 

of financial assets and contract assets represent 

the maximum potential credit exposure. 

In determining whether the credit risk of a financial 

asset has increased significantly since its initial 

recognition and in estimating expected credit 

losses, the Group considers information that is 

available without undue cost or effort. This includes 

both quantitative and qualitative information and 

analysis based on the Group’s historical experience 

andand an appropriate credit assessment, which 

also incorporate forward-looking information. In ad-

dition to 
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3-4 years   4-5 years   > 5 years   Total   Book value 

1,349   1,198   5,179   12,255   10,593 

32,900   28,324   243,742   347,358   172,929 

    

   

 

          

3-4 years   4-5 years   > 5 years   Total   Book value 

1,069   1,013   3,602   9,337   9,001 

-   -   -   20,485   20,485 

44,964   32,378   240,080   408,489   214,824 

    

 

external credit ratings where available, this infor-

mation may also include credit agency information 

and industry information. During the fiscal year, re-

versal write-downs in the amount of € 78 thousand 

(Dec: 31, 2023: 447 thousand) were recorded 

based on the expected credit losses (ECL) for loans 

of the same credit rating.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encoun-

ter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 

with its financial liabilities that are settled by deliv-

ering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s 

objective when managing liquidity is to ensure, as 

far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to 

meet its liabilities when they are due, under both 

normal, e.g. foreign currency risk, and stressed 

conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses 

or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The 

remaining contractual maturities of financial liabili-

ties as of the reporting date are shown below. The 

amounts are gross and undiscounted and include 

contractual interest payments but not the impact of 

netting agreements. 
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Foreign currency risk in thousand             

as of Dec. 31, 2024   USD   GBP   CHF   JPY 

Bank accounts   1,268   -   -   - 

Trade payables   91   22   206   - 

Net risk exposure   -1,177   22   206   - 

    

 
Foreign currency risk in thousand             

as of Dec. 31, 2023   USD   GBP   CHF   JPY 

Bank accounts   368   -   -   - 

Trade payables   52   1   294   84 

Net risk exposure   -316   1   294   84 

    

Foreign currency risk 

To the extent that there is a mismatch between the 

currencies in which purchase and credit transac-

tions are denominated and the functional currency 

of the relevant consolidated company, the Group is 

exposed to transactional foreign currency risk. The 

functional currency of consolidated companies is, 

in all cases, the euro (€). The transactions from 

which such foreign currency risk may arise are pri-

marily denominated in U.S. dollars (USD), British 

pounds (GBP) and Swiss francs (CHF), as well as to 

a small extent Japanese yen (JPY). In addition, the 

Group holds bank accounts denominated in USD. 

As of the reporting date, the net foreign currency 

risk reflected in Group’s balance sheet (for each of 

the currencies, in thousands) was as shown above.

A hypothetical strengthening or weakening of the 

euro, U.S. dollar, British pound, Swiss franc or Japa-

nese yen relative to the other currencies would, as 

of December 31, have influenced the valuation of fi-

nancial instruments denominated in foreign curren-

cies and would have affected the equity account 

and profit or loss account according. A 10% change 

in the USD/EUR exchange rate would result in a 

gain/loss of € 9 thousand (2023: € 6 thousand), 

while a 10% change in the CHF/EUR exchange rate 

would result in a gain/loss of € 21 thousand (2023: 

€ 28 thousand). This analysis assumes that all other 

influencing factors, especially interest rates, remain 

unchanged. 
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Lease liabilities in € thousand               

 
       

as of Dec. 31, 2024 

  

due 

within 1 
year   1-2 years   

2-3 

years   

3-4 

years   

4-5 

years   

> 5 

years   Total 

Current lease obligations   1,496   -   -   -   -   -   1,496 

Non-current lease obligations   -   1,214   1,147   1,133   1,021   4,582   9,097 

    

 
Lease liabilities in € thousand               

 
       

as of Dec. 31, 2023 

  

due 

within 1 
year   1-2 years   

2-3 

years   

3-4 

years   

4-5 

years   

> 5 

years   Total 

Current lease obligations   1,186   -   -   -   -   -   1,186 

Non-current lease obligations   -   1,166   1,089   1,028   978   3,555   7,816 

    

25. Leases 

The Group enters into lease contracts solely as a 

lessee. These contracts include the Group’s leased 

head offices in Martinsried/Planegg on the outskirts 

of Munich, leased property, plant and equipment 

primarily for laboratory purposes, and leased vehi-

cles for certain staff members. For information 

about the capitalization of right-of-use assets, see 

Note 17. Interest expenses of € 301 thousand 

(2023: € 80 thousand) were incurred during the fis-

cal year and recognized in the income statement 

(Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive In-

come). In addition, administrative expenses during 

the fiscal year included lease payments for low-

value assets not recognized as right-of-use assets 

with corresponding lease liabilities in the amount of 

€ 18 thousand (2023: € 19 thousand). 

The table above provides an overview of the matur-

ities of the Group’s lease liabilities. 
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Renumeration according to IAS 24.17 in € thousand 

      

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Short-term employee benefits   1,906   1,678 

Stock option expenses   1,331   998 

Total   3,237   2,676 
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26. Transactions with related parties 

Key management personnel and members of Su-
pervisory Board 

The Group’s key management personnel are the 

members of the Management Board of Formycon 

AG. During the reporting period, remuneration to 

Management Board members was as shown 

above. In addition premiums to an retirement bo-

nus program on behalf of a family member of one 

of our Management Board member were paid in 

the amount of € 27 thousand (2023: € 0). During 

the fiscal year, remuneration to members of the Su-

pervisory Board was € 211 thousand (2023: € 109 

thousand). 

Beyond regular remuneration, there were no trans-

actions with any member of the Management 

Board or Supervisory Board during the reporting 

period or prior-year period. 

Related companies 

Since the acquisition by Athos in 2022 of a share-

holding in Formycon AG along with representation 

on the Supervisory Board, Athos Group companies 

have been recognized as related companies. Bioeq 

AG, an entity jointly controlled by Formycon, is like-

wise recognized as a related company. 

During the reporting period, sales revenue in the 

amount of € 34,969 thousand (2023: € 40,341 

thousand) was recognized with related companies, 

of which € 17,293 thousand (2023: € 14,885 thou-

sand) was with jointly controlled Bioeq AG. Out of 

the Group’s total trade receivables on the closing 

balance sheet, receivables in the amount of € 

6,049 thousand (Dec. 31, 2023: € 6,471 thousand) 

were due from related companies. The balance 

sheet also includes a loan receivable from Bioeq 

AG in the nominal amount of € 66,419 thousand 

(Dec. 31, 2023: € 91,300 thousand) including ac-

crued interest. 

In addition to the sales revenue and trade receiva-

bles resulting from these development partner-

ships, the Group has also received a loan facility 

from key shareholders (see Note 22). In addition, 

Formycon has liabilities relating to conditional 

purchase price payments to Athos Group compa-

nies resulting from the business combination trans-

action. As of the reporting date, the amount of this 

recorded liability was € 172,929 thousand (Dec. 31, 

2023: € 214,824 thousand), while finance income 

during the fiscal year included € 21,088 thousand 

(2023: € 96,618 thousand) arising from the fair 

value measurement of these obligations. 

Some of these companies had transactions with the 

Group during the Financial Years. The terms and 

conditions of such transactions have been at 

armths length. 

There were no other transactions with related per-

sons or companies during the reporting period.
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Average number of employees (FTE) during the reporting period 

   

   2024   2023 

Research & development   176   162 

Business operations   12   10 

General & administrative   47   25 

Total   235   197 

   

 
Staff expenses calculated in accordance with total cost method in € thousand 

   

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Wages and salaries   21,912   18,853 

Expenses for social security contributions   3,525   3,247 

Expenses for retirement contributions   603   275 

Total   26,040   22,375 
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27. Other information 

Renumeration 

During the fiscal year, the members of the Supervi-

sory Board received total remuneration of € 211 

thousand (2023: € 109 thousand), while total remu-

neration to members of the Management Board, 

within the meaning of sec. 315e in connection with 

section 314 no. 6 of the Commercial Code, was € 

2.980 thousand (2023: € 1,814 thousand), of which 

€ 587 thousand (2023: € 604 thousand) was suc-

cess-based, and including € 1,096 thousand from 

the granting of 22,740 rights under a performance-

based stock option plan. 

Declaration of compliance 

The declaration of the management on the German 

Corporate Governance Codex can be found on the 

homepage at www.formycon.com in the Investor 

Relations section. 

   

 

28. Subsequent events 

No events of material significance that are not re-

flected in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss or the consolidated statement of financial posi-

tion have occurred since the end of the fiscal year. 

29. Subsequent report 

After the reporting date Formycon shares were in-

cluded in the TecDAX.  FYB203 Eylea®-Biosimilar 

received approval in the European Union as well as 

in United Kingdom and commercialization partner-

ships for FYB203 were agreed with Teva Pharma-

ceuticals International GmbH covering large parts 

of Europe as well as with Lotus Pharmaceutical for 

the Asia-Pacific region. FYB202/Otulfi® received 

approval in Canada and in United Kingdom. 

 

 

 
Consolidated financial statement auditor fees per sec. 314 para. 1 no. 9 of the Commercial Code in € thousand 

   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2024   Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2023 

Audit services   631   582 

Other confirmatory services   969   0 

Total   1,600   582 

http://www.formycon.com/
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Responsibility statement 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 

with the applicable reporting principles, the finan-

cial statements give a true and fair view of the as-

sets, finances, and operating results of the 

Formycon AG and the Group, and the combined 

management report includes a fair view of the de-

velopment and performance of the business and 

the position of Formycon AG and the Group, to-

gether with a description of the principal opportuni-

ties and risks associated with the expected devel-

opment of Formycon AG and the Group.

Martinsried/Planegg, Germany, March 21, 
2025  

  

Dr. Stefan Glombitza Nicola Mikulcik 

  

Dr. Andreas Seidl Enno Spillner 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Independent auditor's report 

Report on the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and the combined 
management report 

Audit Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial state-

ments of Formycon AG, Planegg-Martinsried, and 

its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 

December 31, 2024, the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, the consolidated state-

ment of changes in equity and the consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the financial year from 

January 1 to December 31, 2024, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including a sum-

mary of significant accounting policies. In addition, 

we have audited the combined management report 

of Formycon AG and the Group (the "combined 

management report") for the financial year from 

January 1 to December 31, 2024. 

In accordance with the German legal requirements, 

we have not audited the content of those parts of 

the combined management report listed in the 

"Other Information" section of our auditor's report. 

The combined management report contains cross-

references marked as unaudited that are not re-

quired by law. In accordance with German legal re-

quirements, we have not audited the content of 

these cross-references or the information to which 

the cross-references relate. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, 

the accompanying consolidated financial state-

ments 

— the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements comply, in all material respects, 

with the IFRS accounting standards issued 

by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) (referred to subsequently as 

"IFRS accounting standards") as adopted by 

the EU and the additional requirements of 

German commercial law pursuant to Section 

315e (1) HGB and, in compliance with these 

requirements, give a true and fair view of 

the assets, liabilities and financial position of 

the Group as at December 31, 2024 and of 

its financial performance for the financial 

year from January 1 to December 31, 2024, 

and 

— the accompanying combined management 

report as a whole provides an appropriate 

view of the Group's position. In all material 

respects, this combined management report 

is consistent with the consolidated financial 

statements, complies with German legal re-

quirements and appropriately presents the 

opportunities and risks of future develop-

ment. Our audit opinion on the combined 

management report does not cover the con-

tent of those parts of the combined man-

agement report listed in the "Other infor-

mation" section. The combined manage-

ment report contains cross-references 

marked as unaudited that are not required 

by law. Our audit opinion does not cover 

these cross-references or the information to 

which the cross-references relate. 

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz 1 HGB, we declare 

that our audit has not led to any reservations relat-

ing to the legal compliance of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements and of the combined manage-

ment report. 

Basis for the audit opinions 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated finan-

cial statements and of the combined management 

report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the 

EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to sub-

sequently as "EU Audit Regulation") and in compli-

ance with German Generally Accepted Standards 

for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Au-

ditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under 

those requirements and principles are further de-

scribed in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Au-

dit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of 

the Combined Management Report" section of our 

auditor's report. We are independent of the Group 

companies in accordance with the requirements of 
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European law and German commercial and profes-

sional law, and we have fulfilled our other German 

professional responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. In addition, in accordance with 

Article 10 (2) (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we de-

clare that we have not provided non-audit services 

prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regu-

lation. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated fi-

nancial statements and on the combined manage-

ment report. 

Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-

fessional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements 

for the financial year from January 1 to December 

31, 2024. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters. 

 
The recoverability of the shares  
in associates (Bioeq AG) 
 

Please refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial 

statements for information on the accounting poli-

cies applied and the assumptions made. Infor-

mation on the amount of the investment in Bioeq 

AG and the amount of the impairment loss recog-

nized can be found in Note19 to the consolidated fi-

nancial statements. Explanations on the economic 

development of the FYB201 project can be found in 

the combined management report in the section on 

net assets, sales and earnings development. 

 

 

 

 

The Risk for the financial Statements 

Shares in associates (Bioeq AG) amounted to EUR 

151.9 million as at December 31, 2024 and repre-

sent a significant proportion of assets at 20% of to-

tal assets. 

The company accounts for the shares in the associ-

ated company Bioeq AG using the equity method. If 

there are indications of an impairment of the net in-

vestment in Bioeq AG, the company determines the 

recoverable amount as at the reporting date and 

compares this with the respective carrying amount. 

If the carrying amount is higher than the recovera-

ble amount, an impairment loss is recognized. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. The recoverable 

amount of the net investment is determined on the 

basis of the higher value in use (the net investment 

in Bioeq AG) and is largely based on the dis-

counted planned cash inflows from the marketing 

of the FYB201 product. 

The impairment test of the net investment in Bioeq 

AG is complex and is based on a number of discre-

tionary assumptions. These include, in particular, 

the long-term amortization rate and the planning 

horizon as key assumptions for determining the 

forecast sales of the FYB201 product. The discount 

rates used on the basis of the term-dependent cost 

of capital are also discretionary. 

In the 2024 financial year, the intensity of competi-

tion among biosimilar providers of the FYB201 

product in the USA increased significantly. In the 

fourth quarter, the company was informed by the 

marketing partner in the USA about expected sig-

nificant price reductions and possible strategic con-

sequences. In light of the reduction in expected fu-

ture cash inflows due to changed market expecta-

tions, the company recognized impairment losses 

of EUR 27.3 million on the shares in associates (Bi-

oeq AG) in the 2024 financial year. 

There is a risk for the consolidated financial state-

ments that the existing impairment was not recog-

nized in a sufficient amount and that the shares in 

associates are therefore not recoverable. There is 
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also a risk that the related disclosures in the notes 

are not appropriate. 

Our Audit approach 

We obtained an understanding of the Company's 

process for identifying indications of impairment 

and determining the recoverable amounts by ob-

taining explanations from finance staff and as-

sessing the basis of preparation of the consoli-

dated financial statements. We analyzed the indica-

tions of impairment identified by the Company and 

assessed them on the basis of the information ob-

tained during our audit 

With the involvement of our valuation specialists, 

we assessed, among other things, the appropriate-

ness of the key assumptions and the Company's 

calculation method. For this purpose, we discussed 

the expected sales of the FYB201 product with 

those responsible for planning. We also performed 

reconciliations with other internally available fore-

casts, e.g. for tax purposes, and the budget pre-

pared by the executive directors and assessed 

their internal consistency. The appropriateness of 

the assumptions was also assessed using external 

market assessments. 

In addition, we satisfied ourselves of the quality of 

the company's forecasts to date by comparing fore-

casts from previous financial years with the results 

actually realized at a later date and analyzing devi-

ations. 

We compared the assumptions and data underlying 

the discount rate, in particular the risk-free interest 

rate, the market risk premium and the beta factor, 

with our own assumptions and publicly available 

data. 

In order to assess the methodologically and mathe-

matically appropriate implementation of the valua-

tion method, we verified the valuation performed 

by the company using our own calculations and an-

alyzed deviations. 

In order to account for the existing forecast uncer-

tainty, we also examined the effects of possible 

changes in the discount rate and the expected 

cash inflows on the recoverable amount by calcu-

lating alternative scenarios and comparing them 

with the valuation results of the company (sensitiv-

ity analysis). 

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the 

notes regarding the impairment of the net invest-

ment in Bioeq AG are appropriate. 

Our Conclusions 

The approach underlying the impairment test for 

the shares in associates (Bioeq AG) is appropriate 

and consistent with the applicable valuation princi-

ples. The assumptions and data used by the com-

pany are appropriate. The related disclosures in the 

notes are appropriate. 

 
The recoverability of the capitalized 
development costs for the product  
FYB202 
 

Please refer to section 6 of the notes to the consol-

idated financial statements for information on the 

accounting policies applied and the assumptions 

made. Information on the amount of the capitalized 

development costs for the FYB202 product and the 

amount of the impairment loss recognized can be 

found in section 18 of the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements. Information on the economic 

development of the FYB202 project can be found 

in the combined management report in the section 

on net assets, sales and earnings development. 

The risk for the financial Statements 

The capitalized development costs for the FYB202 

product amount to EUR 300.4 million as at 31 De-

cember 2024 and represent a significant propor-

tion of assets at 39% of total assets. 

Capitalized development costs are measured at 

cost less accumulated amortization and accumu-

lated impairment losses. Since approval in the 

fourth quarter of 2024, the company has amortized 
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the capitalized development costs for the FYB202 

product on a straight-line basis over its estimated 

useful life of up to 16 years. If there are indications 

of an impairment of the capitalized development 

costs for the FYB202 product, the company deter-

mines the recoverable amount as at the reporting 

date and compares this with the respective carrying 

amount. If the carrying amount is higher than the 

recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recog-

nized. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair 

value less costs to sell and value in use. The recov-

erable amount for the FYB202 product was deter-

mined using the higher value in use and is based 

on the discounted planned cash inflows from the 

marketing of the FYB202 product. 

The impairment test of the capitalized development 

costs for the FYB202 product is complex and is 

based on a number of discretionary assumptions. 

These include, in particular, the forecast sales of 

the FYB202 product and the planning horizon as 

key assumptions for the calculation. The discount 

rates used on the basis of the term-dependent cost 

of capital are also discretionary. 

With the receipt of approval for the product 

FYB202 in the past financial year 2024, the com-

mercialization partner Fresenius Kabi AG plans to 

launch the product FYB202 in the USA in 2025. In 

the context of the planned market launch in the 

USA, unexpected price developments for the prod-

uct FYB202 are emerging, which will lead to adjust-

ments to the planned market sales. In light of the 

reduction in expected future market sales, the com-

pany has recognized impairment losses of EUR 

106.7 million on intangible assets (FYB202). 

There is a risk for the consolidated financial state-

ments that the existing impairment has not been 

recognized to a sufficient extent and that the capi-

talized development costs are therefore not recov-

erable. There is also a risk that the related disclo-

sures in the notes are not appropriate. 

Our Audit approach 

We obtained an understanding of the Company's 

process for identifying indications of impairment 

and determining the recoverable amounts by 

obtaining explanations from finance personnel and 

assessing the basis of preparation of the consoli-

dated financial statements. We analyzed the indica-

tions of impairment identified by the Company and, 

based on the information obtained in the course of 

our audit, assessed whether there were any other 

indications of impairment not identified by the 

Company. 

With the involvement of our valuation specialists, 

we assessed, among other things, the appropriate-

ness of the key assumptions and the Company's 

calculation method. For this purpose, we discussed 

the expected sales of the FYB202 product with 

those responsible for planning. We assessed their 

internal consistency by reconciling them with other 

internally available forecasts, e.g. for tax purposes, 

and the budget prepared by the executive direc-

tors. The appropriateness of the assumptions was 

also assessed using external market assessments. 

Furthermore, we satisfied ourselves of the quality 

of the Company's forecasts to date by comparing 

forecasts from previous financial years with the re-

sults actually realized at a later date and analyzing 

deviations. 

We compared the assumptions and data underlying 

the discount rate, in particular the risk-free interest 

rate, the market risk premium and the beta factor, 

with our own assumptions and publicly available 

data. 

In order to assess the methodologically and mathe-

matically appropriate implementation of the valua-

tion method, we verified the valuation performed 

by the company using our own calculations and an-

alyzed deviations. 

In order to account for the existing forecast uncer-

tainty, we also examined the effects of possible 

changes in the discount rate and the expected 

cash inflows on the recoverable amount by calcu-

lating alternative scenarios and comparing them 

with the valuation results of the company (sensitiv-

ity analysis). 



 207   

 

 

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the 

notes regarding the impairment of capitalized de-

velopment costs for the product FYB202 are ap-

propriate. 

Our Conclusions  

The approach underlying the impairment test for 

the capitalized development costs for the FYB202 

project is appropriate and consistent with the valu-

ation principles. The assumptions and data used by 

the company are appropriate. The related disclo-

sures in the notes are appropriate. 

 
The determination of the fair value of the 
contingent purchase price payment 
resulting from the corporate transaction 
for the acquisition of the shares in Bioeq 
AG (FYB201) and FYB202 Project GmbH is 
appropriate. 
 

Please refer to section 6 of the notes to the consol-

idated financial statements for information on the 

accounting policies applied and the assumptions 

made. Information on the amount of financial liabili-

ties can be found in sections 23 and 24 of the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements. Ex-

planations on the economic development of the 

FYB202 project can be found in the combined 

management report in the section on net assets, 

revenue and earnings development. 

The risk for the financial Statements 

The financial liabilities from contingent purchase 

price payments resulting from the acquisition of the 

shares in Bioeq AG and FYB202 Project GmbH in 

the 2022 financial year amounted to EUR 172.9 mil-

lion as at December 31, 2024 and, at 22% of total 

assets, represent a significant proportion of liabili-

ties. 

As at the reporting date, the company determines 

the fair value of the contingent purchase price pay-

ments using the discounted cash flow method. The 

starting point for the calculation is the cash inflows 

for the rights to the FYB201 and FYB202 products 

held by the respective subsidiaries/joint ventures, 

which are determined on the basis of current plan-

ning and have a direct impact on the amount of the 

contingent purchase price payments. 

The determination of the fair values of the contin-

gent purchase price payments is complex and is 

based on a number of discretionary assumptions. 

These include, in particular, the long-term amortiza-

tion rate and the planning horizon as key assump-

tions for determining the forecast sales of the 

FYB201 and FYB202 products. The discount rates 

used on the basis of the term-dependent cost of 

capital are also subject to judgment. 

In the 2024 financial year, the intensity of competi-

tion in the biosimilar market has increased signifi-

cantly for both the FYB201 product (via Bioeq AG) 

and the FYB202 product in the USA. This leads to 

considerable adjustments in the expected price de-

velopment. Against the background of the reduc-

tion in expected sales of the products FYB201 and 

FYB202, the company has reduced the fair values 

of the financial liabilities of the contingent purchase 

price payments by EUR 41.9 million. 

There is a risk for the consolidated financial state-

ments that the fair values have not been deter-

mined appropriately. There is also a risk that the re-

lated disclosures in the notes are not appropriate. 

Our Audit approach 

We obtained an understanding of the Company's 

process for determining fair values by obtaining ex-

planations from finance staff and assessing the ba-

sis of preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements. 

With the involvement of our valuation specialists, 

we assessed, among other things, the appropriate-

ness of the key assumptions and the Company's 

calculation method. For this purpose, we discussed 

the expected sales of the FYB201 and FYB202 

products with those responsible for planning. We 

assessed their internal consistency by reconciling 

them with other internally available forecasts, e.g. 

for tax purposes, and the budget prepared by the 
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executive directors. The appropriateness of the as-

sumptions was also assessed using external mar-

ket assessments. Furthermore, we satisfied our-

selves of the quality of the Company's forecasts to 

date by comparing forecasts from previous finan-

cial years with the results actually realized at a later 

date and analyzing deviations. 

We compared the assumptions and data underlying 

the discount rate, in particular the risk-free interest 

rate, the market risk premium and the beta factor, 

with our own assumptions and publicly available 

data. 

To assess the methodologically and mathematically 

appropriate implementation of the valuation 

method, we verified the valuation performed by the 

company using our own calculations and analyzed 

deviations. 

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the 

notes regarding the description of the valuation 

technique and the input factors used in the fair 

value measurement are appropriate in accordance 

with IFRS 13.93(d). 

Our Conclusions 

The calculation method underlying the determina-

tion of the fair values from contingent purchase 

price payments is appropriate and is consistent 

with the applicable valuation principles. The as-

sumptions and data used by the company are ap-

propriate. The related disclosures in the notes are 

appropriate. 

Other information 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 

are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the following components of 

the combined management report, the content of 

which has not been audited 

— the combined corporate governance state-

ment of the company and the Group in-

cluded in chapter "Corporate governance 

statement pursuant to § 289f and § 315d 

HGB" of the combined management report, 

and 

— the information contained in the combined 

management report that is not part of the 

management report and is marked as unau-

dited. 

The other information comprises the remaining 

parts of the annual report. The other information 

does not include the consolidated financial state-

ments, the audited content of the combined man-

agement report and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinions on the consolidated financial state-

ments and on the combined management report 

do not cover the other information, and conse-

quently we do not express an opinion or any other 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to 

read the other information referred to above and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information 

— is materially inconsistent with the consoli-

dated financial statements, with the audited 

disclosures in the combined management 

report or our knowledge obtained in the au-

dit, or 

— otherwise appears to be materially mis-

stated. 

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the 

Supervisory Board for the consolidated financial 

statements and the combined management re-

port 

The Executive Board is responsible for the prepara-

tion of the consolidated financial statements that 

comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as 

adopted by the EU and the additional requirements 

of German commercial law pursuant to Section 

315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated financial 

statements, in compliance with these requirements, 

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, fi-

nancial position and financial performance of the 

Group. Furthermore, the Management Board is 
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responsible for such internal control as it has deter-

mined necessary to enable the preparation of con-

solidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud (i.e. 

accounting fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation) 

or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 

the Management Board is responsible for as-

sessing the Group's ability to continue as a going 

concern. Furthermore, it is responsible for disclos-

ing, as applicable, matters related to going con-

cern. In addition, it is responsible for financial re-

porting based on the going concern basis of ac-

counting unless there is an intention to liquidate 

the Group or to cease operations, or there is no re-

alistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for 

the preparation of the combined management re-

port that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view 

of the Group's position and is, in all material re-

spects, consistent with the consolidated financial 

statements, complies with German legal require-

ments and appropriately presents the opportunities 

and risks of future development. In addition, the Ex-

ecutive Board is responsible for such arrangements 

and measures (systems) as it has considered nec-

essary to enable the preparation of a combined 

management report that is in accordance with the 

applicable German legal requirements, and to be 

able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for 

the assertions in the combined management re-

port. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for oversee-

ing the Group's financial reporting process for the 

preparation of the consolidated financial state-

ments and of the combined management report. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the con-

solidated financial statements and of the com-

bined management report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the consolidated financial state-

ments as a whole are free from material misstate-

ment, whether due to fraud or error, and whether 

the combined management report as a whole pro-

vides an appropriate view of the Group's position 

and, in all material respects, is consistent with the 

consolidated financial statements and the 

knowledge obtained in the audit, comply with Ger-

man legal requirements and appropriately present 

the opportunities and risks of future development, 

as well as to issue an auditor's report that includes 

our audit opinions on the consolidated financial 

statements and on the combined management re-

port. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regu-

lation and in compliance with German Generally 

Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits 

promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 

[Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) will 

always detect a material misstatement. Misstate-

ments can arise from fraud or error and are consid-

ered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these consolidated financial statements and com-

bined management report. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. In ad-

dition 

— Identify and assess the risks of material mis-

statement of the consolidated financial 

statements and of the combined manage-

ment report, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures re-

sponsive to those risks, and obtain audit ev-

idence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinions. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than the risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement re-

sulting from error, as fraud may involve col-

lusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mis-

representations, or the override of internal 

control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control 

relevant to the audit of the consolidated 
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financial statements and of arrangements 

and measures (systems) relevant to the au-

dit of the combined management report in 

order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group's internal control 

or on the effectiveness of these arrange-

ments and measures. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used by the Executive Board and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the Execu-

tive Board. 

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the ex-

ecutive directors' use of the going concern 

basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material un-

certainty exists related to events or condi-

tions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Group's ability to continue as a going con-

cern. If we conclude that a material uncer-

tainty exists, we are required to draw atten-

tion in the auditor's report to the related dis-

closures in the consolidated financial state-

ments and in the combined management 

report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our respective opinions. We draw 

our conclusions on the basis of the audit ev-

idence obtained up to the date of our audi-

tor's report. However, future events or con-

ditions may cause the Group to cease to be 

able to continue as a going concern. 

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 

and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial state-

ments present the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that the consoli-

dated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and financial performance of the 

Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted 

by the EU and the additional requirements 

of German commercial law pursuant to Sec-

tion 315e (1) HGB. 

— we plan and perform the audit of the consol-

idated financial statements in order to ob-

tain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for 

the accounting information of the compa-

nies or business divisions within the Group 

as a basis for the formation of the audit 

opinions on the consolidated financial state-

ments and on the combined management 

report. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and review of the audit activities 

performed for the purpose of the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements. We 

are solely responsible for our audit opinions. 

— Evaluate the consistency of the combined 

management report with the consolidated fi-

nancial statements, its conformity with [Ger-

man] law, and the view of the Group's posi-

tion it provides. 

— Perform audit procedures on the prospec-

tive information presented by the Manage-

ment Board in the combined management 

report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate 

audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, 

the significant assumptions used by the Ex-

ecutive Board as a basis for the prospective 

information, and evaluate the proper deriva-

tion of the prospective information from 

these assumptions. We do not express a 

separate audit opinion on the forward-look-

ing statements or on the underlying as-

sumptions. There is a significant unavoida-

ble risk that future events will differ materi-

ally from the forward-looking statements. 

We communicate with those charged with govern-

ance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in in-

ternal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance 

with a statement that we have complied with the 

relevant independence requirements, and com-

municate with them all relationships and other mat-

ters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, the actions 
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taken or safeguards applied to address independ-

ence threats. 

From the matters communicated with those 

charged with governance, we determine those mat-

ters that were of most significance in the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current 

period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor's report un-

less law or regulation precludes public disclosure 

about the matter. 

Other legal and regulatory requirements 

Statement on the non-issuance of an audit opin-

ion on the electronic reproduction of the consoli-

dated financial statements and the combined 

management report to be prepared for publica-

tion purposes in accordance with Section 317 (3a) 

HGB 

We were engaged to perform a reasonable assur-

ance engagement in accordance with Section 317 

(3a) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the reproduction of the consolidated finan-

cial statements and the combined management re-

port (hereinafter also referred to as "ESEF docu-

ments") prepared for publication purposes complies 

in all material respects with the requirements of 

Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting for-

mat ("ESEF format"). 

We do not express an audit opinion on the ESEF 

documents. Due to the significance of the matter 

described below, we have not been able to obtain 

sufficient appropriate audit evidence as a basis for 

our opinion on the ESEF documents. 

As the Executive Board has not provided us with 

any ESEF documents for audit up to the date of our 

auditor's report, we do not express an opinion on 

the ESEF documents. 

The Company's Executive Board is responsible for 

the preparation of the ESEF documents including 

the electronic reproduction of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements and the combined management 

report in accordance with § 328 Abs. 1 Satz 4 Nr. 1 

HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated finan-

cial statements in accordance with § 328 Abs. 1 

Satz 4 Nr. 2 HGB. 

Furthermore, the company's Management Board is 

responsible for such internal control as it deter-

mines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

ESEF documents that are free from material non-

compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) 

HGB for the electronic reporting format, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for oversee-

ing the process of preparing the ESEF documents 

as part of the financial reporting process. 

It is our responsibility to perform an assurance en-

gagement on the ESEF documents in accordance 

with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB and IDW Auditing Standard: 

Assurance in Accordance with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB 

on the Electronic Reproduction of Financial State-

ments and Management Reports Prepared for Pub-

lication Purposes (IDW PS 410 (06.2022)) [if condu-

cive to an understanding of the report in an interna-

tional environment: and International Standard on 

Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)]. Based 

on the matter described above, we were not able 

to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as a 

basis for our audit opinion on the ESEF documents. 

Other information according to Art. 10 EU-APrVO 

We were elected as auditor of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements by the annual general meeting 

on June 12, 2024. We were engaged by the audit 

committee on January 30, 2025. We have been the 

auditor of the consolidated financial statements of 

Formycon AG without interruption since the finan-

cial year 2022, including one financial year during 

which the Company met the definition of a public-

interest entity within the meaning of Section 316a 

sentence 2 HGB without interruption. 

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in 

this auditor's report are consistent with the addi-

tional report to the audit committee pursuant to Ar-

ticle 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (audit report). 
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We have performed the following services, which 

are not disclosed in the consolidated financial 

statements or in the combined management report, 

in addition to the audit of the financial statements 

for the company and its controlled entities: 

In addition to the consolidated financial statements, 

we have audited the annual financial statements to-

gether with the combined management report of 

Formycon AG and reviewed interim financial state-

ments. The other assurance services relate to the 

issuance of a comfort letter and the audit of pro 

forma financial information. 

Auditor responsible for the audit 

The auditor responsible for the audit is Alexander 

Hutzler. 

 

Munich, March 26, 2025 

 

KPMG AG 

Certified Public Accountants 
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